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DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

HENRY J. RAYMOND,
Chief Financial Officer

CITY OF BALTIMORE

>4 454 City Hall
Bernard C. Young, Mayor Baltimore, Maryland 21202
Honorable President and Members of
The Board of Estimates
City of Baltimore, Maryland December 27, 2019

In compliance with Article VII, Section 8, of the revised City Charter (November, 1964), submitted herewith is the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City of Baltimore, Maryland, (the City) for the year ended June
30, 2019. The CAFR was prepared by the City’s Department of Finance. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the
presented data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. We
believe that the data, as presented, is accurate in all material aspects; that it is presented in a manner designed to fairly set
forth the financial position and changes in financial position of the City; and, that all disclosures necessary to enable the
reader to gain the maximum understanding of the City’s financial affairs have been provided.

Management has provided a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in
the form of a Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the
MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of
the independent auditors in the financial section of the CAFR.

The City Charter established a Department of Audits under the general supervision of the City Comptroller. The Charter
requires the City Auditor to “annually make a general comprehensive public report of the financial position of the City; in
the discretion of the Comptroller, such report may be in the form of an opinion on the annual financial statements prepared
by the Director of Finance.” The Comptroller has elected to have the City Auditor render an opinion as to the fairness of
the Director of Finance’s presentation of the City’s basic financial statements. Additionally, the Board of Estimates
awarded a contract to the nationally recognized independent certified public accounting firm, SB & Company, LLC, to
perform a joint audit with the City Auditor of the basic financial statements of the City as of and for the year ended June
30, 2019. Their joint audit report is contained herein. Their audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States and, for the basic financial statements of the City, the standards for financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. On the basis of this
examination, the independent public accountants have issued an unmodified opinion that the presentation of the basic
financial statements conforms with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. In conducting the audit,
the auditors performed tests of the accounting records and such other procedures as were considered necessary in the
circumstances to provide a reasonable basis for this opinion on the financial statements. The auditors also assessed the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluated the overall financial
statement presentation.

The independent audit of the City’s financial statements is part of a broader, federally mandated Uniform Grant Guidance
“Single Audit” designed to meet the special needs of Federal grantor agencies. The Single Audit Report will be available
as a separate document as of a later date.

This report includes all of the funds that we consider to be part of, controlled by or dependent on the City. Professional
judgment must be used to determine whether or not a potential component unit should be included in the reporting entity.
Various potential component units were evaluated to determine whether they should be reported in the City’s CAFR. Three
component units, the Baltimore Industrial Development Authority (blended component unit), the Baltimore City Public
School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation (discretely presented component units), were considered to be part of
the City’s reporting entity when it was concluded that the City was financially accountable for these entities. The Housing
Authority of Baltimore City and certain other organizations are not considered to be component units and are not included
in the City’s basic financial statements.
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PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

The Mayor and City Council of Baltimore (the City) is a body corporate and politic of the State of Maryland (the State) in
which all local governmental functions are performed by the City. The City has had a charter form of government since
1797, home rule powers since 1918, and is governed by an elected Mayor, Comptroller and a City Council. The City has
a total area of approximately 92 square miles and an estimated 2018 population of 602,495. The City is a major deep-
water seaport located on the Patapsco River, a tributary of the Chesapeake Bay. It is served by Baltimore/Washington
International Thurgood Marshall Airport in adjacent Anne Arundel County. The City is almost completely surrounded by
Baltimore County, a separate entity, which borders the City on the east, north, west and part of the south. Anne Arundel
County adjoins the City on its southern border.

The City provides the full range of municipal services contemplated by statute or charter, which are provided or paid for
by the City from Local, State or Federal sources. These services include public safety (police and fire protection), water,
wastewater and stormwater utilities, highways and streets, sanitation, health and human services, culture and recreation,
education (elementary through high school, provided by a component unit, the Baltimore City Public School System),
public improvements, planning and zoning, parking facilities, mortgage loan programs, industrial development, and general
and administrative services. The City is also responsible for the adoption and maintenance of building codes, and
regulation of licenses and permits, collection of certain taxes and revenues, maintenance of public records and the conduct
of elections. These activities are included in the reporting entity. There are no overlapping local governmental entities or
taxing jurisdictions. Accordingly, there is no overlapping debt of the City.

Under the Charter, the City’s executive functions are vested in the Mayor, the Board of Estimates and an independent
Comptroller. The City’s legislative functions are vested in the City Council. The Mayor is the chief executive officer of
the City. The Mayor is elected for a term of four years and is eligible to succeed herself without limitation as to the number
of terms. If the Mayor is disabled or absent from the City, the President of the City Council acts as ex-officio Mayor. If
the Mayor resigns, is permanently disqualified, or dies in office, the President of the City Council becomes Mayor for the
remainder of the term. The Mayor has authority to veto ordinances, has power of appointment of most department heads
and municipal officers, serves on the Board of Estimates and appoints two of the other four members of the Board of
Estimates.

The Board of Estimates is the highest administrative body of the City. It is composed of the President of the City Council,
who serves as President of the Board, the Mayor, the Comptroller, the City Solicitor and the Director of Public Works. The
Board of Estimates formulates and determines City fiscal policy with its primary policy tool being the recommended annual
Ordinance of Estimates, the City’s budget.

Key Budgetary Policies

Balanced Budget: The City Charter requires the operating budget to be balanced. Any difference between non-property
tax revenues and total expenditures are to be made up by adjusting the property tax rate or enactment of new revenue
measures.

Public Hearings: The Charter mandates that both the Board of Estimates and the City Council conduct public hearings on
the proposed budget.

Timely Adoption: The Charter sets forth a schedule requiring the budget to be adopted before the beginning of the fiscal
year, July 1.

Budget Amendment: The Charter provides means for adopting supplemental appropriations funded from unanticipated
revenues and/or new grants and sources that materialize during the year. The City’s policy is to minimize the use of
supplemental appropriations. In addition, the Charter allows for and spells out the procedures for amending the budget to
transfer appropriations between programs within an agency and between agencies.

Six-Year Capital Plan: Guiding the physical development budget plan of the City is the Charter requirement for a six-year
capital improvement plan, the first year comprising the capital budget year. The plan is prepared in conformance with
basic capital budgeting policies, which include appropriating funds in the year in which projects are likely to begin,
financing a portion of capital improvements from current revenues, and estimating the impact of capital projects on the
operating budget.

Budget Monitoring and Execution: Budget analysts maintain ongoing contact with agency fiscal officers in the process of
implementation and execution of the budget. Expenditure and revenue projections are developed and reviewed on a
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monthly basis. The Mayor, through the Department of Finance, exercises appropriate fiscal management to adjust budget
policy, as necessary, to be within the limits of the current adopted plan. The City Council has the practice of reviewing
budget performance at mid-year and during the fourth quarter.

Debt Policy: In 1990, the City adopted a formal debt policy which set annual borrowing limits, consolidated all financing
arrangements within the Department of Finance, established refunding and refinancing policies, and set limits on key debt
management ratios. The objective is to maintain the City’s reputation as a locality having a conservative approach to all
aspects of debt management, including debt service expenses, debt retirement schedules, and debt capacity ratios. The
Debt Policy was last reviewed in July 2017 by an independent financial consultant contracted by the City. After considering
the consultant’s recommendations, the City plans not to exceed $80 million in budgeted annual general obligation debt.
The Debt Policy will be reviewed again in two years by the City and an independent consultant.

Budget Stabilization Reserve Policy: In November 2008, the City’s Board of Estimates approved a budget stabilization
reserve policy that established the basis for having a budget stabilization reserve as well as identifying its maintenance
level, scope of coverage, circumstances under which funds shall be drawn down from the reserve, and the requirements to
replenish the reserve when utilized. The policy stipulates that the reserve serves to provide a budget defense to stabilize a
post-adopted budget that has been impacted by an uncorrectable shortfall in revenues and/or an unanticipated and
uncorrectable emergency expense. The reserve is the revenue source of last resort to avoid a budget deficit. Under no
circumstances is the reserve to be used as a revenue source to balance a planning year budget. The policy further
recommends that the reserve shall be maintained on any June 30 at a minimum level of 8% of the value of the general fund
operating budget of the subsequent fiscal year.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Retirement Plans

Professional employees of the Baltimore City Public School System, and the Enoch Pratt Free Library, an agency of the
City, are members of the State of Maryland Retirement System to which the City is not required to contribute. The City
contributes to four retirement plans established for all other City employees and elected officials. The City also contributes
to the State of Maryland Retirement System for Sheriff Office employees.

City laws require that contributions to its three funded pension systems be based on actuarial valuations. City contributions
to the Unfunded Police Department Retirement Plan (for eligible employees hired prior to January 1, 1947, all of whom
are now retired) are not actuarially determined, and these benefits are paid from annual appropriations.

Temporary Investment of Cash Balances

The City, through the Office of the Director of Finance, pursues an aggressive cash management and investment program
to achieve maximum financial return on available funds. Depending on cash needs, excess funds are invested on a short,
intermediate or long-term basis at the best obtainable rates. Investments are limited generally to direct or indirect
obligations of the U.S. government and fully collateralized repurchase agreements. The City utilizes the practice of
recording investment income in the period in which it is earned.

Risk Management

The City is self-insured in the area of casualty and property losses, including the uninsured portion of losses to City
buildings and contents, vehicles, watercraft, boilers, machinery, workers’ compensation and employers’ liability,
employees’ health insurance, third party general liability and automobile liability losses. The Office of Risk Management,
within the Department of Finance, administers the fund.

Internal Control

City management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. The
City has established a comprehensive framework of internal control to provide a reasonable basis for asserting that the
financial statements are fairly presented. Because the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits to be derived, the
City’s objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute assurance, that the financial statements are free of any
material misstatements.



ECONOMIC PROFILE AND OUTLOOK

Baltimore is the historic, business, education and cultural center of Maryland. The City benefits from being in one of the
wealthiest states in the nation and is the northern anchor of the Washington-Baltimore-Northern Virginia Combined
Statistical Area. This CSA is one of the largest, wealthiest and best educated population centers in the country. The City’s
economy has traditionally benefited from its location and proximity to a large and diversified workforce. With an excellent
highway and rail transportation system, the City is able to access both mid-western and north-eastern markets in support
of its international port activity. As of June 2019, about 383,600 or 26.8% of the 1.43 million employed individuals in the
Baltimore-Columbia-Towson Metropolitan Statistical Area are working in the City.

Health care and education related services located in the City have become primary drivers of steady job absorption for
workers from throughout the greater Baltimore area, and increasingly for City residents. Job absorption is the capacity of
the City’s job market to generate stable employment and retain the City’s growing labor force. As of July 2019, jobs in the
health and education sectors represent 32.3% of all jobs located in the City, a proportion that is considerably higher than
the regional and national totals of 20.0% and 15.8% respectively. While the City’s labor force has remained stable since
2010, at an annual average of between 293,300 and 295,500, employment of City residents has grown 5.22% from 262,300
in 2010 to 276,000 through the first half of 2019.

The prominence of health care and knowledge-related industries is reflected in the composition of the City’s major
employers. Among the ten largest non-governmental employers, six are health care providers and researchers, two are
institutions of higher education, one is Prometric — a test development and delivery solutions company — and the other is
Under Armour Incorporated. The City derives economic strength from the number of jobs in the growing health care sector,
and in the knowledge-information-based education and information services sectors

The population trend is often considered the single most important economic factor in the City due to the fact that
Baltimore’s population peaked at 949,708 in 1950 and has declined to 602,495 as of July 2018. Since 1970, all but five
years have featured population decline, with an average annual drop of 6,300 persons. However, not all decades
experienced the same rate of decline. The 1970s featured the greatest declines, approaching 12,000 residents annually,
while the decade from 2005 to 2015 recorded three years of population increases. Since 2000, the average annual loss rate
has slowed substantially to 2,570 persons, although declines have increased since the civil unrest, averaging 5,400 annually
since 2015.

Economic Outlook

The economic outlook for the City remains positive with most economic indicators showing strong performance during

Calendar 2018 and the beginning of 2019. The US is currently enjoying the second longest period of economic recovery
since World War 11, which as of June 2019 included 120 consecutive months of economic growth, the longest period of
economic expansion in US history.

The following key indicators suggest that the City remains in a healthy economic environment:

e The City’s average wages grew 1.8% year over year during the first three quarters of 2018. This increase
outpaced 2018 inflation of 1.3%, representing an annual increase in average wages of 0.5% in real terms.

e  During the fourth quarter of 2018, the City reached an unemployment rate of 5.1%, the lowest since the fourth
quarter of 2007.

e The City’s labor force has increased by 9,377 or 3.3% since the end of the recession, incorporating approximately
960 City residents to the job market per year. Employed City residents have grown 9.7% over the same period,
with an absorption of approximately 2,571 individuals per year.

e The City’s economic activity as measured by the value and amount of sales generated in the City remains strong.
The City places as the fifth largest county in Maryland for the State Sale and Use tax, increasing 0.3% or $16.8
million in taxable sales between 2017 and 2018.

e Even though the City’s household size has declined from 2.53 individuals in 2010 to 2.44 in 2017, the average
household income has grown 28.6% from $54,165 in 2010 to $69,676 in 2017, 15.9% above inflation.



Despite the positive signs, there are still risks at the local and national levels requiring attention for policy-making
decisions:

e The Census Bureau released its 2018 City population estimate of 602,495 residents, a decline of 7,346 residents
from the 2017 estimate and the largest single year decline since 2001. This is in addition to the more than 3,000
reductions between 2016 and 2017. The City’s population has declined more than 18,400 from the 2010 Census.

e Real estate data suggest that the City’s housing market may have peaked in 2017 and slowed down during 2018.
The average sale price of residential property in 2018 was $173,413, 0.3% lower than 2017, while the total number
of residential sales decreased by more than 600 transactions, equivalent to a 6.7% reduction from 2017. Despite
these declines, the 2018 number of residential sales transactions was the second highest since 2007, and the
average sale value was the second highest since 2009.

e Although State and local income tax receipts could grow due to the new Federal tax reform, the uncertainty of the
impact on individual filers could lead to more cautious spending decisions. Due to the uncertainty, the Maryland’s
Bureau of Revenue Estimates recently downgraded its estimate for the State’s Fiscal 2019 projection and Fiscal
2020 Budget.

e The increase in transportation alternatives in the City has begun to lower parking-related revenues. The growing
usage of rideshare alternatives such as transportation network company, include Uber and Lyft, and dockless
vehicles, has reduced the use of parking facilities and metered parking, which in turn reduced revenues from these
sources.

e The Maryland Stadium Authority is currently studying the expansion of the outdated Baltimore Convention
Center. During the construction phase, the City could see reduced revenues from Convention Center events and
hotel taxes.

The overall economic outlook for the City is positive, but analysts anticipate that the economy will grow at a slower pace
than in recent years. However, the continued population decline, the potential deceleration of real estate activity, the future
impact of Federal laws, and the increasing probability of a recession in the near future are still risks at the local and national
levels requiring attention for short- and mid-term policy-making decisions.

Jobs and Employment

Employment continues its growth pattern. The national unemployment rate peaked at 10.0% in October 2009 but has
since fallen to 3.7% as of July 2019. The City’s unemployment rate peaked in August 2010 at 12.5% and reached a post-

Great Recession low of 4.8% in November 2018. Most recently available figures put the City’s unemployment rate at
5.6% as of June 2019.

The most recent data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) indicates that the number of jobs and total employment in
the City continues to increase. The BLS reported an average 377,400 jobs located in the City during calendar year 2018,
representing an increase of 1.4% compared to the average of 372,100 in calendar year 2017. This represents the eighth
consecutive year since 2010 that the City has experienced employment growth, an indicator of continued improvement in
the job market since the Great Recession. In calendar year 2018 an estimated annual average of 273,304 City residents
were employed. The difference between employed residents and jobs in the City reflects a net contribution of
approximately 104,096 jobs to surrounding communities.

Retail Sales

Fiscal year 2019 sales tax receipts reported by the State of Maryland for Baltimore City show an increase of 3.36%
compared to the prior year. Sales generated in the City represent 7.34% of the State’s total retail sales during fiscal year
2019. Although 0.04 percentage points lower than fiscal year 2018, this proportion remains relatively unchanged. Retail
sales activity continues to be a leading indicator of the City’s, as well as the region’s, economic health.

Through the first six months of calendar year 2019, the retail vacancy rate in the Downtown area is 5.0%. This maintains
a continued upward trend since the same period two years prior, when the vacancy rate averaged 3.9%. For the same period
during calendar year 2018, the vacancy rate rose to 4.3%. During the second quarter of calendar year 2019, 53,138 square
feet of Downtown retail space became available. During this same period, for the prior year, 83,397 square feet became
available. Market trends for retail space continue to be a barometer of the City’s retail sales activity.
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Housing

In Fiscal 2019, the real estate market continued to show mostly healthy market trends, with the total number of transactions
decreasing, but prices increasing. The total residential units sold in the City as reported by the Metropolitan Regional
Information System (MRIS) decreased in Fiscal 2019 for the first time in seven years. However, some of this decrease was
probably due at least in part to the ransomware attack on the City network sustained on May 7, 2019. Despite the decrease
to the number of residential units sold, the average sales price increased in Fiscal 2019; homes sold for an average of
$179,046, a $6,103 or 3.5% increase to Fiscal 2017. The total number of commercial and residential real estate transactions
totaled 15,650, representing a 7.7% decrease from the 16,951 in Fiscal 2018. However, in Fiscal 2019, the average price
per transaction for all transactions (residential and commercial) increased from Fiscal 2018 — up from $184,190 in Fiscal
2018 to $192,227 in Fiscal 2019. Again, the City ransomware attack probably contributed to at least some of the noted
decrease.

As expected at the end of Fiscal 2018, the demand for refinancing activities has declined as interest rates have increased.
In Fiscal 2019, the City processed 19,650 transactions subject to the Recordation Tax, a 9.0% decrease from Fiscal 2018.
Of these transactions, 4,000 are estimated to correspond to refinancing transactions (down from 4,637 in Fiscal 2018).
Although refinancing activities are decreasing, the average value of transactions subject to the Recordation Tax increased
to $220,865 in Fiscal 2019, up 13.6% from Fiscal 2018.

Port of Baltimore

With the expansion of the Panama Canal in 2016 allowing deeper and wider lanes for larger ships to pass through,
Baltimore and other Atlantic coastal ports now can receive the larger cargo-carriers, often from the Far East, that previously
were limited to the Pacific Coast. Indeed, Baltimore is one of only four Eastern U.S. ports with a 50-foot (15.2 meters)
shipping channel and a 50-foot container berth, allowing it to accommodate some of the largest container ships in the
world. The Port’s total general cargo tonnage increased 0.3% to 11.0 million tons in Fiscal 2018, up from 10.3 million tons
in Fiscal 2019.

In the first quarter of 2018, the Port handled the most general cargo and containers in its 313 year history for a single
quarter. The Port of Baltimore ranks first for autos and light trucks, roll on/roll off heavy farm and construction machinery,
and imported sugar. The Port is responsible for nearly $3.3 billion in personal wages and salary and more than $395 million
in state and local tax revenues.

Tourism and Travel Industries

In Fiscal 2019, the City’s tourism and travel industries continued to grow modestly from the prior year. The Baltimore
Washington International Thurgood Marshall Airport (BWI) remains one of the busiest in the country, and in Fiscal 2019
the total number of passengers continue to grow. City hotel growth was stagnant over the past year, but the port continued
to boast strong figures. Further growth in these industries is essential to improving the City’s overall economic outlook.

Baltimore Convention Center. In Fiscal 2019, the Baltimore Convention Center (BCC) held 119 events, 27 fewer than
Fiscal 2018. The revenue generated by BCC increased in Fiscal 2019, up from $9.4 million in Fiscal 2018 to $10.7 million
in Fiscal 2019. While higher revenue helps directly support the City’s General Fund, growth in the number of events would
further boost the surrounding economy. In Fiscal 2019, the BCC had 478,116 total event attendees, about 5,000 more than
Fiscal 2018.

Hospitality. Hotel activity remained about the same in Fiscal 2019, with a 63.7% occupancy rate compared to 63.6% in
Fiscal 2018. The room supply remained almost identical, dropping by only 0.3% to 11,010 rooms as of June 2019. In Fiscal
2019, the number of City-wide conventions decreased significantly from Fiscal 2018. Ultimately, growth in the hospitality
industry and hotel activity is dependent on the industry’s ability to continue to attract visitors for tourism and convention
events.

BWI Thurgood Marshall Airport. During calendar year 2018, nearly 27.2 million passengers flew out of BWI airport,
which ranks as the 22" busiest airport in the United States. This was both an annual record number of travelers and an
overall positive indicator for the Greater Baltimore area’s tourism industry. Last year also was the fourth consecutive year
that more than one million international passengers flew through BWI. Airlines continue to add more international and
domestic flights out of BWI, which is yet another positive sign for the region’s travel industry.

Port of Baltimore. In 2018, the Port of Baltimore had nearly 220,000 passengers use the cruise terminals, ranking sixth in
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East Coast ports, eleventh in US port, and twentieth in world ports. It is estimated that cruise-related Port activity generates
about $90 million in business revenue and more than 500 jobs. Furthermore, Carnival Cruise Line celebrated a 10-year
anniversary of year-round cruising from the Port of Baltimore at the end of Fiscal 2019.

Commercial Real Estate Development

Baltimore City commercial real estate continues to display healthy demand, despite interspersed signs of a cooling market.
Multiple projects are underway across the City, featuring preleased buildings, newly signed leases, and continued building
sales. However, through the second quarter of calendar year 2019 Downtown vacancy rates have trended upward,
potentially indicated that demand is not keeping up with current supply. Even though there continues to be strong interest
from developers who wish to locate in Baltimore City, particular segments are faring better than others.

While the office market experienced negative overall net absorption of space, WeWork — a shared workspace provider —
signed a new lease for Wills Wharf in Harbor Point. Additionally, newly constructed One Light, a mixed-use building
located Downtown, opened with 66% of its 241,000 square feet being preleased. Despite office market volatility, there has
been considerable investment in these types of properties either for conversion to multifamily properties or for acquisition.
As of the second quarter for calendar year 2019 the Downtown office vacancy rate was 8.1% — an improvement of 3.2
percentage points over the same period last year.

Similar to the office market, the retail market has experienced negative overall net absorption, but there are multiple new
retail properties being developed. These include Yard 56 (106,000 sg. ft.) in Greektown and Canton Crossing 11 (90,000
sg. ft.) in Canton. One factor potentially affecting vacancy rates within the retail market may be increased supply, with the
development of new retail centers in East Baltimore, specifically the aforementioned projects. As of the second quarter for
calendar year 2019 the Downtown retail vacancy rate was 5.0%. This represents an occupancy decline of 1.3 percentage
points compared to the same period last year.

The City’s industrial market continues to have positive net absorption, and within the last year, several properties have
been delivered. These include 5350 Holabird Avenue in the Canton Industrial Area and 1821 Oliver Street in the Broadway
East neighborhood. With another at 1801 62™ Street in the Pulaski Industrial Area currently under construction. The low
vacancy rate for industrial space continues to indicate strong demand within the City. As of the second quarter for calendar
year 2019 the citywide industrial vacancy rate was 5.8%, which is an improvement of 2.5 percentage points over the prior
year.

FINANCIAL ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Six years into the current Ten-Year Financial Plan, the City has reduced the baseline deficit through Fiscal 2022 from $745
million to $434 million — by 41.7% or $311 million. Since Fiscal 2013 Baltimore has implemented numerous reforms
aimed at achieving long-term fiscal sustainability. Some of these include lowering the effective property tax rate by 8.8%,
increasing current revenue (PAYGO) capital spending to $50 million, and streamlining the workforce by reducing the
number of General Fund positions by 2.6%. As a result of strategic reforms, combined pension and OPEB unfunded
liabilities shrank from $3.2 billion in Fiscal 2011 to $2.7 billion in Fiscal 2018, a reduction of 18.2% or $600 million. Note
that in 2019 a benefit change in OPEB caused an increase to the OPEB liability of $563.7 million.

TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN

On February 20, 2013, the City released Change to Grow: A Ten-Year Financial Plan for Baltimore. This was the original
iteration of the City’s Ten-Year Plan, and the first of its kind. The Plan calls for comprehensive reforms to close what was
then a projected $745 million structural budget deficit, increase the City’s tax competitiveness, accelerate infrastructure
investment, and reduce the City’s long-term pension and health care liabilities.

Implementation of the Ten-Year Plan began in Fiscal 2013 with two key initiatives: 20 Cents by 2020 — a program to
reduce the effective property tax rate for owner-occupied properties — and health benefit changes for employees that were
projected to save the City $20 million annually.

In Fiscal 2014, the City implemented Ten-Year Plan initiatives to further reduce the fiscal gap, including pension changes
for current and future employees, a new schedule for firefighters, a revenue package, a State-mandated stormwater fee, a
reduction to the real property tax rate and the discontinuation of retiree pharmacy benefits.

The Fiscal 2015 budget reflected the implementation of more Ten-Year Plan initiatives, including reducing workers’
compensation payments, increasing parking revenues, reducing the size of the City’s workforce and the City’s fleet. In
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addition to targeted savings initiatives, the City made several investments; these include increasing the contribution to the
budget stabilization reserve, increasing PAYGO capital funding, increasing general obligation debt authority, and
implementing a new pay schedule for professional employees to help with recruitment and retention.

In the Fiscal 2016 budget, key initiatives included an additional $9 million PAYGO capital contribution, beyond the $8
million baseline, and the elimination of 280 General Fund positions. In Fiscal 2016, the City also negotiated a new
Memorandum of Understanding with 14 non-profit institutions who will contribute a collective $6 million annually for ten
years beginning in Fiscal 2017.

In Fiscal 2017, the City continued to work towards implementing cost-savings initiatives identified under the Ten-Year
Plan. While the initiatives implemented through Fiscal 2016 had a meaningful impact on the original projected shortfall, a
significant structural budget gap remained. To continue addressing this long-term challenge, the Fiscal 2017 adopted
budget contains further cost-saving investments emphasizing blight elimination, street repaving, recreation center
expansion, and information technology upgrades.

In Fiscal 2018 the budget contained additional initiatives to improve the efficiency of government, further reduce the
property tax rate for homeowners, make much-needed infrastructure investments, and reduce the City’s long-term
liabilities. In Fiscal 2018, the City contributed $9 million beyond the $8 million baseline in PAYGO capital funding, plus
$12 million of additional funding for operating and capital projects to comply with the Department of Justice consent
decree for Police Department reforms. The Fiscal 2018 budget also transferred 54 positions out of the General Fund.

The Fiscal 2019 budget reflects baseline costs and unforeseen challenges that have grown at a faster pace than projected
revenue. The adopted budget adds 162 General Fund positions including 100 sworn Police Department positions. However,
cost-savings relating to personnel was also achieved, as total unfunded liabilities continued to decline. The City also
remained committed to the 20 Cents by 2020 program, further reducing the effective property tax rate by 2.6 cents. This
budget also dedicates $8.3 million above baseline for a total of $25.3 million in PAYGO capital funding. In December
2018, the City insured its strong fiscal footing by competitively awarding a contract to Ernst and Young for the Ten-Year
Plan refresh.

Despite already implementing $311 million of net cost savings initiatives, the City must continue to address the remaining
operating and capital shortfalls. The Ten-Year Plan calls for further changes to health care benefits, reforms for the Fire
and Police pension plans for new hires, launching an employee wellness program, and building reserves to prepare for the
next recession. Ernst and Young, recently awarded the contract for the Ten-Year Plan refresh, will extend the Plan through
a new ten-year period and identify new savings initiatives. The contract includes an assessment of infrastructure
requirements, new savings and revenue options, and a comprehensive look at the City’s overall tax policy and incentive
strategies. We expect this Ten-Year Financial Plan to continue to serve as a guide for policymakers on how to best keep
Baltimore on sustainable financial footing.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2019 ADOPTED BUDGET

The Fiscal 2019 budget represents a key step forward in the Violence Reduction Plan. Making Baltimore safe is a holistic
effort among City agencies and partners to strengthen core public safety agencies, provide funding for new evidence-based
programs and technological improvements, and ensure paths to opportunity and achievement for our youth.

Even with the attention to violence reduction, Baltimore remains focused on other key priorities. This budget plan maintains
core City services, expands upon a major commitment to City Schools, and continues property tax reduction for
homeowners.

The Fiscal 2019 recommended budget was built around Five Pillars: Education and Youth Engagement, Public Safety,
Economic Development and Jobs, Quality of Life, and Accountability and Transparency as summarized below:

Education and Youth Engagement

The recommended budget includes $438.3 million across all funding sources, which includes additional support for City
Schools’ budget, estimated at $1.3 billion in Fiscal 2019. Key highlights:

e Fiscal 2019 marks the second installment of my three-year City commitment to help stabilize City Schools’

finances, while the State considers changes to the school funding formulas. The City has pledged $99.2 million
above the Fiscal 2017 baseline over the three-year period (Fiscal 2018 to Fiscal 2020).
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e Total City support to City Schools exceeds $370 million. City funding supports Maintenance of Effort payments,
the 21st Century School Modernization fund, teacher pension costs, retiree health benefits, and school health and
crossing guard services. Capital funding will increase by $2 million, from $17 million to $19 million.

e  Fiscal 2019 will mark the second year of Charter-required contributions into the Children and Youth Fund. The
Fiscal 2019 contribution is $12.4 million.

e  The recommended budget includes $500,000 to support the Mayor’s Scholars Program, providing last-dollar
scholarships to Baltimore City Community College for graduates of Baltimore City Public Schools with a goal of
enrolling 500 new students by the second year of the program.

Public Safety

The recommended budget plan includes $911.1 million across all funding sources, which will strengthen services in Police,
State’s Attorney, Sheriff, courts, and traffic safety. Fire will adjust ambulance fees to reflect market rates. Most notably,
the plan includes the following new investments as part of the Violence Reduction Plan:

e $1 million of General Funds will supplement private fundraising to bring the ROCA anti-violence program to
Baltimore. ROCA focuses on at-risk young men and the program showed strong results in Massachusetts. 75
participants will be served in the first class.

e  Safe Streets, an evidence-based violence prevention and interruption program, will expand from four sites to ten
sites.

e A 35 million Bloomberg grant will enable the City to expand crime-fighting technology, including 60 new
Citiwatch cameras, 25 license-plate readers, and gunshot detection units.

e 100 additional Police officer positions will be funded, to match improved recruitment efforts. This action will also
more closely align Police’s budget with recent spending levels.

Quality of Life

The recommended budget plan includes $1.05 billion across a variety of services that improve citizens’ overall quality of
life, including street and alley cleaning, waste disposal and recycling, business district cleaning, health and housing
services, recreational opportunities, transportation, and infrastructure investment, among others. Key highlights:

e As part of my Violence Reduction initiative, the City will continue to deploy rapid-response services to seven
designated areas, with $1.6 million of additional funding for Public Works crews, Housing inspectors, and
expanded hours at select recreation centers.

e The Department of Transportation will continue its rollout of speed, red-light, and truck-height monitoring
cameras, which is expected to limit accidents and improve both driver and pedestrian safety.

e $3 million of funding to stand up the Department of Housing and Community Development after its separation
from the Housing Authority, and to begin work on a comprehensive community development strategy.

Economic Development and Jobs

The recommended budget plan totals $146.1 million in funding support for strategies to increase jobs, employment, and
visitors to Baltimore in Fiscal 2019. The plan also continues the 20 Cents by 2020 Property Tax reduction plan for
homeowners. The Targeted Homeowners Tax Credit will reduce the average effective rate to $2.074 per $100, $0.174
(7.7%) reduction since Fiscal 2012, saving the average homeowner $270 a year. The plan also includes:

e $33.1 million for Visit Baltimore and the Convention Center to enhance Baltimore’s reputation as a travel
destination. The Citywide target for annual visitors under this plan is 26.7 million, an increase of 1.2 million over
Fiscal 2017. The Convention Center will host 115 conventions, trade shows, and other public events, which will
generate more than $10 million of revenue.

e $12.5 million for workforce development initiatives targeted at Baltimore City residents. The plan includes $1
million of General Fund support to bridge the City through a loss of Federal funding to enable continued operation
of the Career Center Network. A mobile job center will expand its reach to 2,400 City residents with assistance
in job searching, career counseling, and skills training.

e $4.4 million to support small businesses, with a particular focus on minority and female entrepreneurs and
technology start-ups. The Emerging Technology Centers (ETCs), Small Business Resource Center, Minority and
Women’s Business Opportunity Office, and Baltimore Development Corporation (BDC) will work together to
incubate hundreds of new businesses and attract and retain thousands of jobs in the City.
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e  $8.4 million for Arts and Culture institutions, including the Maryland Zoo, Baltimore Museum of Art, Walters
Art Gallery, and Baltimore Symphony Orchestra. These institutions collectively forecast attendance of more than
1.1 million visitors in Fiscal 2019.

Accountability and Transparency

The recommended budget includes $176.6 million for financial, legal, information technology, human resources, and other
functions that support the delivery of public services to residents. Highly effective support services lead to cost savings
and better performance. Some examples:

e $4 million of Capital funding will support information technology (IT) infrastructure upgrades. This is the first
phase of the City’s Digital Transformation Plan, which aims to establish a technical framework for reducing
redundant costs and improving the public’s experience with City government.

e The Finance Department will dedicate two positions to generate more revenue by analyzing the City’s fee
structure and evaluating tax credits and property assessments.

e The Law Department will begin implementation of an e-discovery system, which will reduce costs and better
prepare the City in litigation cases.

e The Innovation Team is supporting the Police Department to improve the recruitment and hiring process for police
officers and in developing a cadet program.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Mayor, City Council, and Board of Estimates
City of Baltimore, Maryland

Report on the Financial Statements

We have jointly audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund
information, the combining statement of fiduciary net position- Pension and OPEB Trust Funds, and the combining
statement of changes in fiduciary net position- Pension and OPEB Trust Funds of the City of Baltimore, Maryland
(the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the
Employees’ Retirement System, the Elected Officials Retirement System, and the Fire and Police Retirement System.
These funds represent 88% of the total assets, 88% of the net position, and 72% of the revenues of the Pension and
OPEB Trust Funds. We also did not audit the Baltimore City Public School System (School System) and Baltimore
Hotel Corporation, which are both discretely presented component units. The financial statements of Baltimore City
Public School System, Baltimore Hotel Corporation and certain of the Pension and OPEB Trust Funds were audited
by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us. Our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included
for the Baltimore City Public School System, Baltimore Hotel Corporation and certain Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
are based on the reports of the other auditors except for the matter discussed in “Other Matters” below. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

The City Auditor did not have an external peer review by an unaffiliated audit organization as required by Chapter 3
of Government Auditing Standards at least once every three years. The last external peer review was for the period
ended December 31, 2011. The City Auditor is in the process of engaging an unaffiliated audit organization to conduct
an external peer review for the three-year period ending June 30, 2019.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
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Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, the aggregate remaining fund
information, the combining statement of fiduciary net position- Pension and OPEB Trust Funds, and the combining
statement of changes in fiduciary net position- Pension and OPEB Trust Funds of the City, as of June 30, 2019, and
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis, Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances, and Changes in Fund Balance — Budget and
Actual- Budgetary Basis — General Fund, Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability:
Employees’ Retirement System Plan, Schedule of Employer Contributions: Employees Retirement System Plan,
Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability: Maryland State Retirement and Pension System
— ERPS, Schedule of Employer Contributions: Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-ERPS, Schedule of
the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability: Maryland State Retirement and Pension System — LEOPS,
Schedule of Employer Contributions: Maryland State Retirement and Pension System — LEOPS, Schedule of Changes
in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios: Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System - Single
Employer Plan, Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios: Elected Officials’
Retirement System - Single Employer Plan; Schedule of Employer Contributions — Single Employer Plans, Schedule
of Changes in the Net OPEB Liabilities and Related Ratios — OPEB Plan; Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share
of Net OPEB Liability, Schedule of Employer Contributions and Investment Returns — Total OPEB Plan; the Schedule
of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability; Schedule of Employer Contributions — OPEB Plan; and
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence
to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements, and the introductory
and statistical sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The combining and individual fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were derived from
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial statements is fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Adjustments to Discretely Presented Component Unit Financial Statements Audited by Other Auditors.

As part of our audit of the City’s 2019 financial statements, we also audited the adjustments described in Note 20 that
were applied to adjust the financial statements of the Baltimore City Public School System, a discretely presented
component unit of the City, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, including the restatement of certain 2019
financial statements’ beginning balances in the accompanying financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments
are appropriate and have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the
2019 financial statements of the School System other than with respect to the adjustments, and accordingly, we do not

express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2019 financial statements of the School System as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 23, 2019, on our
consideration of the City’s internal controls over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal controls over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal controls over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s
internal controls over financial reporting and compliance.

December 27, 2019

)
4B +omparnsy Fe Sk Voo
SB & Company, LLC Josh Pasch, CPA
Independent Public Accountants City Auditor
Owings Mills, Maryland Department of Audits



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)

This section of the City of Baltimore’s (City) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) presents a narrative
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. We encourage readers
to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter
of transmittal.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the
close of fiscal year 2019 by $3.3 billion (net position). This amount includes $708.4 million (restricted net position) and is
net of an unrestricted deficit of $3.2 billion. During the fiscal year, the City’s total net position decreased by $404.0 million.

As of June 30, 2019, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $981.9 million. At the
close of the fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $145.9 million.

The City’s governmental total long term general obligation debt increased by $40.7 million, during fiscal year 2019.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 requires the utilization of dual focus financial reporting. The
purpose of this overview is to provide the reader with an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements prepared
under these reporting requirements.

The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components:

(1) Government-wide financial statements,
(2) Fund financial statements, and
(3) Notes to the basic financial statements.

The report also contains required and other supplementary information including notes to the Required Supplementary
Information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Measurement focus refers to what is measured and reported in a fund’s operating statement while basis of accounting
determines when a transaction or event is recognized in these funds. Under the accrual basis of accounting, most
transactions are recorded when they occur, regardless of when cash is received or disbursed. Under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, revenues and other financial resources are recognized when they become susceptible to accrual; that
is, when they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Expenditures are
recognized when the fund liability is incurred with certain exceptions.

Financial Report Layout and Structure

The total economic resources focus is intended to determine if a fund is better or worse off economically as a result of
events and transactions of the period. This focus utilizes the accrual basis of accounting to record events and transactions
that improve (revenues or gains) or diminish (expenses or losses) a fund’s economic position. It is the focus used by
businesses. Until the advent of GASB 34, this focus was utilized by the public sector only to report on its business (self-
supporting) activities.

The current financial resources focus is intended to determine if there are more or less resources that can be spent in the
near future as a result of events and transactions of the period. This focus utilizes the modified accrual basis of accounting
to record increases (revenues or other financing sources) or decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in a fund’s
spendable resources. For most state and local governments, this focus is their legally mandated accounting method and
with the incorporation of encumbrances (spending commitments), the one utilized to determine adherence to budgetary
requirements.



Layout and Structure of the City of Baltimore Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
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Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances,
in a manner similar to a private-sector business. This section contains the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between
the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether
or not the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal
year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless
of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will
only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods, such as, revenues pertaining to uncollected taxes and expenses pertaining
to earned, but unused, vacation and sick leave.

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes
and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all, or a
significant portion, of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of
the City include general government, public safety and regulation, conservation of health, social services, education, public
library, recreation and culture, highway and streets, sanitation and waste removal, public service, economic development,
and interest expenses. The business-type activities of the City include water, sewer and stormwater utilities, parking
facilities and several other fee supported activities.

The government-wide financial statements include, not only the City itself (known as the primary government), but also
the legally separate activities of the Baltimore City Public School System and the Baltimore Hotel Corporation. Summary
financial information for these component units are reported separately from the financial information presented for the
primary government itself. The Baltimore City Public School System prepared its own financial statements, which are also
prepared in conformity with GASB 34 and audited. The Baltimore Hotel Corporation prepared its own financial statements
in conformity to FASB and audited.



Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements are designed to report information about groupings of related accounts which are used to
maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into the following three categories: governmental funds,
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements, i.e., most of the City’s basic services are reported in governmental funds. These
statements, however, focus on: (1) how cash and other financial assets can readily be converted to available resources and
(2) the balance left at year-end that are available for spending. Such information may be useful in determining what
financial resources are available in the near future to finance the City’s programs. Because the focus of governmental funds
is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for
governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City’s near term financing decisions.
Both the governmental fund Balance Sheet and the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental
activities.

The City maintains several major governmental funds (general, grants revenue, and capital projects). Information is
presented separately in the governmental fund Balance Sheet and in the governmental fund Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for theses major funds. Data from the remaining governmental funds are
combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of the non-major governmental funds is
provided in the form of combining statements as presented in supplementary information herein.

Proprietary funds

Proprietary funds are generally used to account for services for which the City charges customers -- either outside
customers, or internal units or departments of the City. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from
non-operating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the
fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the City’s enterprise and internal service fund are
charges for customer services including: water, sewer, stormwater, parking fees, commercial and industrial rents, printing
services, vehicle maintenance fees, telecommunication, central post office fees, energy conservation and building
maintenance. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses. Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as shown in the government-
wide financial statements.

The City maintains the following two types of proprietary funds:

e Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-
wide financial statements. Enterprise funds are used to account for the operation of the City’s business-type
activities and include water, sewer and stormwater, utilities, and parking facilities, all of which are considered to
be major funds of the City, and several other non-major fee supported activities.

e Internal Service funds are used to report activities that provide supplies and service for certain City programs and
activities. The City uses internal service funds to account for its fleet of vehicles, printing and mail services,
telecommunications services, energy conservation and building maintenance. Because these services
predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. The internal service funds are combined
into a single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the
internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.



Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary funds are used to report net position held in a trust or agency capacity for others. These resources cannot be used
to support the City’s own programs and are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements. The City’s fiduciary
funds are comprised of pension trust, OPEB trust and agency funds.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report presents certain required supplementary
information such as the general fund budgetary basis financial statement, the Retirement System’s changes in net pension
liability and investment return ratios, and the City’s progress in funding its other postemployment benefits obligation.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Primary Government)

The City’s financial statements were prepared in conformity with the reporting model required by Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 (GASB 34), Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis (MD&A) — for State and Local Governments. The report includes prior fiscal year results for the purpose of
providing comparative information for the MD&A.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Net Position

For fiscal year 2019 and 2018

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities  Business-type activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Current and 0ther aSSEtS .........c.couuiiiiiiiiiin it $ 1672689 $1,383219 $1392036 $1,085223 $ 3,064,725 $ 2468442
CaPItal ASSELS, MEL. .. evt ettt et ettt e e 3,130,924 3,111,845 5,495,854 5,151,609 8,626,778 8,263,454

Total assets ................ 4,803,613 4495064 6,887,890 6,236,832 11,691,503 10,731,896
Deferred outflows of resources... 534,183 344,216 129,564 116,833 663,747 461,049
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources. 5337,796 4,839,280 7,017,454 6,353,665 12,355,250 11,192,945

Long-term liabilities outstanding..............eoveeiiviiiiieiie e 1,703949 3,327,745 2,786,905 2458871 4,490,854 5,786,616

Other HADIEIES .. ... eevve ettt ettt et e 3,790,450 1,184,992 509,167 439,955 4,299,617 1,624,947
Total liabilities ......... 5494399 4512737 3296072 2898826 8790471 7411563
Deferred inflows of resources....... 211,396 39,352 17,519 2,150 228,915 41,502

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources............o..oovvvvivunnnn 5,705,795 4,552,089 3313591 2,900,976 9,019,386 7,453,065

Net position:

Net investment in Capital @SSELS .....vvuvvurrueiieiierieeieeire e e e 2,520,881 2,574,640 3345821 3,383,394 5866,702 5,958,034

RESTICLEM. ..ttt ettt 527,293 483,623 181,109 161,308 708,402 644,931

UNEESTHCTEA. vt ev ettt et et e (3416,173) (2,771,072 176,933 (92,013)  (3,239,240)  (2,863,085)
Total Nt POSIHION ... oviiieiie ittt ettt er e $ (367999) $ 287,191 $ 3703863 $3452,689 $ 3335864 $ 3,739,880

Analysis of Net Position

As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of the City’s financial position. For the City, assets and
deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $3.3 billion at the close of fiscal
year 2019. The City’s net position includes its investment of $5.9 billion in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, and
equipment); less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided
from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be liquidated for these liabilities. An additional portion of
the City’s net position, $708.4 million, represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be
used. The remaining balance is a deficit in unrestricted net position of $3.2 billion.



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Net Position
For the fiscal years 2019 and 2018

(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities

Business-type activities Total

Revenues:
Programrevenues:

Charges for SEIVICES .....vvevvereereieiiriiirvirrieviercre e ereere o
Operating grants and contributions ..............ccoeeveererieirnn

Capital grants and contribUtions .........c..cvevvevereereeeneerennns

General revenues:

PrOPEItY taXeS .. eveveeveeeiveireireiisiin e

INCOME tAXES ..vvvveeevvie e

State shared revenue ..............coeeveenrnne
Transfer and recordation tax...........couveeeeviniiveeveinnien
Electric and gas taX.........c.couovireeeveniiiee e
TelecOmMMUNICAHIONS TAX ..o vevievievieeere e et se vt
AAMUISSION ..ot
OthET ..o

TOtal TEVENUES ......vveveiiie et

Expenses:

General GOVEIMMENL ..........eccouierireneiiier s
Public safety and regulation ............cccooveiviiiriinni
Conservation of health ..........coooveiviiiiiini i,
SOCIALSEIVICES ... vttt
BdUCAtion ........coviiiiieciiii e

Public Brary .........ovevieeiiiiicees e

Recreation and culture .....

Highways and Streets ............c.uoveereivnirieneiiiir e
Sanitation and waste removal ............c.ocoveirviiieeviiiennn
PUBHC SEIVICE ..ovvveeeeeie et
Economic development ............ccoouviineiniiieneiiiniiieean

INEEIEST . vvree e

2019

2018

2019 2018 2019

2018

$ 122790 $
365,771
67,257

909,254
440,144
166,082
98,405
52,987
35,877
8,234
278,552

111154 §
324,457
41,095

886,417
346,797
170,240
89,298
42,438
32,799
8,924
166,986

592304 $ 579201 $§ 715094 $
365,771

161,469 169,154 228,726
909,254
440,144
166,082
98,405
52,987
35,877
8,234
291,045

12,493 5,535

690,355
324,457
210,249

886,417
346,797
170,240
89,298
42438
32,799
8,924
172,521

2,545,353

2,220,605

766,266 753,890 3,311,619

2,974,495

524515
1,228,602
169,216
103,384
494,735
46,150
68,491
181,100
98,499
103,340
188,852
52,787

404,025
781,830
134,743
95,107
383,934
35,189
59,049
165,800
81,877
50,052
131,347
77,530

524,515
1,228,602
169,216
103,384
494,735
46,150
68,491
181,100
98,499
103,340
188,852
52,787

Change in Nt POSIION +..v.veerereieriiirvierirrierere e ere e e eeeseese s
Net position - BEGINNING .......vcveveveriierireiesiiir e

Net position - €nding ..........eeeeivriiereireiiiiiie e

WALET ..o
WaASEWALET ..ot
SEOTMWALET ...ttt e

PArKing .....vovivvier ittt

Nonmajor proprietary ..................

158,089
237,396
25,299
24,038
11,142

147,289
207,730
26,175
17,797
10,087

158,089
237,3%
25299
24,038
11,142

404,025
781,830
134,743
95,107
383,934
35,189
59,049
165,800
81,877
50,052
131,347
77,530
147,289
207,730
26,175
17,797
10,087

TOtAl EXPENSES .eeeeeiiieiiei ettt 3,259,671

2,400,483

455,964

409,078

3,715,635

2,809,561

Decrease in net assets before transfer ..............covovvveeennnn, (714,318)

Transfer:

Transfer i (OUL) ...ovvvvvvvierieeere e 59,128

(179.878)

59,295

310,302

(59,128)

344,812

(59,295

(404,016)

164,934

(655,190)
267,191

(120,583)
407,774

251,174
3,452,689

285,517

3,167,172

(404,016)
3,730,880

164,934
3,574,946

$ (367999 $

287,191 $ 3703863 $ 3452680 $ 3335864 $ 3,739,880




Analysis of Changes in Net Position
The overall decrease in the City’s net position amounted to $404.0 million during fiscal year 2019. This change is explained

in the government and business-type activities discussion below.

Expenses and Program Revenues — Governmental Activities (expressed in thousands)
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Governmental Activities

During the current fiscal year, expense related to governmental activities amounted to $3.3 billion; this is more than
revenues by $714.3 million. Total revenue of $2.5 billion is comprised of program revenues totaling $555.8 million, which
is 21.9% of total revenue. Program revenues are the principal source of funding for the City’s general government, health,
and economic development activities. Other major activities including public safety and regulation, as well as the highways

and streets program, are primarily supported by general revenues. A more detailed analysis of the governmental activities
is discussed in the “Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds” section.

During fiscal year 2019, governmental revenues increased by $324.7 million.

Governmental expenses increased by $859.1 million during fiscal year 2019. This increase is primarily attributable to
increases in general government, public safety and education by $678.1 million. The two main drivers of these increases
were: (1) a benefit change in the OPEB plan causing an expense increase of $563.7 million and (2) an increase in the debt
associated with the revitalization of Baltimore City Public Schools which increased expenses by $174.2 million.

Expenses and Program Revenues — Business-type Activities (expressed in thousands)

$300,000 1
$250,000 A1
$200,000
$150,000 A1
$100,000 A1

$50,000 4

$-
Water Wastewater Stormwater Parking Nonmajor
Proprietary
||:| Expenses $158,089 $237,396 $25,299 $24,038 $11,142
|-Charges for Services 175,492 276,844 28,540 76,801 34,627

Business-type Activities

Business-type activities are presented after adjustments to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related
to enterprise funds. Charges for services represent the principal revenue source for the City’s business-type activities.
During the current fiscal year, revenue from business-type activities totaled $766.3 million. Expenses for these activities
totaled $455.9 million, income earned of $310.3 million and net transfer out of $59.1 million and resulted in an increase
in net position of $251.2 million.

Operating revenues increased by $15.6 million in fiscal year 2019 in the Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Funds.
Capital assets increased by $344.3 million in the business-type activities primarily as a result of the utilities funds’ effort
to build environmentally sound facilities.

The City implemented a new Water and Stormwater billing system during fiscal year 2017. As with all new system
implementations, process improvements are still being developed. One issue that remained at year end necessitated The
City to estimate billings.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of
resources that are available for spending. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements. In
particular, an unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s net resources available for spending at
the end of the fiscal year. Types of major governmental funds reported by the City include the general fund, grants revenue
fund, and capital projects fund. Data from the remaining governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated
presentation as other nonmajor funds.

11



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Comparative Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Gowvernmental Funds
For the Fiscal Years 2019 and 2018
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Variance
2019 2018 Amount

Revenues:

General fund:
PrOPEILY TAXES . .uvtittiet ettt ettt ee e ee e et eee e ee et e ee e eeeenreeaeeeeaee D 909,254 $ 884,410 $ 24,844
TNCOIME LAXES ..ottt ittt et et e et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 440,144 346,797 93,347
Other 10Cal - LAXES .. .ouin it e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e 185,603 175,196 10,407

Total local taXEeS ......oiiiiiiiii i 1,535,001 1,406,403 128,598

Licenses and permits.. R 38,880 41,043 (2,163)
Interest, rentals, and other INVEStMENt INCOME .....iviniiii et 46,140 27,071 19,069
Federal Grants ...........oooiiiiit ittt e et ee e et e e ae e aaas 79 (79)
STALE GIANLES . ettt it eee e ee e ettt e et et e e e et ee e ee e et et et et e s 98,528 104,644 (6,116)
Other . 238,581 216,312 22,269

Total revenues- general fund 1,957,130 1,795,552 161,578

Other governmental funds:
Grants revenue fUNd ... ... 242,604 233,957 8,647
Capital projects fund ... 149,195 62,019 87,176
Other funds ...........coocoueee. 64,161 56,090 8,071

Total revenues other governmental ﬁlnds s 455,960 352,066 103,894

Total revenues all governmental funds ............cocoiiiiiiiii i 2,413,090 2,147,618 265,472

Expenditures:

General fund:
General GOVEIMIMENT ...ttt ettt et et e e e et e e et ee e 267,831 155,606 112,225
Public safety and regulation ..ottt 831,453 766,230 65,223
Conservation of health ....... ... e e 36,077 38,648 (2,571)
SOCIAL SCIVICES .ttt ettt ettt et e et e et et ee e et et et e e et ee e et e et e e e 68,539 59,899 8,640
BAUCAtION ...t e e e e e e e 289,410 293,355 (3,945)
PUDHC TIDTATY .ottt ettt e e e e e e e e 26,784 24,505 2,279
Recreation and CUltUre ......... ... e e e e e 45,574 43,845 1,729
Highways and STIEELS .. ... ...ttt ettt ettt et e e ee e ee e eeeea 102,468 99,848 2,620

78,238 75,384 2,854

44,863 42,579 2,284

Economic development 52,998 41,634 11,364

Debt service . 105,347 94,713 10,634

Sanitation and waste removal ...................
Public service .

Total expendltures - general fund e e 1,949,582 1,736,246 213,336

Other governmental funds:
Grants revenue fUNd ........ooootii it 242,441 221,811 20,630
Capital projects fund ...........coooiiiiiiii i 241,506 186,541 54,965
Other funds ............. 37,119 41,857 (4,738)

Total expendltures other governmental ﬁlnds .. 521,066 450,209 70,857

Total expenditures all governmental funds ...... 2,470,648 2,186,455 284,193

Excess of expenditures OVEr TEVENUE .......uiutiniinieeeeeaeeeeeeee e e eieeananeanns (57,558) (38,837) (18,721)

Other financing sources:

TTANSTEIS TN+ e ettt ettt et e et e et et e e e ee e et ae e ae s 182,999 252,168 (69,169)

TranSTErS OUL ..ottt ettt ee e ee e e e e e et et e ee e ee e ee e e e e (118,222) (194,465) 76,243

Proceeds frombond ISSUANCES .....coieiieetiitiii ittt ee e ee e ee e ee e e (8,004) (8,004)

Capital Projects Fund:
Transportation revenue bonds ........ccooveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeea 3,675 14,924 (11,249)
Payoff of bond anticipation NOte ...........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeaeeeeeeeee.n (60,148) 60,148
Refunding of obligation bonds ...t 8,792 (133,560) 142,352
Capital leases ........ 29,618 (29,618)
Refunding of capital leases (4,563) 4,563
Premium on general obligation bonds 83,584 35,923 47,661
Face value of funding and refunding general obhgatlon bonds....l... 37,822 225,155 (187,333)

Total other fiNnancing SOUICES ..c.uuviieiiniieiiiiiiieeiiiie e e 190,646 165,052 25,594

Net changes in fund balances ..............ooocoiiiiiiiii i 133,088 126,215 6,873
Fund balances - beginning.........o.oiiiiiiiii it 848,769 722,554 126,215

Fund balances - ending ........ooiiiiiiiiitit i D 981,857 $ 848,769 $ 133,088
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Revenues for governmental functions overall totaled approximately $2.4 billion in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019,
which represents an increase of 12.4% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Expenditures for governmental functions,
totaling $2.5 billion, increased by approximately 10.5% from the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. In the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2019, expenditures for governmental functions exceeded revenue by $57.6 million.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. Revenue in the General Fund increased $161.6 million as
compared to fiscal year 2018. The total expenditures for the General Fund increased by $213 million, or 12.3%, compared
to fiscal year 2018.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $145.9 million, while total fund
balance was $837.3 million. The fund balance in the City’s General Fund increased by $26.2 million during the fiscal year,
which was caused by a net transfer in to the General Fund of $18 million plus higher revenues. The Capital Fund has an
assigned fund balance of $87.9 million, an increase of $74.4 million over prior year. This increase was primarily caused
by proceeds from the sale of general obligation and transportation bonds.

The Grants Revenue Fund is used to account for the spending of various Federal, State and special purpose grant funds.
Most of these grants are funded on an expenditure reimbursement basis. Should any portion of the grants receivable be
determined uncollectable, the balance may be written off against the General Fund The Grants Revenue Fund had an
assigned fund balance of $21.6 million, an increase of $19.2 million over prior year. This increase was primarily caused
by transfers from the General Fund.

Proprietary Funds

The City’s business-type activities prior to allocation of internal service fund activities are comprised of the funds listed
below. The nonmajor funds include the Industrial Development Authority and Conduit Fund.

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Water, Wastewater and
Stormwater Utility Funds  Parking Facility Fund Nonmajor Other Funds

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Operating FEVENUES ........ccvevvveiveeieeiieeieeiieeieeseenieeiieeiieeneenenee. & 480,876 $ 465305 $ 76801 $ 85257 $ 34627 $ 28,639
OpErating EXPENSES .. vvvvveeeeiaeei e eetieecneeeaeeeete e eesieeeen e e e eeeeen 380,142 347,623 10,632 11,816 11,187 8,417
Operating Ncome (0SS) «vvuerereeerieeiieeeie et eeiiee e 100,734 117,682 66,169 73,441 23,440 20,222
Non operating revenues (expenses), capital
contribution, and transfers ............ccocoeieeiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 132,711 134,378 (72,534) (65,276) 26 (1,838)
Change in net position .........ccoeveevvueeeiiieiiiieiieeiiineiiieeeeeee. 3 233445 $ 252060 $  (6365) $ 8165 $ 23466 $ 18,384

As discussed in the Business-type activities section, the Water and Wastewater Utilities Fund experienced operating
revenue increases in fiscal year 2019. These increases are attributable to rate increases implemented in fiscal year 2019.
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General Fund budgetary highlights

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Budgetary Basis - General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance with ~ Variance with
Original Budget Final Budget

Original Final Positive Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative) ~ (Negative)
TOLAL TEVEIUES ... v ettt e $ 181663 $ 1833354 $§ 19549% $ 138359 $ 121641
Expenditures and encumbrances:
General GOVEINIMENL.........vveveeeieriereresesierireereee e e e se v e e 351,180 356,397 333,643 17,537 22,754
Public safety and regulation..............ccocoveeiiiiiiiiii i 775,399 787,399 780,670 (5,271) 6,729
Conservation 0f health...........cc.uovieeiviiiiiiiiii e 46,746 46,746 38,986 7,760 7,760
SOCIAL SEIVICES .. v e v ettt ettt et 3244 3,244 2,650 594 594
BAUCHON. ... vttt 289,661 289,661 290,977 (1,316) (1,316)
PUBLC TOIALY ..o 27,226 21,226 25,666 1,560 1,560
Recreation and CUltUIE. ........ccovvvvieee i 48,146 48,146 44,942 3,204 3,204
Highways and STEELS ... ..vvveveeeserierireeeeeniiiire e se e e 129,352 139,352 125,502 3,850 13,850
Sanitation and Waste remOVAL ........cccoeovviveeeiiiiiieee i 84,721 86,221 84,108 613 2,113
Public service.........c.ccevrnrecnnn 42,559 42,559 38,164 4,395 4,395
Economic deVelopment. ............ouvoeriveirrieeieraesiee i 65,313 65,313 66,138 (825) (825)
Total expenditures and encumMbIANCES............vvveerererirvierarnns 1,863,547 1,892,264 1,831,446 $ 32101 $ 60818
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures
and enCUMDIANCES............vveeeriereeiriie e e eeriee e (46,911) (58,910) 123549
Other Financing uses:
TEANSTOLS M1..... et 39,670 39,670 116,563
TEANSTELS OUL. ... .ovvveev ettt (107,986) (107,986) (97,937)
Total other fiInancing USes...........covveeerireeirrreiriiee e (68,316) (68,316) 18,626
Net changes in fund balances............c..cocoviviininnns (115,227) (127,226) 142,175
Fund balances - beginning ............cocuveeeimriniiiaeiiee e 772,8% 772,8% 772,8%
Fund balances - ending. ........c..cooovevirooriviiiieeiseenireiiee s $ 657668 $ 645669 $§ 915070

The City’s final budget differs from the original budget in that it contains carry-forward appropriations for various
programs and projects, and supplemental appropriations approved after adoption, and during the fiscal year. During fiscal
year 2019, supplemental appropriations totaling $34.9 million were approved for the general fund, all of which were
approved from prior year surplus or from unexpected increases in revenues sources. Actual expenditures for the year were
less than the original budget by $32.1 million, but were $60.8 million lower than adjusted appropriations. This amount was
primarily related to the governmental activities: lower than budgeted costs for general government operations amounted to
$22.8 million; lower than budgeted costs for public safety and regulation amounted to $6.7 million; lower than budgeted
costs for conservation of health amounted to $7.8 million; lower than budgeted costs for highways and streets to $13.9
million; and lower than budgeted costs for public service amounted to $4.4 million.

On a budgetary basis, revenues for fiscal year 2019 totaled $2.0 billion and expenditures and transfers totaled $1.8 billion.
The excess of expenditures and transfers over revenues resulted in a budgetary basis fund balance at June 30, 2019 of
$915.1 million, an increase of $142.2 million.
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Capital Assets

The City’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 2019, amounted to $8.6 billion
(net of accumulated depreciation). Capital assets include land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment,
park facilities, roads, streets, bridges, and library books. The total increase in the City’s net capital assets for the current
fiscal year was increase 3.3% (2.1% decrease for governmental activities and an 6.7% increase for business-type activities)
as shown in the table below.

Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation
For the Fiscal Years 2019 and 2018
(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental activities  Business-type activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Land and other .........coooiiiiiiiiiiiii i $ 369,049 $ 365,900 $ 36,920 $ 36,920 $ 405969 $ 402,820
Building and improvements ............c.ooveeueeenieeiieeenieaeenns 878,679 875,800 2,639,236 2,718,234 3,517,915 3,594,034
BQUIPITIENT © oottt ettt e et et et e e 114,489 105,088 182,050 184,805 296,539 289,893
INfrastriCture .. .oueeeeee e ee e et ee e ee e ee e e, 1,613,012 1,547,191 1,465,351 998,619 2,978,363 2,545,810
LAbrary DOOKS .. .etuntienit et ie ettt e 17,800 15,591 17,800 15,591
CONStruction N PrOGIESS .. uuvenueeienie et eeat e aeeeee e eeeeenaees 237,895 202,275 1,172,297 1,213,031 1,410,192 1,415,306
TOtal L.ttt e e $3,130,924 $3,111,845  $5,495,854  $ 5,151,609 $ 8,626,778 $ 8,263,454

See note number 5 on capital assets.

Debt Administration

As of June 30, 2019, the City had total long-term obligations outstanding of $4.1 billion. Of this amount, $572.9 million
was general obligation bonds backed by the full faith and credit of the City, $379.0 million was revenue bonds for
governmental activity at the Convention Center, the Convention Center Hotel, and transportation bonds, and $2.6 billion
was revenue bonds related to commercial business activity. The remainder includes revenue bonds and other obligations
of City business and governmental activities.

During fiscal year 2019, the City sold $585.9 million in revenue bonds.

The ratio of net general obligation bonded debt to taxable valuation and the amount of bonded debt per capita are useful
indicators of the City’s debt position for management, citizens, and investors. A comparison of these indicators follows:

FY 2019 FY 2018
Net general bonded debt (expressed in thousands) .........cceeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieieee e, 461,074 $ 418,621
Ratio of net general bonded debt to net assessed Value .....oouotie it ee e 1.10% 1.02%

See note number 7 on long-term obligations.

As of June 30, 2019, the City had $577.5 million in authorized, outstanding property tax-supported general obligation
bonds. This amount is reduced by net restricted assets in the Debt Service Fund (which is part of the General Fund
beginning in Fiscal Year 2017) of $116.4 million for net tax-supported bonded debt of $461.1 million, which is equal to
approximately 1.10% of the assessed value of property (net of exemptions). There are an additional $435.5 million in bonds
that are authorized, but unissued.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates

The fiscal year 2020 budget submitted by the Board of Estimates to the Baltimore City Council proposed total
appropriations of $3,555,402,000 of which $1,967,250,000 were for General Fund operations and Pay-As-You-Go
(PAYGO) capital. The City Council, after deliberations pursuant to Charter requirements and powers, made no reductions
to the total General Fund or other fund appropriations. The property tax rates on real property and personal property
remained at $2.248 and $5.62 per $100 of assessed valuation, respectively. The locally imposed and State mandated income
tax rate was 3.2%. The Ordinance of Estimates was adopted by the City Council and signed by the Mayor on June 11,
2019.
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Fiscal 2019 Budget — Economic Factors

Fiscal 2019 was once again a strong year of economic activity. As of December 2019, the US economy still enjoys the
longest period of economic growth since the Great Depression, with 126 consecutive months of economic expansion.
During Fiscal 2019, most indicators suggested a healthy economic environment with no evident signs of immediate risks.

Most indicators suggest that the City remains in a healthy economic environment. The City’s average wages continued its
steady growth and increased 1.1% during calendar 2018. The most recent data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS)
indicates a year-to-date average of 381,800 jobs located in the City by September 2019, representing an additional increase
of 1.1% compared to the 377,500 average of calendar year 2018. As of the third quarter of 2019, there is an estimated
average of 282,817 City residents employed, representing an increase of 8,494, or 3.1%. Additionally, the average number
of individuals joining the labor force during this period increased by 7,683, or 2.6%, explaining the reduction of the City’s
unemployment rate to its historical low of 4.8%.

The City’s economic activity as measured by the value and amount of sales generated in the City remains strong. The City
places as the fifth largest county in Maryland for generation of the State Sale and Use tax. Sale transactions in the City
represent 7.3% of the State’s total retail sales during Fiscal 2019, slightly lower than fiscal year 2018, but this proportion
remains relatively unchanged. Retail sales activity continues to be a leading indicator of the City’s economic health,
increasing 2.8% or $160.4 million in taxable sales between fiscals 2018 and 2019.

The City has experienced decline in its household size and the number of income tax return filed; however, data from the
Census Bureau and the Comptroller of Maryland indicated that the City has compensated these reductions and has become
wealthier. The City’s household size has declined from 2.53 individuals in 2010 to 2.44 in 2017, but the average household
income has grown 28.6% from $54,165 in 2010 to $69,676 in 2017, 15.9% above inflation. There are approximately
114,854, or 47.8%, households earning more than $50,000, an increase of almost 21,341 or 22.8%. Moreover, the number
of households earning less than $50,000 decreased by 19,006 or 13.2% over the same period. Similarly, the Income Tax
Summary Report, released annually by the Maryland Revenue Administration Division, shows that during 2018 there were
193,809 taxable returns filed in Baltimore City. Even though this represents a decrease of more than 7,700 total returns, or
-3.8%, the reduction was greatly compensated by the increase of 12.2% in the average local tax per return, generating
$335.0 million in local taxes, $24.5 million more than in 2017. The composition of filers has changed to reflect the
household income distribution explained above. Of the total returns, 78,179 or 40.3% corresponded to individuals whose
taxable income was higher than $50,000, which represent 81.3% of the total taxes. This increase reflects the favorable
conditions of the City’s labor market.

In Fiscal 2019, the real estate market continued to show mostly healthy market trends, with the total number of transactions
decreasing, but prices increasing. The total residential units sold in the City as reported by the Metropolitan Regional
Information System (MRIS) decreased in Fiscal 2019 for the first time in seven years. However, some of this decrease was
probably due at least in part to the ransomware attack on the City network sustained on May 7, 2019. Despite the decrease
to the number of residential units sold, the average sales price increased in Fiscal 2019; homes sold for an average of
$179,046, a $6,103 or 3.5% increase to Fiscal 2017.

Despite these positive signs, preparation for the Fiscal 2020 Budget was conservative considering that the US economy is
approaching to a recessionary period. The City continues monitoring the impact of the negative changes in City’s
population to its taxable base. However, major concerns have arisen for the financial and fiscal impact of the recently
released recommendations from the Kirwan Commission to City school’s funding, which will take most of the attention
for policy-making decisions in the 2020 General Assembly Legislative Session and future budget discussions.

As referenced in the prior section, the U.S. Census Bureau’s most recent population estimate indicate a decrease of more
than 9,000 City residents between 2017 and 2018. This represents the second largest one-year decline in population the
City has experienced since 2001 when we lost more than 10,400 residents. This reduction brings the City’s population to
its historical lowest value of 602,495 residents. With this reduction, the City has experienced four consecutive year of
population decline totaling more than 21,000 people leaving the City between 2014 and 2018, an average of 5,500 net
negative migration. The impact of losing population has started to be noticed in the City’s taxable base, and it remains as
one of the most concerning long-term threat to the City’s financial stability.

The Kirwan Commission recently released its report with their recommendation for future funding to City schools. The
report provides recommendations into five categories: Early Childhood Education, High-Quality and Diverse Teachers and
Leaders, College and Career Readiness Pathways, More Resources to Ensure All Students are Successful and Governance
and Accountability. The cost estimates for all recommendations total $1.5 billion in Fiscal 2022 and grows to $3.8 billion
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in Fiscal 2030. If adopted, it is estimated that the City would be mandated to increase its contribution to schools by $138.2
million in Fiscal 2022, which would require substantial adjustments to the City’s budget priorities in the next years.

Request for information

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general
overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have
questions about this report, or need additional financial information, contact the Director of Finance at the following
address:

Room 469, City Hall
100 N. Holliday Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Component Units

Primary Government Baltimore City  Baltimore
Governmental Business-type Public School Hotel
Activities Activities Total System Corporation

Assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ... $ 404,669 $ 808,420 $ 1,213,089 $ 302,350 $ 3,015

Investments ... 561,741 561,741 124,895 40,164
Property taxes receivable, net 15,475 15,475
Service receivable, net . 145,130 145,130
Other receivables, net .... 48,873 2,474 51,347 4,262 4,832
Due fromother governments ... 292,490 420,578 713,068 32,850
Internal balances ................... 28,952 (28,952)
Due from primary government .. 15,793
Inventories, at COSt ........ccovvieeuieinnn.. .. 9,298 10,085 19,383 1,312 73
Notes and mortgages receivable, net .... 269,514 34,075 303,589
Other assets ........ 30,741 226 30,967 360 3,518
Net pension asset . 10,936 10,936
Capital assets being depreciated, net of accumulated depreciation . 2,523,980 4,286,637 6,810,617 791,268 186,838
Capital assets not being depreciated ..............ccoeeiiiiiniiinn. . 606,944 1,209,217 1,816,161 183,162

TOtAl ASSEES . ..ouiitt it e e 4,803,613 6,887,890 11,691,503 1,456,252 238,440
Deferred outflow of resources:
Deferred amortization on early extinguishment of debt ... 59,965 59,965
Deferred loss on bond refunding ..............ccooooiin 5,820 15,497 21,317
Deferred outflows related to pension .... 312,775 19,050 331,825 29,382
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 214,331 26,414 240,745 72,956
Interest rate SWaps .........c.cceviviiiiiiinieiiinns 1,257 8,638 9,895

Total deferred outflows of resources 534,183 129,564 663,747 102,338

Total assets and deferred outflows OF TESOUICES .....iviiiieitieiee et 5,337,796 7,017,454 12,355,250 1,558,590 238,440
Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued Habilities .............o.cooiuitiiit i 358,284 208,087 566,371 222,997 15,933
Accrued interest payable .. 10,840 44,831 55,671 4,448
Unearned revenue 24,626 24,626 1,762 2,045
Notes payable ................... 293,849
Due to other governments .... 4,691 4,691

Deposits SUBJECt t0 TETUNM .. ... iuit ittt e et et e et et 29,353 15 29,368 4,746
Estimated claims in progress:

Due within one year 89,075 89,075
Due in more than one year .. 273,873 273,873
Revenue bond payable, net:
Due Within ONe YEAT . ....ciuiuiiiiit ittt 20,457 69,097 89,554
Due in more than one year .. 410,947 2,748,834 3,159,781
Derivative instrument liability ..... 1,257 23811 25,068
Long termdebt payable:
DUue WIthill ONI@ YEAT .. .e.uvt ittt ettt 46,666 380 47,046 12,656
Due in MOTE thAN ONE YEAT ... eetiet ittt ettt ettt et et et et et e et e e et e e e s 762,791 4,275 767,066 64,165
Capital leases payable:
Due within one year ..... 29,468 100 29,568 3,720
Due in more than one year .. 121,141 543 121,684 6,409
Compensated absences:
Due within one year .......... 47,858 5,561 53,419 5572
Due in more than one year .. 108,517 9,442 117,959 45,081
Landfill closure due in more than one year .. 25,423 25,423
Other liabilities due in more than one year:
Net pension liability .. 1,674,645 120,025 1,794,670 130,470
Net OPEB liability . 1,209,178 51,380 1,260,558 231,937
Other liabilities ... 250,000 5,000 255,000 35,818
Total liabilities 5,494,399 3,296,072 8,790,471 760,587 321,021
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related to PENSION ...........ooiuiiiiiiiiiii 40,982 592 41,574 5,946
Deferred inflows related to OPEB ............c.ccvvvviinnnnn 115,578 16,927 132,505 72,372
Deferred inflow for service concession arrangement ... 54,836 54,836
Total deferred inflows ofresources ..................... 211,396 17,519 228,915 78,318
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources ... 5,705,795 3,313,591 9,019,386 838,905 321,021
Net position:
Net investment in CAPILAl ASSELS .. ...euutniit e iet ettt et e et e ee e ae et e ee et e ee et ee e 2,520,881 3,345,821 5,866,702 887,480 (107,011)
Restricted for:
(@003 18 ¢ 1 U1 870 ) | RSP 31,000 31,000 25,814
Debt service, sanitation, and capital leASES ...........coeueniriuiniriiit it 478,236 181,109 659,345
Perpetual care:
Expendable 8,847 8,847
Nonexpendable . 9,210 9,210
Unrestricted (deficits) ............ (3,416,173) 176,933 (3,239,240) (193,609) 24,430

Total net position ... $ (367999 $ 3703863 $ 3,335864 $ 719685 $ (82,581)

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended

June 30, 2019

(Bxpressed In Thousands)

Net (Expense) Revenues and Changes in Net Position

Program Revenues Primary Government Component Units
Baltimore
Charges  Operating ~ Capital Grants Business- City Public  Baltimore
for Grants and and Governmental  type School Hotel
Functions/Programs Bxpenses  Services Contributions Contributions ~ Activities  Activities Total System  Corporation
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
General QOVEMMENL . ......vvvivieiieeeein $ 524515 $ 6L102 § 99770 $ 674 $ (362969 $ (362969
Public safety and regulation ........................ 1228602 45,689 21410 (1,155,503) (1,155,503)
Conservation ofhealth..................ooovvvnn, 169,216 6,945 104,651 (57,620) (57,620)
SOCIAISEIVICES . ..o 103,384 44982 (58402) (58.402)
BAUCALION ... 494735 (494,735) (494,735)
Public library ..o 46,150 85 20,655 (25,410) (25,410)
Recreation and culture ............oocvviviiinnnnn, 68,491 161 6,580 5,607 (56,143) (56,143)
Highways and streets ............coovivviiiinnns 181,100 219 53468 (127,413) (127,413)
Sanitation and waste removal ....................... 98,499 7805 (90,694) (90,694)
PUBlIC SEIVICE ... 103,340 5408 (97.932) (97,932)
Economic development............o.oovivininnn, 188,852 1,003 56,096 7,508 (124,245) (124,245)
INtreSt . ... 52,87 (52,787) (52,787)
Total govemmental activities .............. 3250671 122,790 365,771 67,257 (2,703,853) (2,703,853)
Business-type activities:
Wt .. 158089 175492 64,860 82,263 82,263
WaStEWAEr ... 23739 276844 96,609 136,057 136,057
STOMMWALET ... 529 28540 3241 3241
Parking ... 24038 76801 52,763 52,763
Nonmajor proprietary . ..........o.vvevvvrvvrnnnnn, 1,142 34627 23485 23485
Total business-type activities ............. 455964 592,304 161,469 297,809 297,809
Total primary gOVEMMENE . ..........oovvvvvviiiiinnen, § 3715635 $715094 § 365771 § 228726  § (2703853) $ 297809 §  (2406,044)
Component units:
Baltimore City Public School System................. $ 14280 $ 48§ 162253 $§ 53156 $(1,207433)
Baltimore Hotel Corporation..............o.vvvve 61,021 61,106 $ 8
General revenues:
Property taes ... 909,254 909,254
INCOMBEANES . ...\ 440,144 440,144
Transfer and recordation tax ....................ocoee. 98,405 98,405
Electricand gastaX. .......o.oovvviiiiiii, 52,987 52,987
Telecommunications taX. ..........o.cooveviveninnnnen. 35,877 3817
AAMISSION X, ..o 8234 8234
Other localtaXes ...........ovvvviviiiei, 67,878 67,878
State shared revenues ...........oo.vvvvvviiviinnnnn 166,082 166,082
State, federal, and City grants ........................ 1,201,837
Unrestricted investment income........................ 48730 12493 61,223 9210 481
MisCellaneous ..........oovvvvviiiiiiiiee 161,944 161944 268890
THRNSTRIS .o 518 (59,128)
Total general revenues and transfers ................... 2048663  (46,635) 2,002,028 1,479,997 487
Changes in net position ................cooveiiiinnn, (65,190) 251,174 (404,016) 272,564 512
Net position - beginning ..............coooviviiini, 287191 3452,689 3739880 M1l (83153)

Net position -- ending

$  (367,999) $3703863

§ 3335864 § 719685 § (82.581)

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2019
(Bxpressed In Thousands)

Capital
Grants Projects Nonmajor
General Fund  Revenue Fund Fund Funds Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 234,095 $ 85652 $ 22816 $ 342,563
Investments . ... 550,665 1,441 9,635 561,741
Property taxes receivable, net...... 15,475 15,475
Other receivables,net.............. 45,675 287 168 46,130
Due fromother governments ......... . 164,658 $ 88,485 36,627 2,720 292,490
Due fromotherfunds ................ .. 61,465 1,568 63,033
Notes and mortgages receivable, net . .. 269,514 269,514
Inventories, at CoSt. .. .....veie i 818 818
ORI BSSBLS . . ottt ettt 10,412 10,412
JLI0) £ U oET=] £ $ 1352777 $ 88485 $ 125575 $ 35339 $ 1,602,176
Liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balances (deficits):
Liabilities :
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .. 271,780 $ 30934 $ 29787 $ 1577 $ 340,078
Retainages payable ..., . 7,842 7,842
Estimated liability for claims in progress 89,075 89,075
Due to other funds 34,625 34,625
Deposits subject to refund . . ... 29,353 29,353
UNBAMEA TEVENUE . .ottt 23,306 1,320 24,626
Total liabilities. . . ... ..o e 419,514 66,879 37,629 1577 525,599
Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable property taXeS. . . .« ..o vttt ettt e 14,275 14,275
Unavailable income taxes and Other. ... ...t 81,669 81,669
Total deferred inflows of reSOUICES. . ...\ ov i 95,944 95,944
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. ..ot 515,458 66,879 37,629 1577 621,543
Fund balances:
Nonspendable . .. ... o 3,028 3,028
R Y 10 o 431,094 31,000 18,057 480,151
ASSIGNEA . .. 257,252 21,606 56,946 16,929 352,733
UNASSIGNEA . .ottt 145,945 145,945
Total fund balances ...... ...t 837,319 21,606 87,946 34,986 981,857
Total liabilities and fund balances ......... ...t $ 1,352,777 % 88,485 $ 125575 $ 36,563
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported inthe fUnds ... ... o oo 3,017,918
Other long-termassets are not available to pay for current
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred inthe funds ...............c i 565,448

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost
of fleet management, energy conservation, mailing, communications,
printing, building maintenance, and risk management to individual funds.
The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in

governmental activities in the statement of Net POSItION . . ... ... oo oo e 83,564
Unavailable revenue is not due and payable in the current period and , therefore,
is notreported iNthe FUNDS . ... ..o e 95,944

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the
current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds
Net position of governmental activities

(5,112,730)
$  (367,999)

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances (Deficits)

Gowvernmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Capital
Grants Projects Nonmajor
General Fund  Revenue Fund Fund Funds Total
Revenues:
Taxes - 10cal...ooooe i $ 1,535,001 $ 13556 $ 1548557
State Shared reVENUE . . ... vv ettt e 146,085 19,997 166,082
Licenses and permits . ......ooovvii i 38,880 38,880
Fines and forfeitures ... 34,939 34,939
Interest, rentals and other investmentincome................... 46,140 $ 356 1,115 47,611
Federal grants ........cooviiri et $ 105,577 50,921 28,143 184,641
State grants . ... 98,528 84,101 16,336 198,965
OtNer graNtS ..ttt e 26 52,926 52,952
Charges for ServiCes . .......oovvvvrii i 48,971 48,971
Miscellaneous . .........ooiiiii 8,560 81,582 1,350 91,492
TOtal FEVENUES ..o\t 1,957,130 242,604 149,195 64,161 2,413,000
Bxpenditures:
Current:
General gOVEIMMENE . . ..ottt 267,831 30,341 20,949 319,121
Public safety and regulation ... 831,453 20,436 2,281 854,170
Conservation ofhealth ... 36,077 100,128 136,205
SOCIAI SEIVICES ..ottt 68,539 33,826 102,365
Education ... 289,410 11,926 2 301,378
Public library ... 26,784 11,777 72 38,633
Recreationandculture . ... 45,574 6,097 1,059 52,730
Highways and Streets ........oovvveri e 102,468 223 102,691
Sanitation and waste removal..............ocii i 78,238 2,891 864 81,993
PUBIIC SBIVICE . . .ot 44,863 5,157 50,020
Economic development ... 52,998 19,639 96,118 11,852 180,607
Debt service:
Principal . . ... 60,922 60,922
INEEIESE . e 44,425 44,425
Capitaloutlay . ... 145,388 145,388
Total expenditures .......oovvviii i 1,949,582 242,441 241,506 37,119 2,470,648
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures ......... 7,548 163 (92,311) 27,042 (57,558)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfersin . ... 116,563 21,023 45413 182,999
Transfers OUt. . ...oovv e (97,937) (2,029 (4,537) (13,719 (118,222
Proceeds to Bond Sinking Fund . ... (8,004) (8,004)
Premium on transportation revenue bonds ...................... 3,675 3,675
Premiumon general obligationbonds . ......................... 8,792 8,792
Face value of general obligationbonds ......................... 83,584 83,584
Face value of transportation revenues bonds ................... 37,822 37,822
Total other financing sources (US€S) . ............covvv... 18,626 18,994 166,745 (13,719) 190,646
Net changes in fund balance . ......................... ... 26,174 19,157 74,434 13,323 133,088
Fund balances —-beginning ... 811,145 2,449 13,512 21,663 848,769
Fund balances --ending...............cccoouiiiiiiiiiiiin..., $ 837319 § 21606 $ 87946 $ 34986 $ 981,857

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances (Deficits) of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net changes in fund balance -- total governmental funds ...........c..ccoveriiiviiniiiie e

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation

expense. This is the amount by which depreciation exceeded capital outlays in the current year ............

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not

reported as revenues i the fUNAS ........oc.veeiier i e

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial

resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds ............c.coeevieeiiini

The net effect of the expenses for recording the City's pension liability from employment retirement

plans are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds ............coceeiviviiiiiiiin i

The net income of certain activities of internal service funds is reported with governmental
ACTIVIEIES vt vvevtv e evte s ete e ettt ettt ee e er e et e e eas e e e e s e er b e eaare e

Changes in net position 0f gOVErNMENTAl ACHIVIEIES .. ... evvveeevivesien et ettt erteeetie e et ee e ereeeete e ee e

$ 133,088

11,539

(130,972)

(663,29)

(9,077)

3523

$(655,190)

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2019

(Expressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Stormwater  Parking Internal
Water Utility Wastewater Utility Facilities Nonmajor Service
Fund Utility Fund Fund Fund Funds Total Funds
Assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Current assets:
Cash and cashequivalents ......................... .. ... .. ... ... $ 55,643 $ 118,783 $ 38,701 $ 10,154 $ 15475 $ 238,756 $ 14,994
Accounts receivable, net:
Service billings .. ... ... 50,123 85,251 9,756 145,130
Other . .. 402 305 1,767 2,474 1,489
Due fromother governments .. ...... ...t 20,814 261,057 724 282,595
INVENTONIES . ... e 9,350 261 474 10,085 8,480
Restricted assets:
Cashand cashequivalents ............ ... .. ..., 40,694 62,241 1,675 104,610
Notes and mortgages receivable . ............................. 2,397 2,397
Total CUMTeNt @SSetS . .o vttt ettt et 177,026 527,898 51,330 14,318 15,475 786,047 24,963
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cashandcashequivalents .................................... 153,525 197,673 51,493 18,452 43,911 465,054 47,142
Due from other governments 44,844 93,139 137,983
Notes and mortgages receivable 31,678 31,678
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation ......................... 1,295,351 2,593,122 236,543 71,779 89,842 4,286,637 113,006
Capital assets not being depreciated . .............. ... ... .o, 470,838 646,425 32,397 15,290 44,267 1,209,217
Other assets 226 226
Total noncurrent assets . . . 1,964,558 3,530,359 320,433 137,199 178,246 6,130,795 160,148
Totalassets . ........... i 2,141,584 4,058,257 371,763 151,517 193,721 6,916,842 185,111
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred amortization on early extinguishment of debt 30,878 29,087 59,965
Deferred loss on bond refunding ........ 15,497 15,497
Deferred outflows related to pension.... . 9,000 8,155 1,419 476 19,050
Deferred outflows related to OPEB . . . . ... ..ottt 12,173 11,296 2,077 868 26,414
Interest rate swaps 8,638 8,638
Total deferred outflows of resources . e 52,051 48,538 3,496 24,135 1,344 129,564
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 2,193,635 4,106,795 375,259 175,652 195,065 7,046,406 185,111
Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liab 14,531 23,114 885 993 309 39,832 11,104
Accrued interest payable 18,817 20,855 315 4,844 44,831
Deposits subjecttorefund ...... ... ... 15 15
Due to other funds 28,121 28,121 287
Due to other governments . 4,691 4,691
Compensated absences . ............... 2,429 2,586 381 165 5,561 1,193
Other liabilities .. . ... ... e e 5,000 5,000
Accounts payable fromrestricted assets 52,918 103,066 2,209 10,062 168,255
Leases payable . ..... 100 100 16,585
Revenue bonds payable . . 21,876 41,385 1,361 4,475 69,097
General long-termdebt payable . ......... ... ... ... ... .. 380 380
Total current liabilities .. ................. ... ... .. ... 110,586 195,797 5,531 10,312 43,657 365,883 29,169
Noncurrent liabilities:
Leases payable . ... ... 543 543 76,040
Revenue bonds payable,net.............. ... ... .. . i 1,088,161 1,506,859 65,018 88,796 2,748,834
Derivative instrument liability . . ........ .. ... . 1,691 22,120 23,811
Compensated absences ........ B [P . 4,456 4,119 639 228 9,442 2,619
General long-term debt payable 4,275 4,275
Net pension liability ........... ... . ... . . . . 56,702 51,383 8,941 2,999 120,025
Net OPEB liability 23,438 22,501 3,629 1,812 51,380
Total noncurrent liab 1,174,448 1,585,405 82,502 110,916 5,039 2,958,310 78,659
Total liabilities 1,285,034 1,781,202 88,033 121,228 48,696 3,324,193 107,828
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related pension . . Ce 280 253 44 15 592
Deferred inflows related OPEB .. . .. 7,805 7,226 1,343 553 16,927
Total deferred inflows of resources 8,085 7,479 1,387 568 17,519
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources .......... 1,293,119 1,788,681 89,420 121,228 49,264 3,341,712 107,828
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets ... ... ... 853,559 2,169,097 156,715 32,341 134,109 3,345,821 112,930
Restricted for:
Debt Sernvice . ... ... 63,399 80,875 2,767 34,068 181,109
unrestricted (AefiCit) . . ... ...\ttt (16,442) 68,142 126,357 (11,985) 11,692 177,764 (35,647)
Total net po $ 900,516 $ 2,318,114 $ 285839 $ 54,424 $ 145,801 3,704,694 $ 77,283
Adjustments to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related
toenterprise funds ... .. (831)
Net position of business-type activities $ 3,703,863

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Bxpressed In Thousands)

Enterprise Funds

Water Utility Wastewater ~ Stormwater
Fund Utility Fund  Utility Fund

Parking
Facilities ~ Nonmajor
Fund Funds Total

Internal
Service
Funds

Operating revenues:

Charges forsales and SEIVICES.............oceiriroiieieeriiisiecie oo

Water, sewer and SLOIMWALET SEIVICE .........veovevevierieeceircreee e ee e
RENtS AN FEES ...ttt
ORETINCOME ...ttt ettt

Total OPEIALING TEVENUES ... ce.vereseeirt ettt

Operating expenses:
Salaries and wages ...
Other personnel costs
Contractual services ..
Materials and supplies ..
Minor equipment ......
Postage and delivery services .

DEPIECIALION ...ttt e

$ 177169 $ 258730 $§ 27134
611 353 210
7,352 8121 1,19

$ 463033
$ 76801 $ 34403 112,378
224 16,893

116,842

185,132 267,204 28,540

76,801 34,621 592,304

116,842

36,096 42,941 7,269
15,836 16,712 2818
39,647 83,206 6,924
6,959 13,766 399
838 850 4

36,222 64,556 5,016

PLOZIAMEXPEISES ...t cevr vttt ettt

Other .....ccvverrivens

Total OPEIAtING EXPEISES ... cvvvveerrrriee ettt

OPErating MCOME ......ueveverieeireee ettt sttt

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Gain 0n sale O MVESMENLS ......e.vveveiveetie et
ORET vttt e
[SSUANCE COSES .. ovvvivivreeeietier ettt ettt
TNEEIESE MCOMIE ... vttt
INEEIESE EXPEISE .. .ovv vttt

Total nonoperating eXpenses, NEE ...........evvvreeurreerirreesinreesinreeeirreesires

37

4538 90,850

2128 37,494

8117 2392 140,286
140 21,264

183 1915

2515 1407 109,716
399 399
37

21,763
8,754
50,109
4,170
6,894
2570
15,907

135,598 222,074 22470

10,632 11,187 401,961

110,767

49,534 45,130 6,070

66,169 23440 190,343

6,075

650
(1,800)
(226) (129)
5,147 5,967 9
(22486)  (15545) (1,065)

650
(5,650) % (7.424)
(355)

11,843

(7.756) (46,852)

1917

(16,915) (9,707) (2.136)

(13406) 2% (42,138)

1917

Income before capital contributions and transfers ..............covvvvveiriecnn 32,619 35,423 3934

Capital CONIbULIONS ..o

64,860 96,609

TEANSTEIS QUL .o vt et et

Changes in Net POSIION .......evevveurreerireiee i
Total net position - BEGINMING .....cvvevvveriereirreeeiee st

Total net POSItION = ENAING. ... ccvvvveeerireiet ittt

52,763 23,466 148,205
161,469
(59,128) (59,128)

7992
(4,000)
(5,650)

974719 132,032 3934
803,037 2,186,082 281,905

(6,365) 23,466 250,546
60,789 122,33 3454148

(1,658)
78,941

$ 900516 $ 2318114 $ 285839

§ 54424 § 145801 3,704,694

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service activities related to
NEEIPTISE FUNAS ...o.v et e

Net position of business-type activities

831
$ 3703863

71,283

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Proprietary Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Net change in fund balance -- total proprietary funds.. PP PP PP
The net expense of certain activities of internal service funds is reported with business-type

119\ 18 (TP RRPRUP

Change in net position Of BUSINESS-tYPE ACHIVIEIES .. vvveeivvvetinetrirserrieeettie e ettt et e erteeetie e e e ee e e erseeenene s

$

$

250,546

628
251,174

The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Enterprise Funds
Stormwater  Parking

Water Utility Wastewater  Utility Facilities ~ Nonmajor Internal
Fund Utility Fund ~ Fund Fund Funds Total  Service Funds
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from CUSIOMETS .. ..ot $ 191404 $ 249821 $ 26534 $ 76136 $ 34400 $ 57829 $ 113,804
Payments to employees . . e .. (54,431) (62,314) (8,277) (7,044)  (132,066) (30,096)
Payments to SUPPIIEIS ...ttt (48,492) (95,968) (7,378) (8,324) (2,721)  (162,883) (60,634)
Net cash provided by operating activities ...................cooiiiiiin. 88,481 91,539 10,879 67,812 24,635 283,346 23,074
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
THANSTEIS QUL . .ottt e e (59,128) (59,128)
Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities .................. (59,128) (59,128)
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Mortgages receivable principal payments . ..........oooiiiiiii e 4,319 4319
Proceeds fromrevenue bonds ....... ... ... 195,102 98,590 57,389 22,952 374,033
Proceeds fromgeneral obligation bonds ... 1,416 1,416
Proceeds fromwater quality 10ans . ....... ... 286,353 286,353
Principal paid on revenue bonds ....... ... (19,985) (21,895) (993) (41,211) (84,084)
Principal paid on State water quality 10ans ......... ...t (1,073) (18,910) (366) (20,349)
Principal paid on general long-termdebt. . .......... ..o (349) (349)
Payments on refunded debt........ ... (20,800) (20,800)
Interest reCeiVed . ... oo 5,147 5,967 729 705 12,548
INEEIESE PRI . . . ..ottt et (37,117) (499) (853) (5,956) (44,425)
Acquisition and construction of capital @ssets ... (214,230)  (263,858) (5,545) (937)  (34590) (519,160) (16,414)
Capital [ease PAYMENTS. . . .. ..ot (182) (182) 6,292
Capital contributions (distribution) received . 84,039 (104,448) (2,524) 26 (22,907) (9,650)
Dueto other funds ..........oooiiiii 25 25
ISSUBNCE COSES . . v .ttt ettt et ettt et et e e e e e (226) (129) (59) (414)
Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities........... (9,143) (19,011) 48,845 (20,128)  (34539)  (33,976) (19,772)
Cash flows frominvesting activities:
Gaill ON INVESTMENTS . .o\ ottt e ettt e e e et e e e e e e 650 650
Net cash provided by investing activities . e 650 650
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... 79,988 72,528 59,724 (11,444) (9,904) 190,892 3,302
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning ofyear..................cooiiii 169,873 306,169 32,145 40,050 69,290 617,527 58,834
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year....... ... $ 249861 $ 378697 $ 91869 $ 28606 $ 59,386 $ 808419 $ 62,136
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating iNCOMe (I0SS) . ... .. v ettt e s $ 49534 $ 45130 $ 6070 $ 66169 $ 23439 $ 190342 $ 6,075
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
DEPIECIAtioN EXPENSE . . . .. e vttt ettt ettt 36,222 64,556 5,016 2,515 1,407 109,716 15,907
Effect of changes in non cash operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivables .. ... 6,272 (17,384) (2,006) (665) (13,783) (191)
Inventories ............... e e (577) (3) (28) (608) (1,302)
Deferred outflows -pension ... 1547 1,453 (164) 146 2,982
Deferred outflows - OPEB . .......ooiiiii e (11,342) (10,501) (1,878) (782)  (24,503)
[0 (31T T £ (226) (226)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . ... 181 3,815 368 (207) 54 4,211 2,605
Compensated aDSENCES ...........oiutiiii i (215) 26 (27) (216) 173
Due (from) otherfunds ... (1,313) (1,313) (193)
Deferred inflows - pension ......... ... (202) (185) (13) (13) (413)
Deferred inflows - OPEB . ... ..ot 7,466 6,419 1,343 553 15,781
Pension liability - current period .. ..........vii i (1,013) (1,194) 2,070 (407) (544)
Opeb liability . . ... 6 6
Other liabilities . .. ... 608 720 128 418 1874
Other noncurrent liabilities ... 40 40
Total adjustments ... ......ooou i 38,947 46,409 4,809 1,643 1,196 93,004 16,999
Net cash provided by operating activities . .......... ..o $ 88481 $ 91539 $ 10879 $ 67,812 $ 24635 $ 283346 $ 23,074
Noncash activity from capital and related financing activities:
New capital [0ases . .. .......oouiii i $ 23,490
Acquisition and construction of capital assets financed by debt......................... $ (37838) $ (18439) $  (190) $ (56,467)
Increase in issuance of State water quality loans .................... i 202,000 1,416 203,416
Total noncash activity from capital and related financing activities ........... $ (37838 $ 183561 $ 1,226 $ 146949 $ 23,490

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2019
(Expressed In Thousands)

Pension/OPEB
Trust Agency
Funds Funds

Assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS . . ... ..ot e e e $ 136313 $ 210
Investments:

SHOCKS . . et 2,983,133

BONOS .t 906,925 56

REAl EStale . . ..ttt 549,162

Private equity and hedge fund .. ... oo 618,178
Securities lending collateral .. ... ..o 82,060
Accounts receivable, net:

1T 7,977 230
Forward foreign CONTIaCTS . ... vttt e e e e 9,745
(01 T=T - Y1 £ 67,516

10 LIS TY < £ 5,361,009 496
Liabilities:
Obligations under securities [ending Program . .. ... 82,060
Forward foreign CONTIaCTS . ... vttt e e e e 9,777
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ... 88,699 230
L 11T 266
Total abilities . . ..o 180,536 496

Net position:
Net position restricted for Pension and OPEB . ............ciiiiiii i $ 5,180,473

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed In Thousands)

Pension/OPEB
Funds
Total
Additions:
Contributions:
0010107 $ 355771
B0y 0 . e 104,582
Total CONtIULIONS . ... 460,353
Investment income:
Net appreciation in fair value of inVestments . ... 166,430
Securities Iending INCOME . .. ...t e 941
Interest and dividend INCOME . ... ... o it 137,203
TOtal INVESTMENT INCOME ..ttt e e e e e 304,574
LSS MV BN BN . . vttt ettt ettt et et et e e e 29,510
NEt INVESTMENT INCOME . . .ottt et e e e e e e 275,064
Total additioNS . . ..o v 735,417
Deductions:
Rt MmNt DENE IS . ..ot 388,191
HEalth DENE IS . . oot 154,376
DEath DENETIES . . .o et 1,275
ANV E BXBNSES « .ttt ettt et e et e e e e 8,896
L1 2 22,564
Tl dBAUCTIONS & . ettt e e 575,302
Changes INNEt POSItION ... . i e 160,115
Net position restricted for Pensions and OPEB - beginning oftheyear......... ..., 5,020,358
Net position restricted for Pensions and OPEB -end of year ..........cooviiiiiiii e $ 5,180,473

The notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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1.

CITY OF BALTIMORE

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Baltimore (City) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland in 1797 and operates under an
elected Mayor-Council form of government. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
for governmental entities (GAAP), the accompanying financial statements present the City and its component units,
entities, for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally separate
entities, are, in substance, part of the City’s operations. Each discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate
column in the government-wide financial statements (see note below for description) to emphasize that it is legally separate
from the City.

Blended Component Unit

The Baltimore Industrial Development Authority (IDA), an entity legally separate from the City, finances capital
construction projects, which solely benefit the City. The IDA is administered by a Board appointed by the Mayor and is
financially accountable to the City. This component unit is so intertwined with the City that it is, in substance, the same as
the City and, therefore, is blended and reported as if it is part of the City. The IDA is reported as an enterprise fund.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is responsible for elementary and secondary education within the
City’s jurisdiction. The BCPSS receives significant funding from the City and is a financial burden to the City. The City
is also required to pay certain benefits to its employees. However, the BCPSS is legally separate from the City since it has
the authority and responsibility for all its system functions and the Governor of the State of Maryland appoints a majority
of its nine member board. The City, however, approves the BCPSS annual budget. The City adjusted the financial results
of the BCPSS to record the net pension liability attributable to BCPSS employees that participate in the Employees’
Retirement System of the City of Baltimore (ERS) and the net other post employment liability (OPEB) which are detailed
in Note 20. Complete financial statements for BCPSS may be obtained from the Chief Financial Officer, Baltimore City
Public School System, 200 East North Avenue, Baltimore, Maryland 21202.

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) was incorporated on October 14, 2005 as a nonprofit non-stock corporation, and
is wholly owned by the City. BHC is financially accountable to the City. The BHC assists the Mayor and City Council of
Baltimore on enhancing the economic development in the City by operating a downtown convention center headquarters
hotel and parking structure. The City has pledged certain site-specific occupancy tax revenue to pay shortfalls in hotel
operating revenues and is responsible for operating deficits.

Complete financial statements for BHC for the year ended December 31, 2018 may be obtained from the Director of
Finance, Baltimore City, 469 City Hall, 100 N. Holliday St., Baltimore, Maryland 21202.

Related Organizations

There are other governmental entities that provide services within the City of Baltimore. While the City is responsible for
appointing the board members of these entities, the City’s accountability for these organizations does not extend beyond
making appointments. The City’s basic financial statements do not reflect the operations of the:

Baltimore City Foundation Live Baltimore Home Center

Lexington Market Healthcare Access Maryland

Visit Baltimore, Inc. Royal Farms Arena — SMG

Baltimore Community Lending Family League of Baltimore City, Inc.

City of Baltimore Development Corporation Hippodrome Foundation

Special Benefits Taxing Districts Community Media of Baltimore City, Incorporated
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

In addition, the Housing Authority of Baltimore City (HABC) is considered a related organization. The HABC is a separate
legal entity and is governed by a Commission of five citizens with staggered terms appointed by the Mayor. The
Commission establishes the operating policies of the HABC, which was implemented under the direction of an Executive
Director appointed by the Commission. The HABC develops, maintains, and manages low-rent housing and administers
housing assistance payment programs primarily for the citizenry’s benefit and not that of the primary government. These
activities are subsidized by the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and other grantors. Consequently,
the primary government is not able to exert influence over or to impose a burden relationship upon the HABC. This
organization is not financially accountable to the City and maintains its own separate accounting systems.

B. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Statements. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities display information about the
primary government (the City) and its component units. These statements include the financial activities of the overall
government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of internal
activities. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the City. Governmental
activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-
type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for the different
business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those
that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function.
Indirect expense allocations that have been made in the funds have been eliminated for the statement of activities. Program
revenues include (a) fees, fines, and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b)
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operations or capital requirements of a particular program.
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.

Net position (the amount by which assets and deferred outflows exceed liabilities and deferred inflows) are reported on the
Statement of Net Position in three components:

« Net investment in capital assets - the total amount of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced
by outstanding balances of bonds and other debt that are related to the acquisition or construction of those assets;

* Restricted - for amounts when constraints placed on the net position are either externally imposed, or are imposed
by constitutional provisions or enabling legislation; and

»  Unrestricted - the total net position which does not fit the two preceding categories.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, generally it is the City’s policy to use restricted assets
first with unrestricted resources utilized as needed.

Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds, including its
fiduciary funds and blended component units. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and
enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated
and reported as nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions associated with the
principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal
values. Non-operating revenues, such as subsidies and investment earnings, result from nonexchange transactions or
ancillary activities. Operating expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating
expenses.
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The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund. This is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government,
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Grants Revenue Fund. This fund accounts for revenues derived from governmental grants and other revenue sources that
are restricted by law or administrative action to expenditures for specific purposes.

Capital Projects Fund. The proceeds of general obligation bond issues, State construction loans, governmental and other
grants, and revenues from other sources appropriated for capital improvements, acquisitions and related programs are
accounted for in this fund, except for those accounted for in the proprietary fund types. Although not required to disclose
this fund as a major fund per GASB34, management has opted to disclose the Capital Projects Funds as a major fund due
to its importance in the financial statements.

The City also reports nonmajor governmental funds which are classified as Special Revenue Funds and Permanent Funds.
The City reports the following major enterprise funds:
Water Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s water supply system.

Wastewater Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s sewerage
system.

Stormwater Utility Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City’s Stormwater
system and infrastructure. This fund is a non-major for fiscal year 2019, however the City elected to show as a major.

Parking Facilities Fund. This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance, and development of the City-owned offstreet
parking facilities.

Although not required to report the Stormwater Utility Fund and the Parking Facilities Fund as major enterprise funds per
GASB 34, management has opted to disclose these funds separately.

The City reports the following other fund types:

Internal Service Funds. These funds account for mobile equipment, reproduction and printing, municipal post office,
municipal telephone exchange, municipal communications, energy conservation, building maintenance and hardware and
software replacement, which provided goods and services to other departments on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds. These funds account for assets and activities when a government unit is functioning either as a trustee or
an agent of another party, transactions related to assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals,
private organizations and other governments. The fiduciary funds include the following:

Pension Trust Funds. These funds account for the receipt, investment and distribution of retirement contributions
made for the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officials and other City employees.

Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fund. This fund accounts for the receipt, investment and distribution of retiree
health and life insurance benefits.

Agency Funds account for assets held by the City as custodians. Agency funds include:

 Unpresented Stock and Coupon Bonds account for principal payments held by the City for matured bonds not
yet presented for payment.

* Property Sold for Taxes accounts for the proceeds of tax sales in excess of the City liens that remain unclaimed
by the taxpayer.
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 Bid Deposit Refunds account for bid deposits held by the City to secure vendors’ bids not yet awarded.

+ Recreation Accessory accounts for assets held by the City for the benefit of recreation centers throughout the
City.

« Waterloo Summit accounts for assets held by the City as a surety deposit from a developer.
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting

Government-wide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide, proprietary, and
fiduciary fund financial statements with the exception of agency funds, which have no measurement focus, are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows
take place. On the accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which taxes are levied.
Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have
been satisfied.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when
measurable and available. The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the revenues
are collected within 60 days after year-end, except for grant and entitlement revenues which have a 90 day availability
period. Property taxes and interest are considered to be susceptible to accrual. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and judgments, and
compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have matured. General capital asset
acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under
capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

Under the terms of the grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a combination of specific
cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred,
there are both restricted and unrestricted net assets available to finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply
cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by general fund
revenues.

C. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND EQUITY
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits, as well as short-term investments with a maturity date within three
months of the date acquired by the City.

Deposits and Investments

The cash balances of substantially all funds are pooled and invested by the City for the purpose of increasing earnings
through investment activities. The pool’s investments are reported at fair value at June 30, 2019, based on market prices.
The individual funds’ portions of the pool’s fair value are presented as “Cash and Cash Equivalents.” Earnings on the
pooled funds are apportioned and paid or credited to the funds quarterly based on the average daily balance of each
participating fund. The City does not invest any portion of its cash in derivative investments.

Receivables and Payables
All property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.
Mortgage receivables reported in governmental fund and government-wide financial statements, and notes receivable

reported in proprietary fund statements consist of loans that are generally not expected or scheduled to be collected in the
subsequent year.
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Unbilled water and wastewater user charges are estimated and accrued at year-end.
Inventories

Inventories are valued at cost using the moving average method. The costs of governmental fund-type inventories are
recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.

Capital Assets

Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital assets, donated
works of art, and similar items are recorded at acquisition value. Infrastructure assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001 are
reported at estimated historical cost using deflated replacement cost. Infrastructure assets, such as streets, highways,
bridges, sidewalks, street lighting, traffic poles and signals, and storm sewers are required to be capitalized under GAAP.
Capitalization thresholds are: $50,000 for buildings, improvements and infrastructure; and $5,000 for equipment. Library
books are capitalized as a collection based on total purchases. Donated capital assets, such as works of art, and capital
assets received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value rather than fair value. The cost of
normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Estimated

Useful

Asset Class Lives
INTrasStrUCTUTC ...ttt ettt e et e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e et e e e e e e et e e e et e e e e e e e e 25-80
Building iMPIOVEIMEIITS .. ...ttt e et e e et e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e an 20-50
L R B0 35 0 1S 0 SRR 2-25
513 = oV X X ) <SP 10
LY oY o3 1 S e U B e N a0 SR 5-10

Compensated Absences

The liability for compensated absences reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements consists of
unpaid, accumulated annual sick, vacation, and personal leave balances. The liability has been calculated using the vesting
method, in which leave amounts for both employees who are currently eligible to receive termination payments and other
employees who are expected to become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination are included.
Payments made to terminated employees for accumulated leave are charged as expenditures/expenses, primarily in the
General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Proprietary Funds, when paid.

Estimated Liability for Claims in Process

The liability for claims in process represents estimates for all personal injury, workers’ compensation, unemployment,
property damage, and medical claims as of June 30, 2019. This liability, which includes estimates for known and incurred
but not reported claims, is based upon an actuarial valuation of the City’s claim payment history discounted at a rate of
3.0%, for all claims except medical, for which claims are not discounted.

Property Tax and Property Tax Calendar

The City levies an annual tax for the fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30, on real and personal property located
in the City, due and payable each July 1 (lien date), based on assessed values as of the previous January 1. These assessed
values are established by the State of Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation at various rates of estimated
market value. A discount of 1/2% is allowed for payments made in July. Unpaid property taxes are considered in arrears
on October 1, and penalty and interest of 2% is assessed each month. Real property subject to tax liens is sold at public
auction in May in instances where the taxes have remained delinquent since the preceding October 1.

The City is responsible for the assessment, collection, and apportionment of property taxes. The City levies an annual tax
for the fiscal year ending June 30, due and payable each July 1, based on assessed values as of the previous January 1.
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State law requires that all real property be reassessed every three years, and further provides that the amount of any increase
over previous established market values be phased in over a three-year period. To accomplish the triennial assessment
requirement, approximately one-third of all real property is reviewed annually. The City Council, effective with the fiscal
year beginning July 1, 1991, enacted a 104% homestead tax credit program which will protect home owners from increases
in assessments that are greater than 4% in any one year. The assessed value of real property in Baltimore City for fiscal
year 2019 was $34,346,000,000 which was approximately 86.6% of the estimated market value.

The tax rate in Baltimore City for real property taxes for fiscal year 2019 was $2.248 per $100 of assessed value. Pursuant
to State Law, the personal property tax and tax rate applied to operating property of public utilities is 2.5 times the real
property rate or $5.62 per $100 of assessed value. Current collections were 96.6% of the total tax levy.

As of June 30, 2019, the City had property taxes receivable of $15,475,000, net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts
of $33,959,000.

Gains and Losses on Early Extinguishment of Debt from Refundings

Gains and losses on the early extinguishment of debt from refundings are amortized over the shorter of the life of the new
or old debt.

Sick, Vacation and Personal Leave

Employees earn one day of sick leave for each completed month of service, and there is no limitation on the number of
sick days that employees can accumulate. A portion of unused sick leave earned annually during each twelve-month base
period may be converted to cash at a maximum of three days, computed on an attendance formula. Upon retirement with
pension benefits, or termination of employment after completion of twenty or more years of service without pension
benefits, employees receive one day’s pay for every four sick days accumulated and unused at the date of separation; under
any other conditions of separation, unused sick leave is forfeited.

Employees earn vacation leave for each completed month of service and can accumulate a maximum of 45 days. Police
officers earn vacation leave for each completed month of service and can accumulate a maximum of 125 days. Vacation
leave balances can either be taken through time off or carried until paid at termination or retirement. Four personal leave
days are granted for usage only on the fiscal year starting July 1%, and expire on June 30" of the same fiscal year.

The City accrues for all salary-related items in the government-wide and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements for which they are liable to make a payment directly and incrementally associated with payments made for
compensated absences on termination or retirement. The City includes its share of social security and Medicare payments
made on behalf of the employees in the accrual for sick, vacation and personal leave pay.

The Baltimore City Public School System’s employees are granted sick, vacation and personal leave in varying amounts
based on length of service and bargaining unit. A limited number of sick, vacation and personal leave days may be carried
forward from year to year and upon retirement with pension benefits or separation of employment with twenty years of
service, employees are paid accumulated sick, vacation and personal leave days at appropriate formula and rates. The
unpaid vested sick, vacation and personal leave days have been reported as vested compensated absences.

Restricted Assets

The proceeds of the Water Utility Fund, Wastewater Utility Fund, Stormwater Utility Fund, Parking Facilities Fund, and
Nonmajor Funds revenue bonds and Federal and State grants, and restricted accounts receivable are restricted for the
purpose of the construction of water, sewer, stormwater, and parking facilities.
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Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until the future period. At June 30, 2019, the City recognized
unamortized losses on early extinguishments of debt, refunding, pension and OPEB activity, and interest rate swaps as
deferred outflows of resources in the government-wide statement of net position and the proprietary funds statement of net
position.

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. At June 30, 2019, the City recognized deferred inflows of
resources in the governmental funds for property taxes, income taxes, other prepaid taxes and notes receivables.
Additionally, the City recognized deferred inflows of resources in the government-wide statement of net position for
pension and OPEB.

Fund Balance

The City classifies its fund balance into the following categories:

* Nonspendable fund balance includes items that cannot be spent. This includes activity that is not in spendable
form such as inventories, prepaid amounts, long-term portions of loans and notes receivable and activities that are
legally or contractually required to remain intact such as principal balance in a permanent fund.

» Restricted fund balance has constraints placed upon the use of the resources either by external creditors, grantors,
contributors or imposed by law through a constitutional provision or enabling legislation.

«  Committed fund balance can be used only for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by the formal
vote of Board of Estimates, the City’s highest level decision making authority. Amounts in this category may be
redeployed for other purposes with the formal vote of the City’s Board of Estimates. Committed amounts cannot
be used for any other purpose unless the City removes or changes the specific use by taking the same type of
action it used to previously commit the amounts.

» Assigned fund balance includes amounts that are constrained by the City to be used for specific purposes but are
neither restricted nor committed for which the City has a stated intended use as established by the Board of
Estimates. The Board of Estimates has delegated the authority to assign amounts for a specific purpose to the
City’s Director of Finance. These are resources where the constraints/restrictions are less binding than that for
committed funds. For governmental funds, other than the general fund, this is the residual amount within the fund
that is not restricted or committed.

«  Unassigned fund balance is the residual amount of the general fund not included in the four categories described
above. The general fund is the only positive unassigned fund balance amount. In other governmental funds, if
expenditures incurred for the specific purpose exceed the amounts restricted, committed or assigned to those
purposes, negative unassigned fund balance may be reported.

The Board of Estimates is required to take formal action before funds can be committed for a specific purpose. Formal
action of the Board of Estimates is also required before committed funds can be rescinded or modified. The City’s general
spending prioritization policy is to consider restricted resources to have been used first, followed by committed, assigned,
and unassigned amounts when expenditures have been incurred for which resources in more than one classification could
be used.

Nonspendable fund balance

Long Term Assets - This portion of fund balance represents those long-term assets that are not available for appropriation
and expenditure.

Inventory - This portion of fund balance represents amounts not available for appropriation or expenditure because the
underlying asset (inventory) is not an available resource for appropriation or expenditure.
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Permanent Fund — This portion of fund balance represents amounts for which the City is legally or contractually required
to maintain intact.

Restricted fund balance

Landfill closure and development — This portion of fund balance has been set aside to fund the cost of future landfill
development and closure cost as required by federal regulation.

Debt Service — This portion of the fund balance represents the amounts needed to service future debt payments.

Assigned fund balance

Encumbrances — This portion of fund balance represents approved contracts for which the City has completed the
procurement process and the Board of Estimates has approved the contract.

Requisitions — This portion of fund balance is set aside by the Director of Finance to fund various non-lapsing transactions
which have not completed the procurement process at year end.

Subsequent years’ expenditures - This portion of fund balance represents the amount to finance certain non-recurring policy
initiatives and other expenditures included in the fiscal year 2019 budget.

Unassigned fund balance

Budget stabilization reserve - The City of Baltimore’s budget stabilization reserve (reserve) was established by resolution
of the Board of Estimates for the purpose of providing a budget defense to stabilize a post-adopted City budget that has
been impacted by an uncorrectable shortfall in budgeted revenues and/or unanticipated and uncorrectable emergency
expenses, for the sole purpose of avoiding a budget deficit. The Board of Estimates in determining to use the reserve would
first need to acknowledge that all reasonable efforts had been made in controlling expenses, and secondly, the City’s
unreserved fund balance had been exhausted. The reserve under no circumstances can be used as a revenue source to
balance a planning year budget. The Board of Estimates determines the amount of annual funding for the reserve. The
resolution requires that reserves be maintained on any June 30th at a minimum level of 8% of the value of the general
fund’s operating budget of the subsequent year. Whenever funds are drawn from the reserve, a Board of Estimates approved
reserve replenishment plan must be established and must specify a timetable for full restoration of the reserve not to exceed
five years.

Interfund Transactions
The City has three types of transactions among funds:

Statutory transfers - Legally required transfers that are reported when incurred as “Transfers in” by the recipient fund and
as “Transfers out” by the disbursing fund.

Transfers of Expenditures (Reimbursements) - Reimbursement of expenditures made by one fund for another that are
recorded as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures in the reimbursed fund.

Interfund payments - Charges or collections for services rendered by one fund to another that are recorded as revenues of
the recipient fund and as expenditures or expenses of the disbursing fund.

Uses of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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D. NEw GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD PRONOUNCEMENTS

In fiscal year 2019, the City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 83, “Certain Asset
Retirement Obligations” and Statement No. 88, “Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and
Direct Placements”. The implementation of these standards did not have a significant impact on the City’s presentation.

The City will be required to adopt the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements:
GASB Statement No. 84

In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, “Fiduciary Activities”. The objective of this Statement is to enhance
the consistency and comparability of fiduciary activity reporting by state and local governments. This Statement also is
intended to improve the usefulness of fiduciary activity information primarily for assessing the accountability of
governments in their roles as fiduciaries. The City is required to adopt GASB No. 84 for its fiscal year 2020 financial
statements.

GASB Statement No. 87

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, “Leases”. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the
information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments.
This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease
assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources
or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting
based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement,
a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to
recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of
information about governments’ leasing activities. The City is required to adopt GASB No. 87 for its fiscal year 2021
financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 89

In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, “Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction
Period”. The objective of this Statement is to enhance the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets
and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and to simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a
construction period. This Statement supersedes all interest cost that previously was accounted for in accordance with
Statement No. 62. This Statement requires that interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized
as an expense in the period in which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus. As a result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the
historical cost of a capital asset reported in a business-type activity or enterprise fund. The City is required to adopt GASB
No. 89 for its fiscal year 2021 financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 90

In August 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 90, “Majority Equity Interests—an amendment of GASB Statements No.
14 and No. 61”. The objective of this Statement is to improve the consistency and comparability of reporting a
government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to improve the relevance of financial statement
information for certain component units. This Statement modifies previous guidance for reporting a government’s majority
equity interest in a legally separate organization. The City is required to adopt GASB No. 90 for its fiscal year 2020
financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 91
In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91, “Conduit Debt Obligations”. The objective of this Statement is to

provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with
(1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note
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disclosures. This Statement achieves those objectives by clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation;
establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial
reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated with
conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures. The City is required to adopt GASB No. 91 for its fiscal
year 2022 financial statements

2. Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

A summary reconciliation of the difference between total fund balances as reflected on the governmental funds balance
sheet and the net position for governmental activities as shown on the government-wide statement of net position is
presented on the face of the governmental funds balance sheets. The asset and liability elements which comprise the
reconciliation difference stem from governmental funds using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting, while the government-wide financial statements use the economic resources
measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between net changes in fund balance as reflected on the governmental funds
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances and changes in net position for governmental activities
as shown on the government-wide statement of activities is presented in an accompanying schedule to the governmental
funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. The revenues and expense elements which
comprise the reconciliation difference stem from governmental funds using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, while the government-wide financial statements use the economic
resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between total net position as reflected on the proprietary funds statement of
net position and the net position for business-type activities as shown on the government-wide statement of net position is
presented on the face of the proprietary funds statement of net position. The asset element which comprises the
reconciliation difference stems from the allocation of internal service fund balance to the business-type activities on the
government-wide statement of net position.

A summary reconciliation of the difference between net changes in net position as reflected on the proprietary funds
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and changes in net position for business activities as shown
on the government-wide statement of activities is presented on the face of the proprietary funds statement of net position.
The expense element, which comprises the reconciliation difference, stems from the allocation of internal service funds
deficit to the business-type activities on the government-wide statement of activities.
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Explanation of differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the government-wide statement of net position
(amount expressed in thousands):
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources, and therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Capital assets . .. $ 6,035282
Less accumulated deprecmtlon . 13,017,364

Total .. .9 3,017,918
Other long-termassets are not avarlable to pay for current perrod expendrtures and therefore are not reported in the funds

Net pension asset . $ 10,936
Other asset . 20,329
Deferred loss on bond refundmgs 5,820
Deferred outflow of resources (pensmn). T e 312,775
Deferred outflow of resources (OPEB)...........ccoeoviiiniiiieiieiieiie e 214,331
Interest rate swaps . 1,257

Total .. v _$ 565448
Internal Service funds are used by management to charge the cost of fleet rnanagement malllng communications, prlntlng energy conservation and buﬂdlng
maintenance to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental

activities in the statement of net position ........... R . e JT U T TS U VPOV UVPPPPPURSVPTPPPURRIE. | 83,564
Deferred revenue is not due and payable in the current perrod and therefore, is not reported in the funds . $ 95,944
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore are not reported in the funds

ALCCOUNES PAYADIE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et et et e et ee s e et et e et et e ea et e ea et et ettt et et ettt D (4,710)

Accrued interest payable ... (10,840)
Long-termbonds .............. (809,457)
Revenue bonds . (431,404)
Capital leases . (57,984)
Compensated absences and other (152,563)
Estimated claims in progress ...........ccoceuveenne. (273,873)
Landfill closure liability (25,423)
Derivative instrument liability .... . (1,257)
Net pension Hability ..........ccoovvureiiiviineineiie e (1,674,645)
Net OPEB liability .. (1,209,178)
Other liabilities . (250,000)
Deferred inflow ofresources (penswn) T (40,982)
Deferred inflow of resources (service concession arrangement) (54,836)
Defexredmﬂowofresources(OPEB)H.........M........M.......M........M.......“ (115,578)
TOTAL ..ottt et e et e ettt e ee e ettt eere e ee e e ernieeereneeneenieeceeeeeneeeee B (5,112,730)
Explanation of differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances
and the government-wide statement of activities (amount expressed in thousands):
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities the cost of
those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense:
Capital outlay .... $ 155,587
Depreciation .. (144,048)
Total ... [P RTPN $ 11,539
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not prowde current f|nanC|aI resources are not reported as revenues in the funds
Grants reimbursements not received for several months after the fiscal year end are not considered as available revenues in the
governmental funds . e $ 53,173
Note receipts are not consrdered as avarlable revenues in the govemmental funds (1,100)
Service concession agreement ... (54,836)
Debt issue . (133,873)
Taxrevenues not recelved for several months aﬁer the ﬁscal year end are not consrdered as avatlable revenues in the govemmental ﬁ.mds 5,664
Total .. $  (130,972)
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current frnancral resources and therefore are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds:
Debt service principal .. . $ 68,926
Debt service interest (capltal leases GO bonds and accrued mterest) 6,042
Other liability.. (174,200)
Claims liability ... 219
Landfill closure liability ... 549
Compensated absences .. 423
Changes in net OPEB liability.. (565,250)
Total .o, $  (663,291)

The net effect of the expenses for recording the City's pension liability fromemployee retirement plans are not reported as
expenditures in the governmental funds .. $ 9,077)
The net income of certain activities of internal service funds is reported wrth governmental activities:
Internal service funds net expenses attributed to GOVErnMENtal ACTIVIEIES . ..e.uvutu i tie ittt et s ettt et et e te e ettt st et e eeeteeiee st ee s eae e eieeanneens $ 3,523
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3. Deposits and Investments

A. SUMMARY OF DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT BALANCES

The following is a reconciliation of the City’s deposit and investment balances at June 30, 2019 (expressed in

thousands):

Government-wide Fiduciary Funds

Statements of Net  Statement of Net

Position Position Total Total

Cash and cash equivalent ............c.ccoeeeevieieeiiiiie e 596,283 $ 136523 $ 732,806
INVESTIMENES ..o et ettt et et ee e er e s 561,741 5,057,454 5,619,195
Restricted cash and cash equivalent ............c.coeeviveriiiiiinieiieeiieei e 616,806 616,806
TORAL .ottt D 1774830 $ 5193977 $ 6,968,807

B. CAsSH DEPOSITS

As of June 30, 2019, the carrying amount of the City’s bank deposits was $7,859,000 and the respective bank balances
totaled $8,369,000. All of the City’s cash deposits are either insured through the Federal Depository Insurance
Corporation, or collateralized by securities held in the name of the City, by the City’s agent.

As of June 30, 2019, BCPSS and BHC had demand deposits with carrying values of $24,300,000 and $3,015,000,
respectively.

C. INVESTMENTS
Primary Government

For other than pension funds, BCPSS and BHC, the City is authorized by State Law to invest in direct or indirect
obligations of the United States Government, repurchase agreements that are secured by direct or indirect obligations
of the United States Government, certificate of deposit, commercial paper with highest letter and numerical rating,
mutual funds registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Maryland Local Government Investment
Pool. The City’s investment policy limits the percentage of certain types of securities with the exception of obligations
for which the United States Government has pledged its full faith and credit. For investments held by the City in trust
and/or to secure certain debt obligations, the City complies with the terms of the trust agreements. The City’s Board of
Finance has formally adopted the above policies and reviews and approves all securities transactions.

Investments are reported at fair value, except that investments with maturities of less than one year from purchase date
are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded on national or international exchanges are valued
at the last reported sales price at the current exchange rates. Real estate holdings are valued based on current appraisals.
Leveling disclosures for the investments are included in a table on the following page.
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This primary government’s investments at June 30, 2019, are presented below. All investments are presented by investment
type, and debt securities are presented by maturity (expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months)

Greater

Investment Type Fair VValue Less Than 6 6 to 12 Than 12
Debt Securities:
U.S. TrEASUTLY ittt ittt et et et e ettt aiaaeeeeaeeaeee B 25,945 $ 19,802 $ 6,143
U.S. A geNCICS ...ttt et 452,741 337,115 115,626
Repurchase agreements .. ... ...ttt it aae e e e 230,000 230,000
Money market mutual funds ... . L il 1,045,288 1,045,288
Commercial PapPer .. ... e 1,853 1,853

1,755,827 _$ 1,634,058 $ 121,769
Other investments:
Equity mutual funds ... .. L. 8,249

1,764,076
Less:cash equivalents .. ... .. ..ttt et et aaaaaan 1,202,335
Total INVEStMENTS .. ... ... i e e e e e e et $ 561,741

Investments and Valuation - The City categorizes its investments using the fair value measurements identified in the fair
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs
used to measure the fair value of the asset and gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level | measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Investment Levels

Investment Type Fair VValue Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Debt Securities:
LG IR TG I P2 TR B D R - 25,945 $ 25,945
L O SN = = o L 1= 452,741 452,741
Repurchase agreements ............o.iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaannn 230,000 230,000
Equity mutual funds .. ... 8,249 8,249
Money market mutual funds ... iiiiiiiiiiiia 1,045,288 1,045,288
1,853 1,853

Commercial paper ... . i

1,764,076 _$ 1,764,076

Less:cash equivalents ... .. i 1,202,335
Total INVESTIMENTS ..ottt i e i e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 561,741

Level | - Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

Level 2 - Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities
in less active markets, such as dealer or broker markets; and

Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers
are unobservable, such as pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques not based on market,
exchange, dealer or broker-traded transactions.

Interest rate risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the
fair value of investment.

The City limits its interest rate risk in accordance with the City’s Board of Finance policy by maintaining a minimum of
20 percent of the City’s investments in funds in liquid investments to include United States Government securities,
overnight repurchase agreements, and the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool, and by limiting the par value of
the portfolio invested for a period greater than one year at or below $100 million.

The Maryland Local Government Investment Pool is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
as an investment company but maintains a policy to operate in a manner consistent with SEC Rule 2a7 of the Investment

Company Act of 1940.
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Credit risk of debt securities—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligation.

The City Board of Finance limits City investments to only the highest rated investments in the categories discussed above.
The City’s rated debt investments as of June 30, 2019 were rated by a nationally recognized statistical rating agency and
are presented below using the Moody’s rating scale (expressed in thousands):

Quality Ratings

Investment Type Fair Value Aaa-AA+ Al-P1
Debt Securities:

L TR § T U $ 452,741 $ 452,741

Money market mutual funds ..o 1,045,288 1,045,288

COMMETCIAl PAPET ...oeiviet et 1,853 $ 1,853
TOtal INVESTMENTS ... e ettt e e e e e, $ 1,499,882 $ 1,498,029 $ 1,853

Concentration of credit risk—Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s
investment in a single issuer. The City has not adopted a formal policy on the concentration of credit risk.

The City had the following debt security investments at June 30, 2019, that were more than five percent of total investments
(expressed in thousands):

Percentage of
Investment Fair Value Portfolio

Cantor Repurchase Agreement ............c.coveiiieeiieeioriieiieieeeeneeneeeenneen.. 3 230,000 13.04%

Retirement Systems

The City’s three Retirement Systems (Systems or System) are authorized by the Baltimore City Code to make investments
in accordance with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the Code. The Board of Trustees of each system accomplishes
the daily management of the investments through an external investment advisor, who acts as a fiduciary for each system,
and through external investment managers. The Board of Trustees for each system invests the assets of the system using
the “prudent person standard”, which allows the Board to consider the probable safety of investments, avoid speculative
investments, and invest as people of prudence, discretion, and intelligence would in a similar situation. The Boards of
Trustees have adopted an investment policy and guidelines for each system to formally document their investment
objectives and responsibilities. Leveling tables as required by GASB 72 are available in the separately issued statements
for the Systems.
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The invested assets of the retirement systems at June 30, 2019 are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Carrying Value

Elected Fire and Police

Employees' Officials' Employees'
Retirement  Retirement Retirement

Investment Type System System System Total
Debt Securities:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ............c...oooovevvveeeeeiiinnncs. $ 7,894 $ 57,710 $ 65,604
U.S. government agency bonds .........cccoceevcerierresresreereeneennn. 42,121 42,127
Corporate bONAS ......eeevvevviiiriie e 80,362 $ 6,022 117,372 203,756
Commingled fixed income fund ...........ocooceverviiiviiiiiiiiieennn 251,127 166,450 417577
U.S. Quasiand Foreign Government ..............cc.eeeeveveenrrnrenn.nn 60,549 60,549
Mutual funds .....oooeeeeeieeiiiee 54,600 287 72,622 127,509

Total debt SECUITHIES ..vvveveeeeeeieeieeieeieeierecreerer 454,532 6,309 456,281 917,122
Other:
DOMESLIC EQUILIES ... evvveve e ere v ee e eeeereerveens 498,586 10,377 339,295 848,258
[nternational €QUILIES .......vveeveeerrivrie e i e et e v 375,204 5,647 484,446 865,297
Defensive eqUItIES ........c.eovvivieiieeeee i 77,739 1,127 78,866
Dynamic US equity fund............ccccoenininiiiiiiiceeennn 108,475 108,475
Hedge fUnds ........ovevvivvierivirivii e 45582 302,753 348,335
Commingled equity fund ...........ccovvviviieireeeriiiie e 344,509 344,509
Private equity funds ............c.ecviviiumrmmiiiirniie e 109,150 241,108 350,258
Energy master limited partnerships ..............ccoevvveiivievinnn, 139,104 139,104
Private energy funds ............ccoovveeviiiiiiiiie e 74317 74,317
REALESTALE ..o 218,183 2,674 254,730 475,587

TOtaAl OthEr ..vovivvivcve et 1,324,444 19,825 2,288,737 3,633,006

Total INVESEMENLS .. .vvvvivsivvieveieieii e 1,778,976 26,134 2,745,018 4,550,128
Less: Cash and cash equivalents ............cccoveeviiviiiinnnennnenn, 54,600 287 72,622 127,509
Total NEt VESTMENE ..o e eeeeeeee e e e e e e eeeeee o $ 1724376 $ B847 $ 2672396 $ 4422619

Foreign Currency Risk Exposure — Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect
the fair value of an investment or a deposit.

The Fire and Police Employee’s Retirement System’s Board of Trustees has adopted a policy that the external managers
demonstrate sensitivity to currency risk. The foreign currency exposure of the Fire and Police Employee’s Retirement
System may be hedged back to the U.S. dollar using forward foreign exchange contracts. From 0% to 100% of the foreign
currency exposure of the portfolio may be hedged. Cross-hedging to currencies other than the U.S. dollar may reach 25%
of the total portfolio. Currency speculation is not permitted.

The Employees’ Retirement Systems Board of Trustees has not adopted a formal policy to limit foreign currency risk.
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The foreign currency risk for each system at June 30, 2019 is presented on the following table (expressed in thousands):

Fire and Police
Employees' Employees'
Retirement Retirement

Currency System System Total

Euro Currency UNit ........ooivenieriiiiiieiiiei e D 75878 $ 128,029 $ 203,907
Australian Dollar ... 15,432 6,029 21,461
Brazil Real .......ooiiiniii i e e 1,752 2,237 3,989
British Pound Sterling ...........oooiiiiiiiiii e e e 102,651 102,651
Canadian DoLIar ........o.uuni o e 22,856 21,610 44,466
Chinese Yuan Renminbi ...........oouiiiiiioiiiiiiiiiii e e e e (889) (889)
Columbian PeS0 .....oooiuiii i e e 1 1
CzeCh KOTUNA ..ttt et ee et e ee et e et e ee et ee e ee e e aaes 1 1
Danish KIOne .......oooiimiiiii i e et 1,833 8,497 10,330
Hong Kong Dollar ..ot e 20,850 21,071 41,921
Indonesian RUPIan ........ooouieiiiiiiit e 839 2,939 3,778
Istacli Shekel ..oouniei e e e 797 797
JAPANESE YN ..ttt ettt e e e e e e e ae s 51,776 58,387 110,163
MEXICAN PESO ..ttt e e e e e e e 544 544
New Taiwan Dollar ........oooeiniiiiii e e e ee e 2,205 1,819 4,024
New Zealand DOLAr .....coooviiriin e e 5,328 358 5,686
Norwegian Krone .........c.ooooiiiiiii e 1,494 8 1,502
POLISH ZIOtY . ooete et e e e e e 436 436
Pound Sterling ......c.ooeiieiie it 40,729 40,729
Russian RUDIE .......oooeiiiii e e e e e e e 127 127
Singapore DOMIAr .........iiiti e 11,855 11,855
South African CommRand ............cccoiiiiiiiiiii e 1,913 1,539 3,452
South Korean WoOm ... ittt e e e 2,571 846 3,417
SWedish Krona .......oooeiiniiiii e e e e e 11,238 6,525 17,763
SWISS FTANC . oetitieiit et e e e e e 18,741 34,273 53,014
Thai Baht ..o e e e 797 1,145 1,942
TUTKISH LITA ..ottt ee e e et ee e e et e e e e ee e e e e ee e 23 23
UAEDIh@am .. ... e e e e 47 536 583
Total FOreign CUITENCY ..uviuriueiiiieiet et et et eeeveaeaeseneeieiennee D 289,174  $ 398499 $ 687,673

Interest rate risk — The Fire and Police Employee’s Retirement System Board of Trustees uses the Option Adjusted
Duration as a measure of interest rate sensitivity for bonds. Duration is a measure of the approximate sensitivity of'a bond’s
value to interest rate changes. The Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System Board of Trustees’ fixed income interest
rate policy states that the effective duration of a portfolio may not exceed 120% of the effective duration of the underlying
Bloomberg Barclay’s U.S. Aggregate Bond Index.

Both the Employees’ Retirement System and the Elected Officials” Retirement System have selected the duration method
to disclose the debt securities exposure to changes in interest rates. However, both plans have not adopted a formal policy
to limit interest rate risk.

Credit Risk — The Boards of Trustees of the City’s three retirement systems have not adopted a formal policy to limit credit
risk.
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The credit rating and duration of investments at June 30, 2019, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Carrying
Asset Type Duration Value AAAthruA  BBBthruB CCCthruC  Not Rated
Employees' Retirement System:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ............coeevrveriireennnnn. 1519 $ 7894 $ 7,894
US Quasiand Foreign government ...............c.cooeeeevreves 2.23 60,549 34,157 $ 1,921 $ 24471
Corporate BOnds ......ooeeeveiveiiieiiiie et 3.00 80,362 41,094 20145 $ 591 18532
Commingled fixed income funds ......... 8.05 251,127 182 250,945
Total debt SECUTIIES ....vveveeeeeeeeeee e $ 399932 $ 83145 $ 22248 $ 501 $ 293,948
Elected Officials' Retirement System:
Aggregate bond indexfund ...........ccoeeeeiiiiiiieeiiriinnn. 5.78 $ 4241 $ 4,241
US Senior loan fund ................. 0.44 1,781 1,781
Total debt securities ..................... $ 6,022 $ 6,022
Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System:
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ...........coccoevviveieeeernnnnnn. 7.64 $ 57709 $ 56,683 $ 1,026
U.S. Government agency bonds ................ 3.04 42,128 40,786 1,342
Barclay aggregate indeX .........coovveeiiiviiineiineiiieeiee e 5.78 1,472 1,472
NHIT agency mbs trust .....cc.ueeueeeeneeieeiinieiineceeiieecene 3.93 23,006 23,006
Corporate bonds ........cooverveereereennn. 414 117,373 47944 $ 48,522 20,907
Emerging market debt fund ... 6.37 137,661 137,661
Senior floating rate fund .............cooeieiiniiiiiinii 0.10 4310 4,310
Total debt securities ..................c.ccocoeeeein $ 383659 $ 169,891 $ 190,493 $ 23275

The City’s Retirement Systems have entered into a Securities Lending Authorization Agreement with BNY Mellon Bank
(the Custodian) authorizing them to lend its available securities. All individual securities which are readily marketable and
which are not restricted due to an outstanding short option are eligible for loan at the discretion of the custodian bank. The
investment manager may lend securities held in custody of commingled funds if authorized in a manager’s contract with
the Retirement Systems.

Collateral received in exchange for securities loaned is collected in an escrow account for the Retirement Systems’ benefit
for the duration of the loan. At no time do the Retirement Systems lose custody of either the security or the collateral.
Collateral in exchange for the principal lent may be in the form of cash, or securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S.
government, or its agencies or instrumentalities. The minimum levels of collateral are set at 102% of the market value of
domestic securities loaned, including all accrued income, and 105% of the market value of international securities loaned,
including all accrued income. If the market value of the collateral falls below 100% of the loaned securities, additional
collateral is deposited to adjust up to the appropriate minimum level of collateral. All collateral amounts are adjusted to
market daily. The City’s Retirement Systems do not have the right to sell or pledge securities received as collateral without
borrower default.

As of June 30, 2019, the Retirement Systems had no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts they owed
borrowers exceeded the amounts the borrowers owed the Retirement Systems. The market value of securities on loan at
June 30, 2019, was $220,060,000, and the market value of the collateral received for those securities on loan was
$233,737,000 which included collateral received in cash in the amount of $82,137,000. The Retirement Systems did not
impose any restrictions during the fiscal year on the amount of loans the custodian made on their behalf. The terms of the
Securities Lending Authorization Agreement require that the custodian indemnify the retirement systems against: (1) the
failure to demand adequate and appropriate collateral from a borrower as and when required pursuant hereto; (2) the failure
to comply with the investment guidelines in connection with the investment and reinvestment of cash collateral; (3) the
failure to obtain and perfect a security interest or rights equivalent thereto in and to the collateral; or (4) the failure to make
a reasoned determination of the creditworthiness of any borrower. There were no such failures by any borrowers during
the fiscal year. Moreover, there were no losses during the fiscal year resulting from default of the borrowers or the
custodian.

Substantially all securities loans can be terminated on demand either by the custodian or by the borrower, although
generally the average term of these loans is one week. Cash collateral is invested in the custodian’s short-term investment
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pool. The short-term investment pool guidelines specify that a minimum of 20% of the invested cash collateral is to be
available each business day and the dollar-weighted average maturity of holding must not exceed 90 days.

Other Postemployment Benefits Fund

The City’s Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Fund (Trust) is authorized by the Baltimore City Code to make
investments in accordance with the guidelines and limitations set forth in the code. The Baltimore City Director of Finance
was made Trustee of the Trust and, under a Memorandum of Understanding between the Director of Finance and the Board
of Trustees of the Employees’ Retirement System (Board), the Board is charged with administration of the Trust and
investment of its assets. As part of its responsibility, the Board has adopted investment policies and guidelines, which

formally document its investment objectives and responsibilities.

The investment assets of the OPEB Trust Fund at June 30, 2019, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months)

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 6 Greater than 12
Cash and cash equivalents ...............cooeeiiieiiiiiiie e $ 8804 $ 8,804

U.S. Treasury 0bHZations ......ceeeeveeoeeieiceiieiire it 13,268 $ 13,268
U.S. GOVEINMENT BZETICIES .. cvvvveeevrieeevie e ertie et erte e et erie e e 14,449 14,449
COrPOTate DONAS ....eeieiee ettt e 89,595 89,595
SUBLOTAL ... e 126,116 $ 8804 $ 117,312
REALESTALE ..o vvieie e e 73575

SEOCKS v et e 443,892

TOtAl INVESTMENLS ©.ovvvveeiie sttt ettt et e e et er e e e e 643,583

Less: cash and cash equIVaIEnts ............ceeveriineiieeiiine e 8,804

Total Nt NVESTMENTS . .evveeveeee oottt e et ee e eeeee e eeeeeeiseenen $ 634,779

The OPEB Trust Fund categorized their fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset
and given the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 measurements)
and the lowest priority to unobservable imputs (Level 3 measurements).

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active; and model derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable.

Level 3 — Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which significant inputs are unobservable.

Instruments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as practical expedient are
not classified in the fair value hierarchy.

In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the fair value hierarchy, fair value
measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the valuation. The table
on the following page shows the fair value leveling on the investments for the OPEB Trust Fund (amounts expressed in
thousands).

Equity securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities. Debt Securities
classified in Level 1 and Level 2 are valued using a bid evaluation, mid evaluation, last trade or official close. Mid
evaluations are when a bid and ask evaluation are both present. Last trade is the most recent trade price of a security at
market close time. Official close is the closing price as defined by the exchange.
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Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for Significant Other Significant
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable
Investment by fair value level Base Amount (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)

Debt securities
U.S. Treasury Notes and Bonds .........c.ooviiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiiiiee $ 13,268 $ 13,268

U.S. Government Agency Bonds 14,449 $ 14,449
Corporate Bonds ......... 32,051 32,051
Total debt securities at fairvalue level .......................oooo 59,768 13,268 46,500
Equity securities
DOMESIC @QUILIES .. ..uuitie ittt ittt ee e et ettt ee e ee e et anaas 100,027 100,027
International equUities ... ... 19,651 19,651
Total equity securities at fair value level ..o 119,678 $ 119,678
Total investments by fair value level ...........c..coooiiiiian, 179,446
Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)
Commingled fixed INCOME ........ouiiiiiiii i 57,545
DOomeStiC @QUILIES .. .o.uuuittitt ittt et e e 121,753
Defensive SQUILIES ... ouuutu ettt ettt et e 25,915
International equUItIes ............o.oiiiiiiiiiii i 129,823
REAI ESTALE .. ce it ittt et e et e e e e e e e e 73,575
Hedge funds .. 42,240
Private equities .........c.ouiiiiiiiiiiiia.. 4,482
Total investments measured at the NAV ............ooiiiiiiiinn 455,333
Total NEt INVESTMENTS o uu ittt et e ee e e ee e e ee e e ee e e ee e e aeeaneeees $ 634,779

The valuation method for investments measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV) per share, or equivalent, is presented in the
table below (expressed in thousands):

Unfunded Redemption
Investment Measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV) Base Annual Commitments Redemption Frequency Notice Period

Commingled fixed income.........c.cooveeeeeen. $ 57,545 Daily, weekly & monthly 0-30days @
Domestic eqUItIes .. couuuuet ittt eiie e ee et 121,753 Daily, weekly & monthly 0 -30days ()]
Defensive equities . .....c..ovveiiiiii it 25,915 Daily, weekly & monthly 0 - 30days 3)
International equities . ..........ooiiiieiiiiin i, 129,823 Quarterly 90-100 days (@)
Real estate. . ..ottt 73,575 Quarterly 90-100 days (5)
Hedge funds........ooiiiiiiiiii i 42,240 Quarterly 90-100 days (6)

Private equities..........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 4,482 $ 31,000 Not eligible N/A @)
Total investments measured at the NAV $ 455333 $ 31,000

(1) Commingled fixed income investment is in two mutual funds. One seeks to provide a high level of current income, consistent with preservation of
capital by investing at least 80% of its net assets in adjustable-rate senior loans; while the second one actively tracks the performance of an index

(2) Domestic Equity investments is in funds that seek long-term capital appreciation by investing at least 80% of its net assets, plus any borrowings for
investment purposes, in equity securities of large capitalization companies. Such large cap companies are those with total market capitalizations of $5
billion or more at the time of purchase.

(3) International equity investments are in both managed funds and direct investments. Investment in managed funds are in securities where rigorous
dividend discount analysis is used to identify value in terms of long term flow of income as well as in funds which employs strategies that seeks to
outperform the MSCI World index (half-hedged) while maintaining a similar level of market risk over the long term. The direct investment is focused
on protection in a down market while performing a rigorous fundamental analysis by assessing competitive framework, scrutinizing financials, analyzing
business environment and evaluating management.

(4) Defensive equity investment is in a fund that seek long-term growth of capital. The fund employs a strategy of writing collateralized put options on
the S&P 500 Index. T he collateral generally consists of short duration, high quality fixed income positions with a focus on U.S. Treasuries

(5) The system's hedge fund investment is in a multi-strategy fund. The fund has a deep and thorough research process that is harnessed through a
dynamic risk budgeting framework. T he investment is eligible for redemption with a 90-100 days notice period.

(6)Real estate investments is in a core real estate fund. The investment style is based on strategies and tactics that are designed to take advantage of
barrier and rotational market dynamics.

(7) The System's private equity investments are with 7 managers, invested in Diversified, Venture Capital, Distressed Debt, Buyouts, International and
Special Situations strategies. T hese investments are considered illiquid as redemptions are restricted over the life of the investment.

Interest Rate and Credit Risk—The Board has not adopted a formal policy to limit interest rate and credit risk.

Bonds held by the OPEB Trust Fund have ratings from AA1 to AA2.
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Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS)

The BCPSS, through the office of the Chief Financial Officer, pursues a cash management and investment program to
achieve the maximum financial return on available funds. Depending on the projected cash needs of the BCPSS, excess
funds may be invested on a short, intermediate or long-term basis at the best obtainable rates. Investments are generally in
direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government and are fully collateralized.

The BCPSS is authorized by State law to invest in direct or indirect obligations of the U.S. Government, repurchase
agreements and related mutual funds. The BCPSS’s investments at June 30, 2019, are presented below. All investments
are presented by investment type (expressed in thousands):

Investment Maturities (In Months) Max allowed

per Investment
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 4 41012 Percent Policy
Money MArKEt TUNAS ... eveie e ettt et et et e $ 37,602 $ 37,602 9.3% 100.0%
Commercial paper ....... 20,652 20,652 5.1% 50
Fixed income ......... 644 644 0.2% 100.0
Equity funds .........c.cc..... . 483 483 0.1% 100.0
U.S. GOVEITNENE AZEICIES ... vvtveve e eeeesnirsinteee ettt et e seeee s st eb et e e se e ee s er s 346,641 221746 $ 12489 85.4% 100.0
TOtalNVESTEd TUNAS ....vvvivr ettt ettt st e 406,022 % 281127 $§ 124895 100.0%
Less: cash equivalents ..... 281,127
TOtal NEt INVESTMENES ...........ooeoviesiiiniiieiieeeee oot D 124,895

Investments and Valuation - BCPSS categorizes its investments using the fair value measurements identified in the fair
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs
used to measure the fair value of the asset and gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level I measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level | - Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

Level 2 - Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or identical assets or liabilities
in less active markets, such as dealer or broker markets; and

Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers
are unobservable, such as pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques not based on market,
exchange, dealer or broker-traded transactions.

Transactions are recorded on the trade date, realized gains and losses are determined using the identified cost method. Any
change in net unrealized gain or loss from the preceding period is reported in the statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position. Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest is recorded on the accrual basis. Following
is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.

BCPSS investments are comprised of money market funds, fixed income securities, commercial paper and U.S.
government securities and are valued at their Fair Value (FVs) or amortized cost.

Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets
for those securities. Debt securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing
technique.

Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices. Commercial

and residential mortgage-backed securities classified in Level 3 are value using discounted cash flow techniques.
Collateralized debt obligations classified in Level 3 are valued using consensus pricing.
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City Schools had the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019:

Balance
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 June 30, 2019

Investments by fair value lewel:
Debt Securities:

Equity FUNAS ..o e e e $ 483 $ 483

US Government Obligations ...........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e $ 346,642 346,642
Total DEebt SECUTILIES .. .nun ittt ittt et et e e ettt 483 346,642 347,125
Equity Securities:

Fixed INCOME .. onitii et e e e e e e e e e 644 644

Commercial PAper .. .......oouii 20,652 20,652
Total EQUity SECUTItIES .. ..ueutt ettt ettt e e e e ettt e e 644 20,652 21,296
Investments carried at amortized cost:

DIEPOSIES ottt ittt e 24,251

Money Market Mutual Funds ...........ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaas 37,602
Total Investments at amortized COSt ........oiiuiniii it ee e, 61,853
TOtal INVESTMENES .« . tuu sttt it ee e ettt e ee e et ae e ee e e ie e ae e et aeeaeeaeens $ 1,127 $ 367,294 $ 430,274

Investment Ratings - Ratings apply to all Money Market funds, Checking, Commercial Paper, Repurchase agreements, and
U.S. Government Agencies (expressed in thousands):

Moody Percent Fair Value S&P Percent Fair Value
ABA i 71.9% $ 291,869 AAA o 0.5% $ 1,967
ABA e 05 1,967 AAT i 719 291,869
P-l o 186 75424 ATF e 140 56,769
NOE AEEA v 9.0 36,762 AL 46 18,655
100.0% $ 406,022 NOETAEd vt 9.0 36,762

100.0% $ 406,022

Interest Rate Risk—Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the
fair value of investments. The BCPSS limits its interest rate risk in accordance with their policy by maintaining a minimum
of 20% of the BCPSS’s investment in funds in liquid investments which include U.S. Government Securities, Overnight
Repurchase Agreements and Money Market Mutual Funds.

Credit Risk—Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligation.

As stated above, the BCPSS limits investments to highly rated investments in the categories discussed above.

Cash and cash equivalents include Money Market deposits and other types of investments.

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The Baltimore Hotel Corporation (BHC) pursues a cash management and investment program to achieve the maximum
financial return on available funds. Investments consist of private debt obligations and money market funds with varying
maturity dates. Certain portions of the investments are used to fund operating activities of the entity and other portions are
used for debt repayment. These investments are stated at market value. Additional disclosures required by GASB 74 are
available in the separately issued BHC financial statements.

The BHC has no formal policy for limiting risk associated with these investments. The City of Baltimore Department of

Finance directs the selection of investment funds. At year-end BHC held investments in the amount of $40,164,000
consisting of repurchase agreements with various financial institutions and government money market funds.
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4. Receivables, net

Receivable at year-end of the City’s major individual governmental funds, enterprise funds, and nonmajor and other funds
(including internal service and fiduciary funds) were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Grants Capital Non-major
General Revenue Projects Enterprise and Other
Receivables Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Total

PLOPEILY TAXES . ..ovvvvivvievivr v v v e e eeeeeeeeeeeeee e ee s niissvnsnnenenen 9 15,475 $ 15475
SEIVICe DIHNES .. evvvee e $ 145130 145,130
Due fromother governments..... 164658 $ 88485 $ 36,627 420578 $ 2720 713,068
Notes and mortgages receivable.... 269,514 34,075 303,589
Other......coooiiiiiiiieieeiees 45,675 287 2474 2,911 51,347
TOtAl ..o S 495322 $ 88485 $ 36914 $ 602257 $ 5631 $ 1,228,609

Unavailable property taxes include prepaid property taxes. Service billings are reported net of an allowance for doubtful
accounts of $78,827,000. Bad debt expense for fiscal year 2019 was $36,326,000.

Adjustments unrelated to consumption that resulted in reductions to income on Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater Utility
Fund customer accounts were recorded in the Water Utility Fund.

5. Capital Assets
Capital assets activities for the year ended June 30, 2019, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities Capital Assets:

Balance Balance
Class June 30, 2018 Additions Deductions June 30, 2019
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
LANd oo e 248,215 $ 248215
(01115 TSP PV RUPPRPPPP 117,685 $ 4576 $ 1,427 120,834
CONSLIUCTION T PIOGIESS - cvevevneet ettt ie e et e e e e e en et et et e e e 202,275 120,435 84,815 237,895
Total capital assets, not being depreciated ............coeoveeivevnvincnnen 568,175 125,011 86,242 606,944
Capital assets, being depreciated
Building and IMPrOVemMENtS .........c..eeutiueiureireireire e e et 2,156,480 49,902 2,206,382
BQUIPINENT ...ttt ettt et et er e eae e 486,392 33,252 66,986 452,658
INETASTIUCIUTE ..ottt ettt et e e eees 2,922,105 37,956 1 2,960,060
LIDIATY DOOKS ..eeiivieiie e ettt ettt e 37,097 3,248 2,620 37,725
Total capital assets, being depreciated ............cceeevreiciiniiiinnnncnn. 5,602,074 124,358 69,607 5,656,825
Less: accumulated depreciation for:
Building and improvements ............c..ceuriiimeiireii e 1,280,680 47,023 1,327,703
EQUIPIMENT .ttt ettt 381,304 21,445 64,580 338,169
INFEASTIUCTUTE .. vttt ettt 1,374,914 72,133 @) 1,447,048
LADIATY DOOKS ..t ceie ettt e 21,506 3,447 5,028 19,925
Total accumulated depreciation ..............ccovecviieeiinviieiin i 3,058,404 144,048 69,607 3,132,845
Total capital assets, being depreciated, NEt .........c.ueeriveeriieeeiiee e 2,543,670 (19,690 2,523,980
Governmental activities capital asSets, Net ............ccceeeerrvvieiveenviiiieeereiiiieeeee. 9 3,111,845 $ 105,321 $ 86,242 $ 3,130,924
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Business-type Activities Capital Assets:

Balance Balance
Class June 30, 2018 Additions Deductions June 30, 2019

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
CONSEIUCHION I PIOGIESS +.veevvivvieeeersievieeeeeersieiieeeeeerssssesereeesseeeeeersins 1,213,031 $ 530,700 $ 571434 1,172,297

Total capital assets, not being depreciated .............ocoovevevieininnann. 1,249,951 530,700 571,434 1,209,217

Capital assets, being depreciated
Building and improvVements ..............coueiurreieiineii st 3,897,094 393 14,540 3,882,947
BQUIDINENE «. ettt ettt e 366,091 8972 65,365 309,698
TNFTASTIUCTUTE .uvti ettt e et et ettt ettt e et 1,221,616 492,618 1,714,234

Total capital assets, being depreciated ............coocveiiiniiniiinninnennn. 5,484,801 501,983 79,905 5,906,879

Less: accumulated depreciation for:
Building and improvements ..............ooeiureeitiinei st 1,178,860 72,100 7,249 1,243,711
BQUIDINENE «. ettt ettt e 181,286 11,730 65,368 127,648
TNFTASTIUCTUTE .uvtie ittt e ettt e et ettt e e et 222,997 25,886 248,883

Total accumulated depreciation ...............coeceuveeiiniineiinniineiiiniis 1,583,143 109,716 72,617 1,620,242

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net .........c..eeeovviieiiriiiieiinieie e 3,901,658 392,267 7,288 4,286,637

Business-type activities capital assets, Net .........c.coveeerrrviiiiieeeeriiiireenviiiiene. 9 5,151,609 $ 922,967 $ 578722 $ 5495854

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 (expressed in
thousands):

Governmental activities
(@ S TS N e DT T 7= o N $ 15,055
Public safety and reguUlation .. ... ... ... ittt ettt e et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et 7,395
Conservation Of health .. ... ittt e e e e e e e e e 394
76 L o= 1o ) o 19,644
DT 00 Lo V1 0 =By N 4,380
Recreation and ParKs .. ... ..o e e e e e e e e e e e 8,694
Highways and STIEETS .. ...ttt ettt e ettt e e ettt e e e e et et e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e 67,356
Sanitation and WaStE TEMOVAL .. ... ...ttt e e et e et e et et e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e 2,242
PUDIIC SEIVICE ..ottt ittt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e 2,136
Economic deVEIOPIMEIIT .. ..ottt ittt et et e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e et 846
INternal SErVICE fUNAS ...t ettt et et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 15,907
TOtAl L. . B 144,048

Business-type activities:

W ALET ..o e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 36,222

AT 3 2 PP 64,556

SETOTITIWALET .. et it et ettt e e e et e e e e e et et e e e e et ee e e e e et et e ee e e e e et ee e e e e et ee e e e e a e e e e e 5,016

PaTKINE .ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 2,515

[0 s Ve 61 £ S 1,407
1o Y PP - 109,716

As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding commitments relating to projects of the City of Baltimore amounted to approximately
$209,456,000 for governmental activities and $979,674,000 for business-type activities. Interest is capitalized on business-
type capital assets acquired with tax-exempt debt. The amount of interest to be capitalized is calculated by offsetting interest
cost incurred from the date of borrowing until completion of the project, with interest earned on invested proceeds over
the period. During fiscal year 2019, net interest cost of $47,130,000 (net of interest income of $7,170,000) was capitalized.

In July 2018, The City entered into a lease agreement with Maryland Economic Development Corporation (MEDCO) to
lease three parking garages terminating at the earlier of the 50th anniversary of closing or the date on which the MEDCO
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Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds Series 2018 bonds (MEDCO Bonds) are fully repaid. The lease requires MEDCO to
operate the three parking garages in a first class manner and to adopt, operate, and maintain the facilities in accordance
with City operating standards and a long term capital plan. In exchange, MEDCO made an initial rent payment of
$55,955,000 and annually, MEDCO shall pay to the City of Baltimore rent in the amount of a distributable portion of the
Surplus Fund, as defined in the trust indenture. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 60, “Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements ”, the arrangement between MEDCO and the City of Baltimore qualifies
as a service concession arrangement. In the Statement of Net Position under governmental activities, $54,836,000 is
reflected as a deferred inflow of resources (initial rent payment of $55,955,000 less $1,119,000 recognized as revenue).
The parking garages are continuing to be depreciated and are reflected in the above governmental activities capital asset

table.

Interfund Balances and Activity

A. BALANCE DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Balances due to/from other funds at June 30, 2019, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Interfund

Fund Receivable Payable
(€ =111 U VU UPUPUU. S o ¥ A 16 5
GIANES TEVEIIUE « .ottt ittt et eie et e e et ettt et e et ee e e et et e e et ea e e s et e e et et e e e e e e e s e $ 34,625
L0303 1721 1553 (0] 101 PRt 1,568
NONMAJOT PrOPTICTATY .. oenieitt et ettt et et ee e et e et et et et e et ee e et et e ee it ae e e ae e e eeneens 28,121
INEEIMAL SETVICE .. .uvtetit ittt et ee e et e et ee et et e et ee e et et e ee s ee e et et e eenae e be e neee s aenaens 287

TOUALS .ttt e e e e e e e et e e O 63,033 $ 63,033

The Interfund balances are primarily the result of the City’s policy not to reflect cash deficits in its individual funds.
Also, as of June 30, 2019, certain transactions between funds had not been completed.

B. TRANSFERS TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS

Transfers to/from other funds at June 30, 2019, were as follows (expressed in thousands):

Grants Capital Nonmajor Internal Total
Fund Ceneral Revenue  Projects Governmental  Parking Service  Transfer To
General ......ooooovvoieeeiicieeeieee . B 58,804 $ 4537 $ 53222 $ 116,563
Grants TEVENUES .....cceuvneereniereeieirieeeenn 15,118 5,905 21,023
Capital PrOJECtS ....vvvvveeereireiviiieeeeeeeeeeei 24015 $ 2029 $ 13,719 $ 5,650 45413
Total transfers from.........c.ccceeee. $ 97937 $ 2029 $ 4537 $ 13,719 $ 59127 $ 5650 $ 182,999

Transfers were primarily to the General Fund to provide funds for debt service and to transfer excess revenue from
the Proprietary Funds to the General Fund.
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7. Long-term Obligations

A. LONG-TERM OBLIGATION ACTIVITY

The City does not have a debt limit; however, the Constitution of Maryland requires a three-step procedure for the
creation of debt:

» Act of the General Assembly of Maryland or resolution of the majority of Baltimore City delegates

»  Ordinance of the Mayor and City Council

« Ratification by the voters of Baltimore City

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2019, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Due
New Debt  Debt Within
June 30,2018  Issued Retired  June 30,2019 One Year

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES*
General Obligation Bonds:

HIGWAYS .. .vevvie et D 1171 ¢ 198 $§ 168 $ 1201 $ 184
Health ..o 1,618 160 1458 166
PUBHC SAELY ...vviee et 1,882 83 240 1725 180
Off-treet Parking .........vevvivvivrievieririeiii s ee e 5373 157 5216 647
Recreation and parks ...........oveviviviniiiiriinine e 31,213 4,265 2,070 33,408 1,979
Public buildings and facilities ............ccocevververreireireireeieeereereereereene 71,052 27,918 4,682 94,288 4,685
SCROOL ..ottt ettt 183,445 10,096 11,677 181,864 12,070
Urban 1E0EWAL ......oee et 226,751 41,024 17471 250,304 20,661
UNAloCAtEd ...veveeeeii it 4,052 629 3423 691
Total general obligation bonds ............c.ccovvvriiiirivieririen, 526,557 83,584 37,254 572,887 41,263
Special Obligation Bonds
Special Obligation Bonds ............c.eviviviviniiiiieiie e sieeie e 198,176 1,973 196,203 2,615
Long-term financing with the Federal Government:
Federal economic development [0ans ...............coovvvvevivrivrivvievien, 20,320 3,613 16,707 2,788
Total Governmental ACHVIEIES ........oovverevvriivirvviirveee. $ 745053 $ 83584 & 42840 § 785797 $ 46,666
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

General Obligation Bonds:

SEOIIIWALET ... ev v D 3580 $ 1416 $ 349 $ 4656 $ 380
Total Business-Type ACtVItES ......ccooeevveeeveveeciireeeiiireiie 9 3580 $ 1416 $ 349 $ 465 $ 380
COMPONENT UNIT - BALTIMORE CITY PUBLIC
SCHOOL SYSTEM
Bonds:
SCROOIS ...t D 96,985 $ 20164 $§ 76821 $ 12656

*Included in the Statement of Net Position for Governmental Activities is a remaining unamortized premium of $23,660,000
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Fixed Rate General Obligation Bonds

On May 21, 2019, the City issued general obligation bonds, Series 2019-A and 2019-B, in the amounts of $64,855,000 and
$21,145,000, respectively, and totaling $85,000,000 for various capital projects. Interest on the bonds is due each April
15th and October 15th, and mature on October 15, 2039.

Variable Rate General Obligation Bonds

As of June 30, 2019, the City had $17,620,000 of taxable variable rate demand Consolidated Public Improvement Bonds
2003 Series C and D outstanding, to construct various capital projects throughout the City. The bonds mature on October
15, 2020 and 2022, respectively.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarketing Agent on a weekly basis. Under terms of the
remarketing agreement, the City at its option may change the bond rate to a monthly or long-term rate at any time until
maturity upon notification of bondholders.

In conjunction with the bonds, State Street Bank and Trust Company issued an irrevocable letter of credit with a current
value of $17,967,000 in favor of the City and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company as Tender Agent. The agreement
expires October 15, 2022. The existing Agreement permits the fiscal agent to draw certain amounts to pay the principal
portion and related accrued interest on the bonds tendered for purchase and not remarketed.

The interest rate on draws made under this agreement includes a base rate defined as the greater of prime rate plus 1.00%,
federal funds rate plus 2.00% or 8.5%. The City is required to pay the Bank’s fee throughout the term of the Agreement
equal to 0.65% per annum of the average daily amount of the available commitment. During fiscal year 2019, the City
made no draws under the Agreement, and there were no amounts drawn against the Agreement outstanding at June 30,
20109.

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences as of June 30, 2019, totaled $156,375,000 for governmental activities and $15,003,000 for business-
type activities, of which $47,858,000 and $5,561,000, respectively, were due within one year. For the Baltimore City Public
School System, compensated absences and early retirement incentive plan amounts totaled $50,653,000.

Changes in compensated absences during fiscal year 2019, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
Balance, June 30,2018 .....ocourieiee e, S 156,628 $ 15160 $ 171,788
Leave €arNed ... . oe ettt e e e e 47,605 5,405 53,010
Leave USEA . ueuvieiit it (47,858) (5,561) (53,419)
Balance, June 30,2010 ..o $ 156,375 $ 15004 $ 171,379
Due in one year $ 47858 $ 5561 $ 53419

Parking Facilities Fund Revenue Sharing Agreement

The Parking Facilities Fund entered into two revenues sharing arrangements with the State of Maryland in 2001 and 2003
for the development of two parking garages. In exchange for a $9,000,000 investment from the State, the City agreed to
share 5% interest annually on the investment, payable to the State when the garages began to generate positive cash flow.
In fiscal year 2019, the Parking Facilities Fund reflected $450,000 of interest expense and paid $543,150 of interest as part
of this agreement.
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B. DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

Debt service requirements on long-term debt at June 30, 2019, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Long-Term Financing

with Federal Special Obligation

General Obligation Bonds Government Bonds
Interest
Rate Swap

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Net(a) Principal Interest Principal Interest
2020 ... $ 41,255 $ 24,297 $ 423 $ 2,788 $ 734 $ 2,645 $ 10,952
2021 ... 49,070 22,671 346 2,901 612 3,102 10,816
2022 ... 52,669 20,399 225 3,023 483 3,560 10,652
2023 . ... 55,516 17,959 77 2,329 356 4,107 10,487
2024 ... ... 33,494 15,868 2,410 234 4,661 10,230
2025-2029 ...... 167,710 54,909 3,256 139 32,440 46,687
2030-2034 ...... 106,303 22,853 44,303 36,239
2035-2039 ...... 61,009 5,972 61,977 23,098
2040-2044 . .. ... 5,861 92 32,835 5,744
2045-2049 ....... 6,573 368

Totals ...... $ 572887 $ 185,020 $ 1,071 $ 16,707 $ 2558 $ 196,203 $ 165,273

(@) Interest Rate Swap Net payments represent estimated additional interest payable to counterparties for
additional interest resulting from swap agreements. The additional payments were computed using rates as of
June 30, 2019, assuming current interest rates remain the same for the remaining term of the swap. As rates vary,
variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.

Business-type Activities

General Obligation Bonds

Fiscal Year Principal Interest
2020 . e e $ 380 $ 198
202 L e e e 480 176
2022 e 511 152
2028 e 539 126
2024 . e 216 107
2025-2020 . .. e e e e e e e e e e e e 800 417
2030-2034 . . i e e e e 797 268
2035-2039 . . i e e 836 93
2040-2044 . . o e 96 1
e =Y $ 4,655 $ 1,538

A summary of general obligation bonds outstanding and bond anticipation notes outstanding, and bonds authorized but
unissued (expressed in thousands) at June 30, 2019, are as follows:

Authorized
Outstanding But Unissued
Purpose Due Dates Interest Rates Amount Amount
Fire, police, and public ProteCtion ...............c.oiiuiuireuit ettt et 2018t0 2035 1.0%to50% $ 1,725 $ 64
OFF-SEIEEt PATKIIE .ot on ettt et ettt et et ettt et e et e e et et et ee e e et e te e e e e aens 2018 to 2026  1.0% to 5.0% 5,216 345
ReCTeation and PATKS ... .o.ietitutiit et et ie et et et ee s e et e et e et e e e a et e 2018 to 2035 1.0% to 6.0% 33,408 11,857
Public buildings and fACIHEIES ..........oviniit ittt et et et e 2018 t0 2035  1.0% to 5.0% 94,288 149,981
SCROOIS .ot e e e e e 2018 to 2035 1.0% to 5.8% 181,864 114,899
Urban renewal and deVeIOPMENT ...........oc.iiutniisiet et iet et e e et et e e e e e 2018 to 2035 1.0% to 6.0% 250,304 134,300
HIZRWAYS oottt et e e et e e e e e ee e e e 2018 to 2026 1.0% to 5.0% 1,201 22
FINANICE ..ottt et e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 20,000
HEAlth ..o e e e e e e e 2018 to 2032 1.0% to 6.0% 1,458 4,071
SEOTITIWALET .ot e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e et et 2018 to 2026 1.0% to 5.5% 4,656
UNAllOCAtEd ..ot e e e e e 2018 to 2026 1.0% to 5.0% 3,423
TOALS .. oet ittt e e e $ 577,543 $ 435,539
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Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) Bonds

BCPSS has issued the City Schools Qualified School Construction Bonds Series 2009 (the Series 2009 Construction
Bonds) in the amount of $50,800,000, maturing through the year ending June 30, 2025. The net proceeds of Series 2009
Construction Bonds were used to fund various capital improvements to existing schools within BCPSS.

As BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are to be drawn from the Series 2009
Construction Bonds escrow account to fund capital expenditures. The interest rates on the bonds include a Tax Credit rate
0f 5.90% and an interest rate of 1.25%, and interest is payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15, and December
15 of each year. Principal sinking fund payment started on December 15, 2014. As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding
balance of the Series 2009 Construction Bonds is $34,438,000.

In January 2011, BCPSS issued the City Schools Qualified School Construction Bonds Series 2011 in the amount of
$60,825,000, maturing through the year ending June 30, 2026. The net proceeds of the Series 2011 Bonds were used to
fund various capital improvements to existing schools within BCPSS.

As BCPSS enters into capital project contracts with one or more contractors, funds are drawn from the Series 2011 Bonds
escrow account to fund capital expenditures. The interest rates on the Bonds is 5.692% and interest is payable semi-
annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year. As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding balance on the Series 2011 Bonds
is $42,383,000.

Future minimum bond payments are as follows at fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 (expressed in thousands):

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
12702, 0 RS- - 12,656 $ 4,097 $ 16,753
1270220 Rt 12,675 4,097 16,772
12202, POt 13,373 4,097 17,470
122025 St 16,156 4,097 20,253
D024 . e e e 15,372 4,097 19,469
2025 = 2026 .« e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e as 6,589 5,511 12,100
e - 1 PRS- - 76,821 $ 25996 $ 102,817

C. CAPITAL LEASES

Primary Government

The City has entered into various conditional purchase agreements to construct and purchase certain facilities and
equipment to be used by municipal agencies. These conditional purchase agreements do not constitute a pledge of the full
faith and credit or taxing power of the City and are subject to termination if sufficient funds are not appropriated by the
City Council. Since termination of these agreements is not foreseen, the agreements have been capitalized. During fiscal
year 2019, the City’s capital lease obligations for governmental activities decreased by $9,399,000 (which is net of new
leases in the amount of $23,490,000 and lease principal payments in the amount of $32,889,000) from the fiscal year 2018
total of $160,007,000. During fiscal year 2019 the City’s capital lease obligations for business-type activities decreased by
$182,000 for lease principal payments.

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
Balance June 30,2018 .. ..ottt e, 160,007 $ 826 $ 160,833
Lease PAYMENTS .. oetittieeee e ee e ettt et ce e ae e ee e e e e e et ee e e e (32,889) (182) (33,071)
NEW LCASES .ottt e et e e e e e e e e e e e s 23,490 23,490
Balance June 30,2019 .. ..o . B 150,608 $ 644 $ 151,252
DUE IN ONE YEAT L. ee e et ieeeeeaeeeeaanaaneee D 29,468 $ 100 $ 29,568
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Future minimum lease payments at June 30, 2019, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Business-type Activities

Governmental Enterprise Internal Service

Fiscal Year Fund Fund Fund Total
2020 .ot et e et ettt et e te e te e e e D 14833 $ 120 $ 19190 $ 34143
2021 et e e e 10,281 123 17,510 27,914
2022 . e e e e e 7,386 130 15,572 23,088
2023 e e e et e e et ettt et ettt 6,121 137 14,719 20,977
2024 ..o e 5,933 141 11,645 17,719
2025-2029 ..... 15,928 58 24,521 40,507
2030-2034 ..t e 7,594 7,594
Total minimum lease payments...............cc.e.u.t 68,076 709 103,157 171,942
LeSS:iNterest. .o. it iiin et ie et (10,093) (65) (10,532) (20,690)
Present value minimum lease payments.... $ 57,983 $ 644 % 92,625 $ 151,252

The following is a schedule of leased property under capital leases by major class at June 30, 2019 (expressed in thousands):

Business-type Activities

Governmental -
Activities Internal Service
Classes of Property Enterprise Fund Fund Total
BUIIAIIES vttt et D 193,620 $ 193,620
BQUIPITION. .ottt ettt e 270,740 $ 3187 $ 157,150 431,077
TOUAL .o D 464,360 $ 3187 $ 157,150 $ 624,697

Amortization of assets recorded under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.
Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS)

In November 2011, BCPSS entered into leases with two financial institutions to refinance the 2006 Energy Lease. The
2011 Refunding Lease-Key Government Finance, Inc. in the amount of $22,341,000 (at an interest rate of 2.755% for 11
years) and the 2011 Refunding Lease-M&T in the amount of $24,217,000 (at an interest rate of 2.582% for 11 years)
refunded $22,300,000 in 2006 leases. BCPSS had no gains or losses as a result of these refinanced leases. As of June 30,
2019, the outstanding balances on the 1st Niagara and M&T Refunding Leases were $2,357,000 and $7,497,000,
respectively.

On August 8, 2014, BCPSS entered into a $3,926,000 capital lease agreement (the Master Equipment Lease) with TD
Equipment Finance, Inc., for the acquisition of 29 buses. The lease was issued at an interest rate of 1.53% for a term of
five years. At June 30, 2019, the outstanding balance on the 2014 Master Lease was $136,000.

On January 16, 2017 City School entered a $0.7 million capital lease agreement (the Master Equipment Lease) with M&T
Bank, for the purchase of computers. The lease was issued at a rate of 2.284% for a term of three years. At June 30, 2019,
the outstanding balance on the 2017 Master Lease was $139,000.

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2019, are as follow (expressed in thousands):

Capital

Leases

Fiscal Year Principal
Total MINIMUM 1EASE PAYIMEIITS .. ...ttt e ettt et et e e e e e e e e e e 10,510

Less:deferred MEEreSTt .. .ottt e et ettt e ettt et e et ee e et ee et e et ee e ae e ae e (381)

Present value minimum 1€ase PayImMents .. ...o.. oottt it et ee i ae e ae e aee e anaanas $ 10,129

58



CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
(Continued)

The following is a schedule of leased property under BCPSS capital leases by major class at June 30, 2019 (expressed in
thousands):

Classes of Property

e LE 8103 117S) 1 AU UP RPN 3,926
K017 ) OO PEOTPRTPRPRTPRTRI. 71,536

Revenue Bonds

Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Revenue Bonds

The City has issued revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used to provide funds for capital improvements to water
and wastewater facilities. Assets with a carrying value of $6,625,158,000 at June 30, 2019, and revenues of the Water and
Wastewater Funds are pledged as collateral for the bonds. Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2019 consist of (expressed in
thousands):

Water Utility Wastewater Stormwater
Fund Utility Fund Utility Fund
$ 7800 % 4,500
4,355

Termbonds series 1993-A with interest at 5.65%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2020 ..
Termbonds series 1994-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2022 ..
Termbonds series 1994-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2024 ..
Serial bonds series 1999-B maturing in annual installments from $92,000 to $636,000 through February 1, 2021, with interest rate at
2.61%, payable semiannually .. e 727
Serial bonds series 2001-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$632 OOO to $800000 through February 1 2022 Wlth |nterest rate at
2.30%, payable semiannually .. 2,215
Serial bonds series, 2003-B maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$69 954 to $73 094through February 1 2031
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ............... 827
Serial bonds series, 2003-B maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$287 000 to $328000 through February 1 2023
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ........ 1,268
Serial bonds series, 2004-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$207 842 t0 $218 042 through February 1 2032
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ........ 2,748
Serial bonds series 2004A maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$340 OOO to $369 OOOthrough February l 2022
with interest at 0.40%, payable semiannually ............... $ 1,077
Serial bonds series, 2004-B maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$547 OOO to $972 OOOthrough February l 2022
with interest rate at 0.45%, payable semiannually ........ 2,487
Serial bonds series, 2004-C maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$896 OOO to $907 OOOthrough February l 2024
with interest rate at 0.25%, payable semiannually ........ 4,501
Serial bonds series, 2005-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$104 OOO to $1 102 000 through February 1 2024
with interest rate at 0.25%, payable semiannually ............... 4,486
Serial bonds series, 2006-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$495 OOO to $1 548 000 through February 1 2025
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ........ 8,175
Serial bonds series, 2006-B maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$185 OOO to $361 OOOthrough February l 2026
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ............... 2,328
Serial bonds series, 2007-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$74 007 to $78 574through February l 2035
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ........ J TP 1,153
Serial bonds series, 2007-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments from$1 704 OOO to $2 174 000 through February 1 2026
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ........ e 14,625
Serial bonds series, 2007-B maturing in annual |nsta||ments from $156 OOO to $161 OOOthrough February l 2027
with interest rate at 0.40%, payable semiannually ............... 1272
Serial bonds series 2009 maturing in annual installments from $102 451 to $124 415 through June 15 2024
with interest at 4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .. 463
Serial bonds series, 2009-A maturing in annual installments to $500 OOO through July 1 2019
with interest rates 0f2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannually .. 500
Serial bonds series, 2009-A maturing in annual installments of $426, 167 through February 1 2029
with an interest rate at 0.00% ..
Serial bonds series, 2009-B maturing in annual installments of $91,149 through February 1, 2030,
with an interest rate at 0.00% ...
Serial bonds series, 2009-B maturing in annual installments of $586,172 from February 1, 2019 through February 1, 2043,
with an interest rate at 0.00% ..
Serial bonds series, 2009-C maturing in annual installments from $665,000 to $715,000 through July 1, 2019,
with interest rates 0f2.00% to 4.50%, payable semiannually .. . 715
Serial bonds series, 2009-E maturing in annual installments of $157, 842 through February 1 2032
with an interest rate at 0.00% ............... 2,052
Serial bonds series, 2011-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments of $1 180 OOO to $2 000000 through July l 2031
with interest rates from 3.00%0 0 5.00%0 .. ..uviuiin it et et ottt e e e e et et et et et e et et et e et e e aens 7,415

6,295

4,262

919

14,068
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Water Utility =~ Wastewater ~ Stormwater

Fund Utility Fund ~ Utility Fund
Termbond series 2011-A with interest at 4.50%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2036 $ 10,915
Termbond series 2011-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2042 16,330

Serial bonds series, 2011-A maturing in annual installments of $2,030,000 to $3,940,000 through July 1 2031

with interest rates from4.00% to 5.00% .. $ 14,655
Termbond series 2011-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semrannually, due July 1 2036 22,870
Termbond series 2011-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2041 29,185
Serial bonds series, 2011-B maturing in annual installments of $134,138 to $172,023 through February 1 2043

with interest rates of 1.00% ................. 3,691
Serial bonds series, 2011-B maturing in annual |nstal|rnents of $178 688 to $203 363 through February 1 2033

with interest rates of 1.00% .. 2,671
Serial bonds series 2012 maturing in annual |nsta||ments from $207 900 to $256 850 through October 1 2027

with interest rates of 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ........... $ 1876
Serial bonds series, 2013-A maturing in annual installments of $1,608, 956 to $1 798 836 through February 1 2034

with interest rate at 0.80%, payable semiannually ................... 25534
Serial bonds series, 2013-A maturing in annual |nsta||ments of $2 515, OOO to $4980000through July 1 2033

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2013-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2038
Termbond series 2013-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2043
Serial bonds series, 2013-B maturing in annual installments of $3,160,000 to $6,815,000 through July 1,2033,

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2013-B with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1 2038
Termbond series 2013-B with interest at 4.50%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2038
Termbond series 2013-B with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2043
Serial bonds series, 2013-C maturing in annual installments of $1,335,000 to $2,540,000 through July 1, 2032,

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually .................. 26,890
Serial bonds series, 2013-C maturing in annual installments of $2,205, 000 to $4725000through July 1 2033

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ................... 51,505
Termbond series 2013-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2038 27420
Termbond series 2013-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2043 .. . 35,000
Serial bonds series, 2013-D maturing in annual installments from $2,980,000 to $3,640,000 through July 1 2033

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ................... 59,080
Termbond series 2013-D with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2038 14,835
Termbond series 2013-D with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2042 .. . 15,845
Serial bonds series, 2013-E maturing in annual installments of $1,840,000 to $3 030000through July 1, 2026

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ... 19,930
Serial bonds series, 2014-A maturing in annual installments of $2,123, 032 to $2 464, 774 through February 1 2035

with interest rates at 1.00% payable semiannually .................. 32,991
Serial bonds series, 2014-A maturing in annual |nstallments of $1 840, 000 to $3 785000through July 1 2034

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00% payable semiannually ................... 43,105
Termbond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semrannually, due July 1, 2037 12,535
Termbond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2039 9,430
Termbond series 2014-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2044 .. 28,040
Serial bonds series, 2014-B maturing in annual installments of $1,005,000 to $4825000through July 1 2034

with interest rates of 5.00% payable semiannually ..
Termbond series 2014-B with interest at 5.00%, payable semrannually, due July 1 2037
Serial bonds series, 2014-C maturing in annual installments of $725,000 to $3,905, OOOthrough July 1, 2034

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00% payable semiannually ................... 28,420
Termbond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2039 6,225
Serial bonds series, 2014-C maturing in annual installments of $1,630,000 to $3,350,000 through Ju ly 12034

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2039
Termbond series 2014-C with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2044 .......
Serial bonds series, 2014-D maturing in annual installments of $4,150,000 to $10,835,000 through July 1, 2031

with interest rates from 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Serial bonds series, 2014-E maturing in annual installments of $170,000 to $3,935 OOOthrough JuIy 1,2032

with interest rates from 2.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Serial bonds series, 2015-A maturing in annual installments of $981,000 to $1,122 OOOfromthrough February 1 2035

with interest rates of 0.90%, payable semiannually...
Serial bonds series, 2015-B maturing in annual installments 0f$3 366, 356 to $3 920 216 through February 1,2037,

with interest rates of 0.90%, payable semiannually ................. 65,460
Serial bonds series, 2016-A maturing in annual installments of $1 000 to $903 935 through February 1 2047through .

with interest rates 0f 0.70%, payable semiannually ..............ccocoiviiriiaiiiiii i 23,072

54,250
28,880
36,860

82,720
26,705

1115
36,900

31175
7,065

38,150
19,445
24,815

111,865

22,515

16,805
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Water Utility
Fund

Wastewater
Utility Fund

Stormwater
Utility Fund

Serial bonds series 2016 maturing in annual installments from $447,055 to $662,235 through April 1, 2031,

with interest rates of 2.75% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2017-A maturing in annual installments from $2, 650 000 to $6, 080 OOO th rough JuIy 1 2036

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1 2041
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2046 ..

Serial bonds series 2017-B maturing in annual installments from $1,250,000 to $1,680,000 th rough July 1, 2028

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2017-C maturing in annual installments from$90 000 to $2 825 000 th rough July 1 2038

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2017-D maturing in annual installments from$170 000 to $5 800 000 th rough July 1 2035

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2017-E maturing in annual installments from$2 474, 024 to $3 092 422 th rough Feb 1 2050

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2017-A maturing in annual installments from$1 720, 000 to $6 415 000 th rough JuIy 1 2036

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable sem]annually, due July 1 2041
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2046 ..

Serial bonds series 2017-B maturing in annual installments from $780,000 to $10,500,000 th rough JuIy 1, 2036

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2017-A with interest at 5.00%, payable sermannually, due July 1 2039

Serial honds series 2017-C maturing in annual installments from $795,000 to $6,835,000 th rough July 1, 2036

with interest rates of 5.00%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2017-D maturing in annual installments from$138 414 to $175 375 through Feb 1 2040

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2018-A maturing in annual installments from$4 613, 248 to $5 812 490 th rough Feb 1 2051

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2018 maturing in annual installments from$280 712 to $513 317through AprrI 1 2034

with interest rates of 3.5% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2018-C maturing in annual installments from$521 314 to $606, 526 through Feb 1 2040

with interest rates of 0.80%, payable semiannually ...

Serial bonds series 2019-A maturing in annual installments from$2 375 000 to $8 310 OOO th rough JuIy 1 2050

with interest rates of 4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1, 2044
Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2049 ..

Serial bonds series 2019-A maturing in annual installments from $1,620,000 to $3,755,000 th rough July 1, 2039

with interest rates of 4.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ..
Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1, 2044
Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2049 ..

Serial bonds series 2019-A maturing in annual installments from $760,000 to $1,710,000 th rough July 1, 2029,

with interest rates of 3.00% to 5.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 4.00%, payable semlannually, due July 1, 2044
Termbond series 2019-A with interest at 5.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2049 ..

Serial bonds series 2019-B maturing in annual installments from $165,000 to $3,465,000 th rough JuIy 1 2038,

with interest rates of 3.00% to 4.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2019-B with interest at 4.00%, payable sem]annually, due July 1, 2033

Serial bonds series 2019-C maturing in annual installments from $105,000 to $2,855,000 th rough JuIy 1, 2038

with interest rates of 3.00% to 4.00%, payable semiannually ...
Termbond series 2019-C with interest at 4.00%, payable sermannually, due July 1 2034

Serial bonds series 2019-D maturing in annual installments from $4,329,075 to $9,862,630 through July 1, 2053
with interest rates of 2.88%, payable SEmANNUALLY ............coooveviiiriiiiie o

Unamortized DONA PIEIMIUIIS .........uierveeetieiet ettt sttt ettt st ettt
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$ 74615
35210
45,010
10,195
27,045
43910

83,509

76,335
31,615
38,465

15,400
995

9520
765

$ 48350
22,845
29,165

73,720
17,59

52,450

4498

155,718

11,258

51,185
21,150
26,255

202,000

$ 462

5,758

23,390
9,635
11,965

1,025,206
84,831

1,448,724
99,520

58,793
7,586

$ 1110037

$ 1548244

$ 66379
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Fixed Rate Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Revenue Bonds

On May 29, 2019 the City issued Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2019-A, 2019-B, and 2019-C, in the amounts of
$146,415,000, $16,395,000, and $10,285,000, respectively, and totaling $173,095,000. Of these amounts, $146,415,000
was issued for various capital projects, and $26,680,000 was refunding bonds that current refunded certain outstanding
maturities totaling $20,800,000. This results in an aggregate reduction of debt service of $753,000. Interest on the bonds
is due July 1st and January 1st, and mature between 2020 and 2049 depending on the particular series.

The Series 2019 Water Refunding Revenue Bond issuance reduced total debt service to obtain an economic gain of
approximately $753,000. In addition, the City used the proceeds to reduce its derivative swap exposure.

The City also issued Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2019-A and Stormwater Revenue Bonds, Series 2019-A, in the
amount of $98,590,000 and $44,990,000, respectively. The proceeds will be used to finance various capital projects.
Interest on the bonds is due July 1st and January 1st, and mature July 1, 2049.

On December 20, 2018, the City entered into a Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) Loan Agreement
with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Revolving Loan in the amount of $202,000,000 to fund various
wastewater capital projects. The rate on interest is set at 2.88 %, maturing July 1, 2052.

Fixed Rate Parking Facilities Refunding Fund Bonds

On August 14, 2018, the City issued Parking Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 in the amount of $23,595,000. These
refunding bonds current and advanced refunded certain outstanding maturities totaling $28,940,000. Interest on the bonds
is due July 1st and January 1st, and maturing on July 1, 2035.

The Series 2018 Parking Refunding Revenue Bond issuance reduced aggregate debt service by approximately $15,499,000,
to obtain an economic gain of approximately $4,078,000. This amount was used to reduce the City’s future debt service
costs.

Variable Rate Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds

The City has issued revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used to finance construction of parking facilities and
refinance existing debt of the Parking Facilities Fund. Assets with a carrying value of $34,068,000 at June 30, 2019, and
revenues of the Parking Facilities Fund are pledged as collateral for the bonds. Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2019,
consist of (expressed in thousands):

Termbond series 1998-A with interest at 5.25%, payable semiannually, due July 1, 2021 ......ccooouiiiiiiii e $ 2540
Variable rate demand bonds series 2008, payable monthly, due July 1,2032 ......o.oiiuiiiiitiii e 65,420
Termbond series 2010 with interest at 5.225%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2020 .........cooooiiiiiniiiii e 745
Termbond series 2010 with interest at 6.10%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2025 ..ot 785
Termbond series 2010 with interest at 7.00%, payable semiannually, due July 1,2035 ..........ccooiiiiiiiiiii e 830
Parking Refunding Series 2018 (refunded 2005, 2010) .....cceueniriiin ittt et ettt ettt et et e 23,595

$ 93915

The City had $65,420,000 of Series 2008 refunding taxable variable rate demand revenue bonds outstanding as of June 30,
2019. The Series 2008 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at any time, at a redemption price of 100% of the
principal amount plus interest accrued to the redemption date. The Series 2008 Bonds annual principal amounts starting
on July 1, 2019 through July 1, 2032 range from $1,620,000 to $7,965,000.

The bonds bear interest at a variable rate that is reset by the Remarketing Agent on a weekly basis. Initially, the
Remarketing Agent will use a “Dutch Auction” to set the weekly rate that will be used to remarket the bonds. Under the
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terms of the indenture, the City at its options may change the bond rate to a monthly or long-term rate at any time until
maturity upon notification of the bondholders.

In conjunction with the bonds, Bank of America issued an irrevocable letter of credit with a current value in the amount of
$66,495,397 in favor of the City and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company as Tender Agent. The agreement expires
December 1, 2020. The existing Agreement permits the fiscal agent to draw certain amounts to pay the principal portion
and related accrued interest on the bonds tendered for purchase and not remarketed. The interest rate on draws made under
this agreement is a defined base rate plus up to an additional 2.00% depending on the terms of the draw. The City is required
to pay the letter of credit fee throughout the effectiveness of the Agreement equal to 0.42% per annum of the average daily
amount of the available commitment. During fiscal year 2019, the City made no draws under the letter of credit and there
were no amounts drawn against the letter of credit outstanding at June 30, 2019.

Convention Center Refunding Revenue Bonds

The Convention Center Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 were issued as special limited obligations of the City to
refund the Mayor and City Council Convention Center Revenue Bonds Series 1994. The bonds are payable solely from
the revenues which consist of certain hotel taxes and certain receipts derived from the ownership and operation of the
Baltimore Convention Center. At June 30, 2019, the balance outstanding on the Series 1998 bonds was $4,425,000 of 5.0%
term bonds due to mature on September 1, 2019. Interest on the bonds is payable on March 1 and September 1 in each
year. The bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at redemption prices ranging from 102% to 100% of the
principal amount. The term bonds due September 1, 2019 are subject to redemption at par prior to maturity by operation
of a sinking fund on or after September 1, 2017, at annual principal amounts ranging from $4,220,000 to $4,425,000. These
revenue bonds have been recorded in governmental activities because they are expected to be paid by general revenues.

Stormwater Special Revenue Bond

The City has issued a Stormwater Special Revenue Bond, Series 2004 with $1,077,114 outstanding. This bond funded
various City stormwater capital projects associated with road construction. The bond is secured by a pledge of the City’s
share of state highway user revenues.

County Transportation Revenue Bonds

The City has entered into agreements with the State of Maryland to borrow County Transportation Revenue Bonds with
$107,245,000 outstanding. The proceeds from these bonds will be used to fund certain highway improvements and
stormwater projects throughout the City. These bonds are secured by a pledge of the City’s share of the highway user
revenues.

Convention Center Hotel Revenue Bonds

The City issued Convention Center Hotel Revenue Bonds in the amount of $300,940,000. The proceeds of these bonds
were used to finance the acquisition, demolition, construction and equipping of a convention center hotel in the City. The
bonds are secured by pledges of revenues from the operation of the hotel, certain City hotel taxes and limited guarantees
from the hotel operator. Bonds outstanding at June 30, 2019, consist of (expressed in thousands):

Serial bond series 2017, maturing in installments from $2,100,000 to $10,775,000 through

September 2036, with interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.00% payable semiannually ................ccooveiiiiinnn. $ 115,915
Termbonds series 2017 with interest at 5.00% due September 1,2039 ...ttt e 35,655
Termbonds series 2017 with interest at 5.00% due September 1, 2042 ... ..ottt e 41,280
Termbonds series 2017 with interest at 5.00% due September 1, 2040 .. ...ttt e e ee e 74,455

TOTALS .« $ 267,305
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Changes in revenue bond obligations for the year ending June 30, 2019, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Due within One

June 30,2018  New Debt Issues  Debt Retired  June 30, 2019 Year
Governmental Activities*
Convention Center and Hotel .........c.ccovcveieiviieieiiieeieeee. $ 277,400 $ 5670 $ 271,730 % 6,525
Transportation .. 81,83 $ 37,822 12,412 107,245 13,932
Total Govemmental Act1v1t1es i $ 359,235 $ 3782 $ 18082 $ 378975 $ 20,457
Business - Type Activities**
WALET ittt ittt ettt e et eees D 893,969 $ 173095 $ 41858 $ 1025206 $ 21,876
Wastewater .... 1,188,945 300,584 40,805 1,448,724 41,385
Stormwater .. 9,916 49,936 1,059 58,793 1,361
Parking Famhtles . 111,530 23,595 41,210 93,915 4,475
Total Busmess Type Act1V1tles $ 2204360 $ 547210 $ 124932 $ 2626638 $ 69,097

* Included in the Statement of Net Position for Governmental Activities is a remaining unamortized portion of bond premium of $52,429,000.
** Included in the Statement of Net Position for Business-Type Activities is a remaining unamortized portion of bond premium of $191,293,000.

Principal maturities and interest of revenue bonds, shown at gross, are as follows (expressed in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Transportation Revenue

Hotel Revenue Bonds Convention Center Bonds
Fiscal Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
$ 2100 $ 13,302 $ 4425 $ 111 $ 13932 $ 5,032
2,500 13,198 11,712 4,425
2,950 13,062 12,303 3,845
3,485 12,901 10,026 3,268
4,050 12,712 10,475 2,798
2025-2029 27,720 59,843 33,458 8,246
2030-2034 42,305 51,043 15,339 2,052
2035-2039 .t 53,990 39,063
2040-2044 ..o 68,910 23,774
2045-2049 ..t 59,295 5,652
TotalS ..ooeeeiiiiii i, $ 267,305 $ 244,550 $ 4,425 $ 111 $ 107,245 $ 29,666
Business-type Activities
Water Utility Wastewater Utility Stormwater Utility Parking Facilities
Swap Swap
Interest Interest
Fiscal Year Principal Interest  Rate Net(a) Principal Interest Principal  Interest Principal Interest  Rate Net(a)
2020 .. $ 21876 8 41473 (127) S 41385 $ 43128 $ 1361 $ 1779 $ 4475 $ 4979 § 2354
2021 e 28,018 43514 (127) 44742 46,086 $2,173 $2,541 4,775 4,744 2,281
2022 i 28,181 42,307 (127) 47,353 46,990 $2,222 $2,464 4,995 4,490 2,202
2023 e 29,178 41,060 (127) 47,351 46,493 $1,954 $2,384 5,190 4,227 2,102
2024 .o 29,146 39,767 (127) 53,006 44,961 $2,040 $2,300 5,565 3,953 1,976
2025- 2029 PR 166,207 177,721 (633) 268,983 197,890 $10622  $10,132 32,280 14,981 7,641
2030-2034 ..o 211,916 135,488 (607) 302,693 145,664 $9,775 $7,862 34,295 4710 2,218
2035-2039 ..o 214,786 86,017 (452) 256,958 91,561 7,620 6,046 2,340 101
2040-2044 ..o 197,792 39,758 (135) 209,068 46,247 9,265 4,363
2045-2049 ... 86,679 8,292 122,007 15,917 9,131 2,128
2050-2054 .....coviieee 11,427 191 55,178 2,501 2,630 65
Totals v $1025206 $ 655588 $ (2462) $ 1448724 $ 727438 $ 58793 $ 42064 $ 93915 $ 42185 $ 20,774

(a) Interest Rate Swap Net payments represent estimated payments for additional interest resulting from swap agreements to counterparties. The additional payments were
computed using rates as of June 30, 2019, assuming current interest rates remain the same for their term. As rates vary, variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments

will vary.
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9. Pledged Revenue
The Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Funds

The Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility Funds have pledged future customer revenue to repay $1,025,206,000,
$1,448,724,000, and $58,793,000 of revenue bond debt, respectively. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to
build and improve various aspects of the City’s Water, Wastewater and Stormwater Utility systems. The bonds are payable
solely from the revenues of the Water and Wastewater Utility Funds and are payable through 2047. Payments for the
Stormwater Utility Fund’s bonds have been made with General Funds and subsequently reimbursed from Stormwater
Utility Fund revenues. Annual principal and interest payments on these revenue bonds are expected to require 58.3% of
pledged revenues. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the revenue bonds for the Water, Wastewater and
Stormwater Utility Funds are $1,678,332,000, $2,176,163,000, and $100,857,000, respectively. Principal and interest paid
for the current year and pledged revenue for the Water Utility Fund were $60,105,000 and $118,513,000, respectively.
Principal and interest paid for the current year and pledged revenue for the Wastewater Utility Fund were $81,868,000 and
$116,587,000, respectively. Principal and interest paid for the current year and pledged revenue for the Stormwater Utility
Fund were $1,560,000 and $10,939,000, respectively.

The Parking Facility Fund

The Parking Facility Fund has pledged future revenue from parking fees and fines to repay $93,915,000 of revenue bond
debt. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to construct various garages throughout the City. The bonds are
payable solely from the pledged revenue and are payable through 2035. Annual principal and interest payments are
expected to require 26.2% of pledged revenue. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these revenue bonds is
$156,875,000. For the current year, principal and interest payments and current pledged revenue were $17,986,000 and
$68,684,000, respectively.

Tax Increment Revenue Pledges

The City has pledged a portion of future property tax revenues to repay $196,203,000 in incremental property taxes bonds
issued to finance various development projects. The pledged revenue is limited to the incremental taxes on the projects
financed by the bond. Should the incremental taxes fail to generate sufficient revenue to pay the required principal and
interest, the City has established special taxing districts to generate additional taxes sufficient to pay principal and interest
on the bonds. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these bonds is $361,476,000. For the current year,
principal and interest payments and current pledged revenue were $10,072,000 and $14,111,000, respectively.

Baltimore Hotel Corporation

The City has pledged a portion of its hotel occupancy tax as security for revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used
to build the City’s Convention Center Headquarters Hotel. The City’s hotel occupancy tax is one of several pledged revenue
sources the City used to issue $267,305,000 Convention Center Headquarters Hotel Bonds. Following the net operating
income and the property tax increment for the Hotel, the site specific occupancy tax is pledged to pay principal and interest
payments on the bonds. If these sources are insufficient, 15% (of the maximum annual debt service) of the citywide
occupancy tax is also pledged. If a shortfall still remains, and following a Hilton Hotel guarantee of 10% of the Maximum
Annual Debt Service, 10% (maximum annual debt service) is pledged. The Hotel opened August 22, 2008. Total principal
and interest remaining to be paid on these bonds is $511,853,000. For the current year, principal and interest payments
were $14,816,000.

Baltimore Convention Center

The City has pledged a portion of future revenue from Convention Center operations to repay $4,425,000 of revenue bond
debt. Proceeds from these revenue bonds were used to expand the Baltimore Convention Center. The bonds are payable
solely from pledged revenue and are payable through 2020. Annual principal and interest payments on these revenue bonds
are expected to require 100% of pledged revenue. Total principal and interest remaining to be paid on these revenue bonds
is $4,536,000. For the current year, principal and interest payments and current pledged revenue were $4,547,000 and
$4,563,000, respectively.
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10. Prior-Year Defeasance of Debt

Primary Government

In prior years, the City defeased certain revenue bonds and other obligations by placing the proceeds of new debt issues in
an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets
and the liability for the defeased debt are not included in the City’s financial statements. At June 30, 2019, $166,345,000
of debt outstanding is considered defeased.

11. Interest Rate Swaps

Obijectives of the swaps. The City has entered into swaps for three reasons: first, the majority of its swaps have been used
to create synthetic fixed rate financing (by issuing floating-rate bonds and swapping them to fixed) as a way to provide
lower-cost fixed rate financing to meet the City’s capital needs. Second, the City has used swaps from fixed to floating to
help the City manage its balance sheet for an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rate exposure. And, third, the City has
used basis swaps to amend the floating rate on certain of its existing synthetic fixed rate swaps in order to provide a better
hedge on the underlying floating rate bonds.

Terms, fair value and credit risk. The terms, fair values and credit rating of the outstanding swaps as of June 30, 2019,
were as follows. The notional amounts of the swaps match the principal amount of the associated debt. The City’s swap
agreements contain scheduled reductions to outstanding notional amounts that are designed to track the scheduled or
anticipated reductions in the associated “bonds payable” category.

Hedged Derivative Instruments

At June 30, 2019, the City had deferred liabilities for various hedged derivative instruments with the total fair values of
these instruments in the amounts of ($1,256,578) and ($8,637,826), for governmental and business-type activities,
respectively. The notional amounts for these hedged derivative instruments at June 30, 2019, were $17,620,000 and
$64,800,000, for governmental and business-type activities, respectively. During fiscal year 2019, the fair values of these
instruments increased $28,141 for governmental-type and decreased by $8,548,078 for business-type activities. All hedges
are cash flow hedges. The following schedule provides a detailed analysis of derivative instruments held at June 30, 2019:

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF BALTIMORE
SWAP PROFILE as of June 30, 2019

Effective Termination Interest Rate Interest Rate Notional Counterparty
Outstanding Bonds Date Date Paid by City Received Amount Fair Value  Credit Rating

Hedged Derivative Instruments - Governmental Activities
General Obligation Bonds
Floating to Fixed Swaps

2003 Bonds 5/14/2003 10/15/2020  4.215% 1M LIBOR $ 465000 $ (8,383) BBB+/A3
2003 Bonds 5/14/2003 10/15/2022  4.970% 1M LIBOR 17,155,000 (1,248,195) BBB+/A3
Total Governmental Activities $ 17,620000 $ (1,256,578)

Hedged Derivative Instruments - Business-type Activities

Parking Revenue Bonds Series
Floating to Fixed Swaps

2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/1/2032  6.098% 1M LIBOR $ 59,700,000 $ (8332,504) A+/Aa3
2008 Bonds 6/19/2002 7/12025 5915% 1M LIBOR 5,100,000 (305,322) A+/Aa3
Total Parking Facilities Fund 64,800,000 (8,637,826)
Total Business-type Activities $ 64,800,000 $ (8,637,826)
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Credit risk — As of June 30, 2019, the City is not exposed to credit risk on any of the outstanding swaps because the swaps
have negative fair value. All fair values were calculated using the mark-to-market or par value method. However, should
interest rates change and the fair values of the swaps become positive, the City would be exposed to credit risk in the
amount of the derivatives’ fair value. The swap agreements contain varying collateral agreements with counterparties. In
general, these agreements require full collateralization of the fair value of the swap should the counterparty’s credit rating
fall below Baa as issued by Moody’s or BBB as issued by Standard and Poor’s. Collateral on all swaps may be in the form
of cash or U. S. government securities held by the City. Although the City executes transactions with various counterparties,
two swaps or approximating 21% of the notional amount of swaps outstanding, is held with a counterparty that is currently
rated BBB+/A3. The remaining two swaps are held with a counterparty rated A+/Aa3, approximating 79% of the
outstanding notional value.

Basis risk — The City’s variable rate bonds are of two types: remarketed variable rate demand bonds (VRDBS) and auction
rate bonds (ARBs). For those swaps associated with the VRDBs and ARBs, the City receives a floating rate based on one-
month LIBOR. For two of the swaps, the City will receive a percent of LIBOR or a percent of LIBOR plus a basis point
spread, each rate was chosen to closely approximate the City’s tax-exempt variable rate bond payments. Because these
swaps are LIBOR-based, there is an additional degree of basis risk. For four of the swaps, the City receives the one month
LIBOR, chosen to approximate the City’s taxable variable rate bond payments. As of June 30, 2019, LIBOR for the prior
52-weeks ranged from 2.08% to 2.49%, whereas the City’s taxable market ranged from 1.98% to 2.44%.

Interest rate risk - For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate and receives fixed rate payments, the City is
exposed to interest rate risk. As floating rates increase, the City’s expected savings could decrease. The City would,
however, benefit from offsetting increases in its earnings on short-term investments, whose return would be expected to
go up in a higher interest rate environment.

Termination risk — The City or the counterparty may terminate a swap if the other party fails to perform under the terms
of the contract. If at the time of termination the swap contract has a negative fair value, the City would be liable to the
counterparty for that payment.

Investment Derivative Instruments

The fair value balance and notional amounts of derivative instruments outstanding are classified by type, and the changes
in fair value of such derivative instruments for the year ended June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Investment Derivative Instruments

Changes in Fair Value Fair Value at June 30, 2019
Classification Amount Classification Amount Notional
Business-Type Activities
Water Utility Fund
Floating to Floating ...............c.ccovviviviririeiieiieiien Investment Revenue  $ 1,928,904 Debt $ (1,690,624) $  (71,455,000)
Total Business-Type Activities ....................... $ 1,928,904 $ (1690624 $  (71,455,000)

Credit Risk - At June 30, 2019, the government is not exposed to credit risk on the interest rate swaps, because they are in
a negative fair value or liability position. However, if interest rates change and the fair values become positive, the City
would have exposure to credit risk. The counter party rating for the Water Utility Fund was AA-/Aa2. The change in the
fair value of investment swaps in the amount of a loss of $1,928,904 is netted and reported within the investment revenue
classification.

Interest rate risk - For those swaps for which the City pays a floating rate, the City is exposed to interest rate risk. As
floating rates increase, the City’s expected savings could decrease. The City would, however, benefit from offsetting
increases in its earnings on short-term investments, whose return would be expected to go up in a higher interest rate
environment.
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Fiduciary Fund Types

Forward Currency Contracts

The City’s Retirement Systems entered into forward currency contracts to manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates on portfolio holdings. They also entered into forward exchange contracts to settle future
obligations. A forward exchange contract is a commitment to purchase (payable) or sell (receivable) a foreign currency at
a future date at a negotiated forward rate. Risk associated with such contracts includes movement in the value of a foreign
currency relative to the U.S. dollar. Unrealized gains or losses on forward currency contracts are the difference between
the contract and the closing market value of such contract and is included in the statement of changes in fiduciary net
position as net appreciation/depreciation in the fair value of investments.

The table below summarizes the market value of foreign currency contracts as of June 30, 2019:

Forward Foreign ~ Forward Foreign Forward Foreign Forward Foreign Unrealized Net

Contracts Cost Contracts Cost Contracts Fair Contracts Fair Gain/(Loss)
Currency Receivable (a) Payable (b) Value Receivable (c) Value Payable (d) (c-a) + (b-d)
Brazilian Real ..........ccocooovvviviiiiinn 21242 $ 21,242 $ 27138 $ 21242 $ (104)
British Pound Sterling .............ccooooervinnns 293,936 293,936 294,501 294,099 402
Canadian Dollar .........ooveeueeivieeien 2,801 2,801 2,801 2,814 (13)
Chinese Yuan Renminbi ............coeeevivieinnn 880,671 880,671 880,671 888,778 (8,107)
Euro Curtency Unit ...o..eeeveevvievieeeeeeeeriei 3,207,780 3,220,161 3,207,780 3,229,847 (9,686)
Hong Kong Dollar ............ccceeevioeveriiieess 74,060 74,060 74,060 74,091 (31)
Japanese Yen ........cccoeevvuviveeiiinieeiiieeens 734,014 734,014 733,955 734,361 (406)
Pound Sterling .......c..oovereeeiiiiiiiiee e 1,901 1,901 1,901 1,906 5)
SWISS FIaNC ....oceeeviiviiiiieece e 456,612 456,612 456,685 457,193 (508)
US.Dollar ..o 4,066,564 4,114,806 4,066,564 4,066,564 48,242
TOtAl .ot D 9745581 $ 9,806,204 $ 9,746,056 $ 9,776,895 $ 29,784

Pension Plans

All City employees, other than the professional employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library and the Baltimore City Public
School System (BCPSS), who are members of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systems to which the City and
the BCPSS make no contributions, are covered under one of the following Public Employees Retirement Systems (PERS)
or the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System:

The City contributes to two single-employer defined benefit pension plans, the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement
System (F&P Plan), established July 1, 1962 and the Elected Officials’ Retirement System (EOS Plan), established
December 5, 1983. The City also contributes to two cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit plan, the Employees’
Retirement System (ERS Plan), established January 1, 1926 and the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (the
State System). The F&P Plan, the EOS Plan, and the ERS Plan (the City Plans) are each managed by a Board of Trustees
in accordance with Article 22 of the Baltimore City Code. Plan benefits provisions may be amended only by the City
Council. The City Plans are considered part of the City’s reporting entity and their financial statements are included in the
City’s basic financial statements as pension trust funds. The City Plans and the State System issue separate financial
statements which may be obtained from the following websites:

For Employees’ Retirement System and Elected Officials’ Retirement System: www.bcers.org
For Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System: www.bcfpers.org
For the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System: www.sra.state.md.us

The financial statements for the City Plans and the State System are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Employer and member contributions are recognized in the period that the contributions are due. Employer contributions
are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and
refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with terms of the Plan.
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A. PLAN DESCRIPTIONS-SINGLE EMPLOYER PLANS

Fire & Police Employees’ Retirement System
The F&P Plan covers all uniformed personnel of the Baltimore City Fire and Police Departments. Based on criteria

established by the GASB, the F&P Plan is a component unit of the City of Baltimore and is included in the City’s financial
report as a pension trust fund.

At June 30, 2018, the measurement date, the F&P membership consisted of:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits .............ooooiiiiL 6,296
ACtiVe Plan MEMDETS .. ...ttt et e et e et e et e e e e e 4,049

10 ) = ) 10,345

The F&P Plan provides normal service retirement benefits, as well as death and disability benefits. Membership in the
F&P Plan is mandatory upon employment. The F&P Retirement System does not have a vested benefit plan; however,
members have vested rights to their contributions and interest.

F&P members were required to contribute 10% of their regular compensation through payroll deduction. The employer
contributions are determined through an actuarial valuation. According to plan provisions, contribution requirements of
the plan members and the City are established and may be amended by the Mayor and City Council. The valuation method
is stipulated in the plan provisions. An expense load of 1.5% is included in the annual employer contribution requirement
to cover administrative costs.

Members are eligible for a normal service retirement if they acquire 25 or more service credit years with at least 15 years
of services credit as an F&P contributing member regardless of age, or if the member is age 55 and acquires 15 or more
years of service credit as an F&P contributing member. Normal service retirement benefits are calculated at 2.5% of the
average final compensation for the first 20 years plus 2% of the average final compensation for each year over 20 years of
service. Members are eligible for early service retirement which is a reduced retirement benefit. To be eligible for early
retirement, members must acquire 20 years of service credit with at least 10 years of service credit as an F&P contributing
member regardless of age or attain age 50 with at least 10 years of service credit as an F&P contributing member.

Members are also eligible for a deferred retirement option program, DROP and DROP 2. Members with more than 20
years of service on or before December 31, 2009 can elect to participate in DROP at any time. A member’s DROP
participation period can be for one to three years. If a member retires during the DROP participation period, the benefit
shall equal:

1. The retirement benefit that would have been paid had the member retired at the time he/she began his/her
DROP participation, plus

2. A lump sum equal to the member’s DROP account. This equals the accumulation of the annuity
payments the member would have received had the member retired, plus the member contributions paid
during the members DROP participation period, plus interest at 8.25%.

Members with more than 20 years of service on or after January 1, 2010 can elect to participate in DROP 2. On July 1,
2010, this requirement was changed to members with more than 25 years of service for non-grandfathered members. A
member’s DROP 2 participation period can be for one to three years. If a member retires during the DROP participation
period, the benefit shall equal:

1. The retirement benefit that would have been paid had the member retired at the time the member began
his/her DROP 2 participation, plus
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2. A lump sum equal to the member’s DROP 2 account. This equals the accumulation of the annuity
payments the member would have received had the member retired, plus the member contributions paid
during the members DROP 2 participation period, plus interest at 5.50% for grandfathered members and
3.0% for non-grandfathered participants.

Post-retirement benefit increases are provided to retirees and beneficiaries based on age, type of retirement and having
received benefits for two or more years as of each June 30 eligibility determination date.

Elected Officials’ Retirement System

The EOS Plan covers the Mayor, the Comptroller, and the President and all members of the City Council. Based on criteria
established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the EOS Plan is a fiduciary fund of the City of Baltimore
and is included in the City’s financial report as a pension trust fund.

At June 30, 2018, the measurement date, the EOS Plan membership consisted of:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits ...........ccocoieeiiiiiiiii .. 29
Active plan MEemMDETS ..o e e 17

K = N 46

The EOS Plan provides retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and the reduction of benefits is precluded
by the City Code. Membership in the EOS Plan is mandatory upon taking the oath of office, unless the elected official is
already a member of the Employees’ Retirement System of the City of Baltimore.

EOS plan members were required to contribute 5% of their regular contribution through payroll deduction. The City’s
annual employer contribution is determined through an actuarial valuation. Baltimore City Code grants the authority to
establish and amend the contributions of the active plan members to the Mayor and City Council of Baltimore.
Administrative costs of the EOS Plan are paid from investment earnings.

Members are eligible to retire after the earlier of acquiring at least 16 years of service credit or attaining age 50 with at
least 12 years of service credit. A member shall be entitled to receive a maximum service retirement allowance which shall
consist of:

1. Anannuity which shall be the actuarial equivalent of accumulated contributions at the time of retirement,

2. A pension, in addition to the annuity, which together shall be equal to 2.5% of the current annual earnable
compensation applicable to the office multiplied by the number of years of membership credit.

Post-retirement benefit increases are indexed to future increases in the compensation for the position held by the elected
official prior to retirement.

B. PLAN DESCRIPTIONS-MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PLANS

Employees Retirement System

ERS is a cost sharing multiple plan that covers City employees and the Baltimore City Public School System employees
with the exception of those required to join the Maryland State Retirement System, or the two other Baltimore City
retirement systems, the Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System and the Elected Officials’ Retirement System.

Based on criteria established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, the ERS Plan is a component unit of the
City of Baltimore and is included in the City’s financial report as a pension trust fund.
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At June 30, 2018, the measurement date, the ERS Plan membership consisted of:

Active plan memDETrS .. ... . . e e e 8,013
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits ........... ... . il 9,203
Inactive plan members eligible to but not yet receiving benefits ........................ 1,030
17 X = R 18,246

The ERS Plan provides service retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits. Only the Mayor and City Council
may amend the ERS Plan Provisions. The reduction of benefits is precluded by the City Code.

The ERS Plan is divided into three Classes: A, C and D for amendment of membership and benefit changes of the ERS
Plan Provisions.

Class “A” has 13 members. The “A” contributory class consists of all members hired prior to July 1, 1979 who did not
elect to transfer to Class C, the non-contributory class. Membership was mandatory on the member’s second anniversary
of employment. However, the member could voluntarily enroll within the first two years of employment.

Class “C” is composed of 7,223 members of the ERS membership and consists of all employees hired on or after July 1,
1979 who automatically become members on the first anniversary of employment, and all members hired prior to July 1,
1979 who elected to transfer from the Class “A” contributory class.

Effective July 1, 2013, Ordinance 13-144 was enacted by the Mayor and City Council introducing contributions for active
ERS Plan non-contributory members and eliminating the post retirement variable benefit increase. The Ordinance provides
that effective July 1, 2013, members will contribute 1% of pay, to continue each year at 1% increments provided that 2%
compensation is received for each year of contribution until employee contribution reach 5% of compensation.

The ERS defined benefit class “C” was closed to new members on June 30, 2014 to establish the City of Baltimore’s
Retirement Saving Plan (RSP). The RSP consist of a 401a contributory non-hybrid and a hybrid contributory defined
benefit “D” Plan. The RSP is not a separate plan, but is a separate class of the existing ERS plan, if the employee choses
to belong to the hybrid defined benefit “D” plan. The waiting period of entry for the contributory non-hybrid plan is 180
days. The hybrid contributory defined benefit plan waiting period is one year. Employees hired as of July 1, 2014 have 150
days of employment to select between the two plans. Employees who do not select a plan after 150 days of employment
will automatically default into the hybrid contributory defined benefit “D” plan. Class “D” has 807 members. The
mandatory contribution to each of the plan’s is 5%. Members have an option in both plans to contribute to the City of
Baltimore’s 457 Deferred Compensation plan and will receive a 50% match on the first two percent of their contributions.

The contributions required by the ERS Plan provisions for each membership class are as follows:

Membership classes Percentage of compensation
A 4.0%
C 1.0-5.0%*

* Class C contributions increased to 4% for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018.

Members of Classes A and B are eligible to retire at age 60 with 5 years of service or 30 years of membership service,
regardless of age. Members of Classes C and D are eligible to retire at age 65 with 5 years of service or 30 years of service,
regardless of age. Early retirement is allowed at age 55 with 5 years of service payable at age 65 or reduced for payment
before age 65. Benefits for service retirement are paid as follows:

Classes A and B — The sum of:
1. An annuity of the actuarial equivalent of a members accumulated contributions; and,

2. A pension, which together with the annuity shall equal 1.935% (Class A) or 1.785% (Class B) of
average final compensation times years of service.
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Class C:
A pension of (1) 1.6% of average final compensation times years of service up to 30 years, plus (2) .25% of
average final compensation in excess of covered compensation, times years of service up to 30 years, plus
(3) 1.85% of average final compensation, times years of service in excess of 30 years.

Class D:

A pension of 1.00% of average final compensation, times years of service. If the member retires at or after
age 62 with at least 20 years of service the member receives an enhanced benefit of 1.10% of average final
compensation times years of service.

Maryland State Retirement and Pension System

Certain City employees are covered by the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System, primarily employees of the
Sheriff’s Office. The State system is comprised of the Teachers’ Retirement and Pension Systems, Employees’ Retirement
and Pension System (ERPS), and Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System (LEOPS). The City employees currently
participate in the Employees’ Retirement and Pension System, and the Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System, with
the majority participating in the LEOPS Plan. The State System was established by the State Personnel and Pension Article
of the Annotated Code of Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits to State employees, teachers,
police, judges, legislators, and employees of participating governmental units. The State Plans are administered by the
State Retirement Agency. Responsibility for the System’s administration and operation is vested in a 15- member Board
of Trustees.

Membership in the LEOPS is a condition of employment of the Baltimore City Sheriff’s Department. LEOPS consists of
two separate components a retirement plan (closed to new members January 1, 2005) and a pension plan. Members
contribute either 5%, 6% or 7% of annual earnable compensation, depending on whether the member elected to receive
limited or unlimited COLA’s or whether the member is subject to pension or retirement plan provisions. The City’s total
required contributions during the year ended June 30, 2019 was $3,343,000.

LEOPS members are eligible for full service retirement allowances upon attaining age 50 or upon accumulating 25 years
of eligibility service. For members subject to retirement plan provisions, full service retirement allowances equal 2.3% of
average final compensation (AFC) for the first 30 years of creditable service, plus 1.0% of AFC for each additional year.
For members subject to the pension system provisions who became members of LEOPS on or before June 30, 2011, full
service pension allowances equal 2.0% of AFC for the three highest consecutive years as an employee. For members
subject to pension system provisions on or after July 1, 2011, full service pension allowances equal 2.0% of AFC for the
five highest consecutive years as an employee. LEOPS members are not eligible for early service retirement allowances,
but are eligible for disability and death benefits if certain conditions are met.

LEOPS members are eligible to participate in a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP). To participate, the LEOPS
members must have at least 25 years of creditable service, but less than 30 years. Depending on the entry date of the
member into DROP, the retirement allowance is placed into an account earning either 6% or 4% interest.

At June 30, 2019, the City reported a liability of $35,463,000 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of the
State System. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportionate of the net pension
liability was based on actual employer contributions billed to participating government units for the year ending June 30,
2018. The contributions were increased to adjust for differences between actuarial determined contributions and actual
contributions by the State of Maryland. As of June 30, 2019, the City’s proportionate share was .1690%.
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C. NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)

The measurement date for the City Plans and the State System is June 30, 2018. Measurements are based on the fair value
of assets as of June 30, 2018. The following schedules are the net pension liability (NPL) or the net pension asset (NPA)
and the sensitivity of the NPL or NPA to the discount rate.

The component of the net pension liability (asset) of the City Plans is as follows:

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Fire and Police Employees'  Elected Officials'

Retirement System Retirement System
Total PENSION HADIHLY ... ..ovieeiies ittt ettt et et e $ 3,884,617 $ 15,261
Less: plan fiduciary et POSILION .. ...ceueuien i iiet ettt et et et e et e e 2,691,302 26,197
Net pension Hability (BSSET) ....e.oeienriitie ettt ettt et ettt e ee e $ 1,193,315 $ (10,936)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability (asset) .............cccoeevevinennnn 69.3% 171.7%
The actuarial assumptions and the current year contributions for the City Plans are:
(Expressed in Thousands)
Fire and Police Employees' Elected Officials' Retirement
Retirement System System Employees' Retirement System
Contributions TEqUITEd ............cevvroereerersireieeeis et e D 137,738 $ 87,542
% of Contribution made .. 100.00% 100.00%
Covered PAYIOLL .......couiveiiiec i 323,351 304,333
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of retumn:
Pre-retitemMent .........ccoeeveveiirieririirierireire e e 7.50% 7.00% 7.50%
POSE ICHICIIENE ... v 7.50% 7.00% 6.50%
Projected salary INCIASES ........ccoovrivvereaeiiireeeeinie e 3.00% 2.5% 2.65%
Includes inflation rate at . 3.00% 2.5% 2.65%
Cost-of-living adjustment ... 3.00% 25% 15-2.0%
MOTEAIEY v e s RP-2014 Blue Collar RP 2000 Health Mortality RP 2000 Health Mortality
Mortality Table using the ~ with projections using 50% with projections using 50%
RPEC_2014 Model of Scale AA projected 15 of Scale AA projected 15
years with a 2 year set years with a 2 year set
forward for males and females forward for males and females
Last Experience Study Covered ........oooiiiioiiiiiiiiiiiiceieies July 1,2015- June 30,2018 July 1, 2010 - June 30, 2014 July 1, 2010 - June 30, 2014

The actuarial assumptions and the current year contributions for the State System are:

(Expressed in Thousands)
Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System
CONIIIDULIONS MAAE e et ettt et ettt ettt ettt et e ettt e et e et re e r e D 3,343
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of retumn: 745%
Projected Salary MCIEASES ...........ceeveieeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeceeiiieiiisiesssrereereereseeeeeseeenaeeeseees e 3.10%0 10 9.10%, including inflation
INFTAHION TAEE ..ottt ettt erseresresresneenesneee e enns 2.0000 QENET, 3.10% Wage

MOTEALIEY vt eve ettt et erese e se e se e srsirs s ssssnsaresnesnesneseeeee e RP-2014 MoTtality Tables
with generational mortality
projections using scale MP-2014,
calibrated to MSRPS experience\
Last Experience Study COVEIed .....ccoooiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiecee s s st se s sniiiinieesneereereceeeneeneens 2040 = 2014
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D. EXPECTED RETURNS, DISCOUNT RATE AND DEFERRED INFLOWS/OUTFLOWS
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments for the City Plans and the State System was determined
using a building block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates (expected returns, net of pension
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce

the long-term expected rate or return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Best estimates of arithmetic real rate of return for each major asset class included in the City Plans’ target asset allocation
are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return/Target Allocation

Fire and Police Employees* Elected Officials* Employees’
Asset Class Retirement System Retirement System Retirement System
U.S. @qQUItIES ...t e 4.5%/22.5% 7.3%/39% 7.3%/27.0%
International eqUIti€s ...ttt e 5.2%/24.5% 7.7%/21% 7.7%/20.0%
Private equities .. ... ... 7.3%/10.0% 11.2%/13.0%
Fixed INCOIMIC .. .ot e e e e 3.1%%6/13.0% 3.2%/25% 3.2%/22.0%
Real @State .. ... e 4.6%/10.0% 7.4%/10% 7.4%/13.0%
Hedge funds .. ...t e e 3.5%/10.0%
Energy MLP ..o e e el 6.0%6/5.0%
PriVALE ENETEY -« enncnt ettt e e e et et et e e e et et e e e e e e 7.3%/5.0%
Cash L. 1.5%6/0.0%
Defensive EQUItIES .. ... 6.9%/5% 6.9%/3.0%
RISK Premuium .o oo it ittt e e et e e e 6.3%/2.0%

The F&P Plan - The projection of the cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions and employer contributions will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code and the written
contribution policy. Based on these assumptions, the Fire and Police Plan retirement contribution was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments for current members until the last payment for the current covered
population is made as of the June 30, 2018 measurement date. The discount rate used to determine the total pension liability
as of June 30, 2018 is 7.50%.

The EOS Plan - The projection of the cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code. Employer contributions were assumed to be made in
accordance with the contributions policy in effect for July 1, 2016 actuarial valuation. As of June 30, 2018, the plan is fully
funded and the amortization of the surplus is greater than the normal costs resulting in a required contribution amount of
zero. The discount rate at June 30, 2018, 7.00%, is the assumed long-term expected rate of return on EOS investments.

The ERS Plan - The projection of the cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will continue to be made at the rates specified in the City Code. Expected member contributions for FYE 2017 were 4%
of pay increasing to 5% of pay for FYE 2018 will continue to increase annually up to 5% of compensation thereafter.
Employer contributions were assumed to be made in accordance with the contribution policy in effect for the
July 1, 2016 actuarial valuation. Based on these assumptions, the ERS Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments for current members until the last payment for the current covered
population is made as of the June 30, 2018 measurement date. The discount rate at June 30, 2018 is 7.50% for active and
terminated vested participants and 6.50% for in-pay participants. The assumed long-term expected rate of return on ERS
investments is 7.50%.
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The major asset classes included in the State System’s target asset allocation and returns are summarized in the following
table:

Maryland State Retirement

Asset Class and Pension System

DU o) FTuR T O 5.8%/37%
Private ©QUITIES .. .une ittt ettt et e ettt e et e ettt et ee e et e e e et et e e e 6.7%/13%
D 1 13 15 T 1.1%/19%
(@ <Te BTareY o) o Yo} wa b Ee 1 1 PN 3.6%/9%
ST R TS P 4.8%/14%
PN oY L (0t o o Pt 3.2%/8%

The State System -The projection of cash flows used to determine discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference
between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
The discount rate at June 30, 2018, 7.55%, is the expected long-term rate of return on State System investments.

The sensitivity of the net pension liability (asset) presents the net pension liability (asset) of the City Plans and the State

System calculated using the current discount rates as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 - percentage-point lower or 1- percentage-point higher than the current rate.
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Sensitivity of the pension liability (asset) to changes in the discount rate:

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate

1% Increase

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System 6.25% 7.25% 8.25%
Net pension liability ... i $ 1649652 $ 1193315 $ 814,280
Plan fiduciary net posrtron as a percentage of total pension habrlrty e 62.0% 69.3% 76.8%

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate
Elected Officials' Retirement System 6% 7%

1% Increase
8%

Net pension (asSet) ......o.vveeevrvereeenne. SEUURUTOPPRTPRRS. (9452) $ (10,936)
Plan fiduciary net p0s1t10n as a percentage of total pension (asset) 156.4% 171.7%

$

(12,209)
187.2%

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate

1% Increase

6.50% Active Part.  7.50% Active Part.  850% Active Part.

Employees' Retirement System (City of Baltimore Portion) 5.50% Retired Part.  6.50% Retired Part. ~ 7.50% Retired Part.

Net pension liability ... —— i 8 7746% $ 565892 $ 388,310
Plan fiduciary net posrtron as a percentage of total pension habrhty e 64.3% 71.1% 78.2%

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System 6.55% 7.55%

1% Increase
8.55%

$

19,516
4119

(Expressed in Thousands)

Total City Plans and State (exclude Baltimore City Public School Portion) 1% Decrease  Current Discount Rate

1% Increase

Net pension Hability ..........c...oooviviiereioiiiireeeiiiniiieeceiie e eseiiiiiaee D 2474325  $ 1,794,670

$

1,226,225

(Expressed in Thousands)

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate

1% Increase

6.50% Active Part.  7.50% Active Part.  8.50% Active Part.

Employees' Retirement System (Baltimore City Public Schools Portion) 5.50% Retired Part. ~ 6.50% Retired Part.  7.50% Retired Part.

Net pension liability ... e B 178610 $ 130470 $ 89,527
Plan fiduciary net posrtlon as a percentage of total pension habrhty e 64.3% 71.1% 78.2%
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Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows- The reported deferred outflows/inflows of resources associated with the City
Plans and the State System is as follows:

(Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ..............cooeviieeeeeenn.. $ 140,453
Differences between actual and expected eXperience ...........oooiiuiiiiiiiiiieeannnn 2858 $ 24,147
Assumption change .. . 64,788
Differences between actual and prOJected CATNINES « ettt e eeeaeeaeannae 20,945

<72 PPV 229,044 % 24,147

( BExpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Elected Officials' Retirement System Resources Resources

Differences between actual and expected experience .........ccccevvveieeiieiieeneneee.. $ 593

Differences between actual and projected earnings ...........coeviiieiieiiiiiiinnnnn $ 551
B <1 Y OO PRV 593 $ 551

( Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Maryland State Retirement and Pension System Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date .............ccoociiiiieeeiea.. $ 3,283
Differences between actual and expected eXperience ............cc.ueeeieiiieieieiennnnnn.. $ 2,593

Change in proportionate Share ........ ... ittt e e

Assumption change .. 1,034
Differences between actual and pro_]ected CATNINES « ettt eeeaee et 2,751 1,729
<2 PPV 7,068 $ 4,322

( BExpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of

Deferred Inflows of

Employees' Retirement System (City of Baltimore Portion) Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ............ccocoiiiiii i $ 74,136
Differences between actual and expected eXperience .........ooeveeeieeiiiiiiianeeeeen.. 11,105 $ 2,793
Change in proportionate share ........ ... 5,302 10,312
Assumption change .. .. 4,235
Differences between actual and prOJected CAIMINES . euteeee e et eeeceeee e ee e et enaee 342

0T 7 1 PPN $ 95,120 $ 13,105

(Expressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of

Deferred Inflows of

Total City Plans and State (exclude Baltimore City Public School Portion) Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ..............cceeviiiiiiin.... $ 217,872

Differences between actual and expected eXperience ...........co.uveiiiiieienennnnnn.. 14556 $ 29,533

Change in proportionate Share ............oooiiiit it it 5,302 10,312

Assumption change .. 70,057

Differences between actual and pro_]ected CATNINES « ettt ee e aeeaee e 24,038 1,729
<2 POV 331,825 $ 41,574

( Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of

Deferred Inflows of

Employees' Retirement System (Baltimore City Public Schools Portion) Resources Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date ............ccocoiiiiiiiiii.. $ 15,453
Differences between actual and expected experience .... 2561 $ 644
Change in proportionate share ..............c..ccoeoiiil. 10,312 5,302
Assumption change .. . 977
Differences between actual and prOJected CAIMINES . vtieee e eeteetiieaae e ee e eeeannnnee 79

Y 7 ) PSP 29,382 $ 5,946
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A summary of the net deferred outflows/(inflows) of resources to be recognized in pension expense in future years for the
City Plans and the State System is presented below:
(Expressed in Thousands)

Employees'

Retirement System

Fire and Police Employees' Retirement (Baltimore City

Employees' Retirement  Elected Officials’ System (City of Public Schools

Deferred outflows (inflows) for years ended June 30: System Retirement System  Baltimore Portion) Portion)

2020 e $ 53496 $ 286 $ 11625 $ 11,781
202 e 23,404 76 2442 2475
(7,939) (249) (4,593) (4,654)
(4,517) (71) (1,596) (1,618)
TOtAL $ 64,444 $ 42 $ 7878 $ 7,984

(Expressed in Thousands)

Maryland State
Retirement and

Deferred outflows (inflows) for years ended June 30: Pension System

202 O S $ 946
20720 145
202 e (1,017)
2023 e (501)
D024 e (110)
TOtAL Lo $ (537)

In addition to the amounts disclosed above $217,872,000 in deferred outflows of resources related to contribution
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June
30, 2020.

E. PENSION EXPENSE AND CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)
Pension expense (income) includes charges in the net pension liability (asset), projected earnings on pension plan
investments, and the amortization of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources for the current period.

The components of pension expense for the City Plans are as follow:

(Expressed in Thousands)

Employees' Retirement System
Fire and Police Employees'  Elected Officials'  Employees' Retirement System  (Baltimore City Public Schools
Retirement System Retirement System  (City of Baltimore Portion) Portion)
Pension expense (INCOME) ......vvvevvvreuesisrireirinicrsirisissis st 9 171073 § (216) $ 5,100 $§ 20,887
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The schedule of the changes in net pension liability (asset) and related ratios for the City Plans for the year ended
June 30, 2019 is as follows:
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Fire and Police Employees' Elected Officials' Retirement

Retirement System System

Total pension liability

Interest (included interest 0N SEIVICE COSL) ..uvvvviruurrireiiieeireeriie e eriie e erie e e $ 275,197 $ 1,023

Service cost .. 70,244 221

Changes ofbenefts terms . (64)

Changes in assumptions.. 86,384

Differences between expected and actual experience. . (20,544) 245

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contnbutlon.....‘.‘H‘.‘..‘..........M.‘.H. (246,971) (1,110
Net change in total pension Hability ............ccccuviiriiriiiiie e 164,310 315
Total pension liability - BEZINNING .....c..ovvviiiiieiiet et 3,720,307 14,946
Total pension liability - €ndiNg ........cc.ooiiiiiiiietiiiet e $ 3,884,617 $ 15,261
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net NVESTMENT MCOIMIE . ..vvevveteteet et e et ee et et et et e et et et e et e e e e e ees $ 211,668 $ 2,309

Contributions - employer. 137,738

Contributions - member .. 31,286 69

Benefit payments, mcludmg refunds ofmember contnbutlon (246,971) (1,110

Administrative expense .. (4,984) (37)
Net change in plan fiduciary net posmon 128,737 1,231
Plan fiduciary net position - BEZINNING ........cc.ouuvimeiieiietire e 2,562,565 24,966
Plan fiduciary net position = ending .........coeciviiiieiieiire e 2,691,302 26,197
Net pension liability (asset) - ending .........c.ccoeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e D 1,193,315 $ (10,936)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability ...............c.ccovevne.n. 69.28% 171.7%
Covered PAYTOLL. . ....cccvuuiiiiiiii ettt D 323,351 $ 1,399
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll ...........ccocovvinenne.. 369.05% -781.7%

F. ALLOCATION OF PLANS

ERS balances have been allocated between the government activities, business-type activities (Enterprise funds), and
discretely presented component units as follows:

(Expressed in Thousands)

Component
Employee Retirement System e Enterprise Funds----------------------—- Unit
Employees' Nonmajor
Retirement  Governmental Proprietary  Baltimore City
System Activities Water Wastewater Stormwater Fund Public Schools
Net pension liability (asset), end of year ........ocoovviviiiieecciii. $ 696362 $ 445867 $ 56,702 $ 51,383 $ 8941 $ 2999 $ 130,470
The total of all retirement plan balances for City (City Plans and State Plans) are shown below:
(Bxpressed in Thousands)
City Plans and State of Maryland
Employees'
Fire and Police Elected Retirement  Maryland State
Employees' Officials'  System (City Retirement Primary
Retirement Retirement  of Baltimore System Government
System System Portion (LEOP/ERPS) Total
Net pension liability (asset), end of Year .....ocvvvieiiiiiieiiiieii e S 1193315 $ (10,936) $ 565892 $ 35463 $ 1,783,734
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G. THE UNFUNDED POLICE DEPARTMENT RETIREMENT PLAN

Additionally, the City’s Police Department is the administrator of the City’s unfunded single-employer defined benefit
local retirement plan. The plan is managed by the City’s Police Department under the Code of Local Laws of Baltimore.
All employees eligible for this plan were hired prior to January 1, 1947. All 9 members of this plan are currently retired
and the City plans to pay benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis until all obligations have been fulfilled. The unfunded accrued
liability represents the actuarial present value of future benefits based on assumed annual salary increases of 3.0%, and a
discount rate of 3.13%. There is no covered payroll for the plan. The City’s annual contributions equal the employee
benefits paid under the terms of the plan. The City’s employer contributions for the last three years are as follows:

Three - Year Trend Information
(Expressed in Thousands)
Employer Contribution Net Pension Liability

June 30,2019 ... $ 189 $ 677
June 30,2018 ... 241 763
June 30,2017 ..o 281 941

H. THE MARYLAND STATE RETIREMENT AND PENSION SYSTEMS — BCPSS

The BCPSS employees, who are not covered under the City’s ERS, are members of the Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System.

Under Maryland law, the Baltimore City Public School System (BCPSS) is not required to make any contributions to the
State Systems. City Schools and covered members are required by State statute to contribute to the System. Members of
the Teachers’ Pension System are required to contribute 7% annually. Members of the Teachers’ Retirement System are
required to contribute 5-7% annually, depending on the retirement option selected. The contribution requirements of the
System members, as well as the State and participating governmental employers are established and may be amended by
City Schools of Trustees for the System. Contributions are deducted from participant’s salary and wage payments and are
remitted to the State on a regular, periodic basis.

The State of Maryland pays, on behalf of the BCPSS, the employer’s share of retirement and pension costs to the State
Systems for teachers and related positions. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the State paid $62.9 million in such
costs. This amount has been recorded by the BCPSS as both revenue and expenditure in the General Fund in the
accompanying Statement of Activities. The Special Funding arrangement between BCPSS and the State is disclosed in the
BCPSS’s financial statements.

The State also makes contributions on behalf of the Enoch Pratt Free Library employees. The State’s contribution for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, was $2,135,000. This amount has also been recognized as both revenue and expenditure
in the accompanying Statement of Activities.

|. DEFERRED COMPENSATION

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section
457. The plan, available to all employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The deferred
compensation is not available to employees or other beneficiaries until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable
emergency.

The City has no administrative involvement and does not perform the investing function. The City has no fiduciary
accountability for the plan and, accordingly, the plan assets and related liabilities to plan participants are not included in
the basic financial statements.
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13.Other Postemployment Benefits
A. PLAN DESCRIPTION

The City of Baltimore provides other postemployment benefits (OPEB) to all qualified City and BCPSS employees. The
Plan is a contributory cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit plan. The benefit and contribution provisions of the
Plan are established and may be amended by the City. The Plan provides postemployment healthcare and prescription drug
benefits to retirees and their beneficiaries. Retirees may choose from two health plan options and four levels of coverage.

The following schedule outlines the eligibility requirements to participants in the Plan by employee group:

Post Retirement Medical Benefit Eligibility Requirement*

Employee Group Requirement
Maryland State Retirement and Pension Systens ....................cooeoe..o.. Ifhired before January 1, 1980: Age 60 or 30 years of service
If hired on or after January 1, 1980: Based on age at retirement and years of service
Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System.................cc.ccveeoenne.. Ifhired before July 1, 2003: Age 50 with al least 10 years of service or 20 years of service
If hired after July 1, 2003: Age 55 with al least 15 years of service or 25 years of service
Employees' Retirement System & Elected Officials' Retirement System...... If hired before July 1, 1979: Age 60 with at least 5 years of service or any age with 30 years of service

If hired after July 1, 1979: Age 55 with at least 5 years of service or any age with 30 years of service

*Allemployees are eligible for disability benefits depending on years of service and reasons for disability.

In order to effectively manage the Plan, the City established an OPEB Trust Fund. All retiree and City contributions are
deposited into the Trust Fund and all retiree related health and life insurance benefits are paid from the Trust Fund. The
City also contracted with the Board of Trustees of the Employees’ Retirement System to act as investment manager for the
Trust Fund. BNY Mellon Bank Asset Saving is the Trust Fund’s asset custodian. The Plan does not issue standalone
financial statements; however, the OPEB Trust Fund is included in the City’s financial statement as a fiduciary fund.

The number of participants in the Plan as of July 1, 2018 per actuary report was as follows:

Number of Participants

Baltimore
City Public
City School Total
ACHIVE CIMPLOYEES ..ottt ittt ettt et e e et e e 12,214 8,727 20,941
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits ....................... 9,234 5,743 14,977
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits ..................o.. 1,026 1,026
e 1 PP 22,474 14,470 36,944

B. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF THE OPEB TRUST FUND

Basis of Accounting - The financial statements for the OPEB Trust Fund are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer contributions are
recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

Method Used to Value Investments - Plan investments are reported at fair value. Securities traded on national and
international exchanges are valued at the last reported sale price at the current exchange rates.

C. FUNDING POLICY

The City’s policy is to fund benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis plus make additional contributions comprising the federal
retiree drug subsidy payments and an additional annual appropriation. Retirees are required to contribute at various rates
ranging from approximately $57 to $2,193 on a monthly basis, depending on the health plan and level of coverage elected
and whether Medicare supplemental coverage is present. In addition, retirees contribute 20% toward the prescription plan
coverage. Administrative costs of the Plan are covered by the City.
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D. ACTUARIAL METHOD AND ASSUMPTIONS

Data was obtained from an actuarial valuation prepared by an independent actuary made as of June 30, 2018, using census
data and recent health care costs information which was provided by the City.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the
employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical
pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

The actuarial method used is the Entry-Age Normal (EAN). Under the EAN cost method, the actuary develops a “normal
cost” that can be expected to fund projected benefits at retirement for a new entrant into the plan. The normal cost of
benefits are calculated as a level percentage of covered payroll. The unfunded actuarial liability is being amortized over 30
years on a level dollar basis.

The discount rate is based on the rate of return expected to be earned by the assets used to pay to benefits, if the plan is
appropriately funded. The liability discount rate is based on the actuary’s review of the current and historical commitment
the City has shown to fully fund the plan, and our determination that current assets plus future contributions will be
sufficient to cover all future benefit payments. The plan will not incur a “depletion point”. The discount rate used is 7.00%.
Assets are valued at fair value. Past service costs are calculated using the level dollar method with a closed amortization
period of 30 years. The valuation also assumes a 5.50% healthcare trend for fiscal year 2018, reduced by decrements to a
rate of 3.84% in 2075. Salary increases were not considered as OPEB benefits and OPEB benefits are not based on pay.

Inflation .....ooovivinii e 2.75%
Salary increases, including wage inflation ................. 2.75%-3.50%
Discount rate

Prior measurement date .....................c..e..... 7.00%

Measurement date ............c.cooeeviiiiiiiiieinn, 7.00%
Long-termexpected asset return for current

measurement date ...............occoeiiiiiiiiiinnnn. 7.00%
Health care cost trends ..............co.eeeeeeieivnenneene.. 5.50% for 2018 decreasing to an

ultimate rate of 3.84% by 2075

E. NET OPEB LIABILITY (NOL) AND DISCOUNT RATE

Beginning with the plan year ending June 30, 2018, the City has implemented GASB Statement No. 75 “Accounting and
Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions.” This requires the City to account
for those benefits on a full accrual basis and the net OPEB liability is reflected in the City’s financial statements.

The measurement date for OPEB liability is June 30, 2019 and the valuation date is as of June 30, 2018. The Total OPEB
Liability (TOL), the Plan Fiduciary Net Position (i.e. fair value of the Plan assets), and the NOL as of June 30, 2019 is as

follows:
(Expressed in Thousands)

BCPSS
City Portion  Portion Total
Total OPEB Hability .. ... ..ottt ittt ittt e et ettt e et e et ee e ee et eeeeiee e eee e eeeeeeee ... $1,808,278  $ 332,715 $ 2,140,993
Less: plan fiduciary net POSIHION .. ...o.. ittt et e e e e e 547,719 100,778 648,497
Net OPEB HaDIIEY ...ttt e ettt et e e et e ee e e e ettt ee et ee e et ee e teee e eieeee e eeeeeeeeee $ 1,260,559 $ 231,937 $ 1,492,496
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability ...............c.ccciciiiin.. .. 30.3% 30.3% 30.3%
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Changes in the discount and healthcare trend rate affect the measurement of the TOL. Because the trend rates do not affect
the measurement of assets, the percentage change in the NOL can be very significant for a relatively small change in the
trend rates. The table below show the sensitivity of the NOL to the discount rate and trend.

(BExpressed in Thousands)

Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decrease
Health Care Cost Trend Rates 8.00% 7.00% 6.00%
) e ST o T= Y < R $ 1,197,796
LG B = 1 $1,233,620 1,492,496 $ 1,811,814
B I3 5 e <2= W= < L 1,865,489
(Expressed in Thousands)
Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decrease
Health Care Cost Trend Rates (City Portion) 8.00% 7.00% 6.00%
) I e LT 2= R $ 1,011,656
Current ............. $1,041,913 1,260,559 $ 1,530,254
I3 5 e <:2= W= < L 1,575,588
(Expressed in Thousands)
Current
1% Discount
Increase Rate 1% Decrease
Health Care Cost Trend Rates (BCPSS Portion) 8.00% 7.00% 6.00%
B I e LT < 2= R $ 186,140
L o S o R $ 191,707 231,937 $ 281,560
B I3 1 5 e =1 = ¥ < T 289,901

F. DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS

The reported deferred outflows/inflows of resources associated with the plan are as follows:
( Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

OPEB Resources Resources
Differences between actual and expected eXperience ............cooooeuiiiiiieiunieiaean $ 175,688
Change in assumptions or other inputs........... .. $ 274,563
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments... 9,949

0 2 Y P $ 284,512 $ 175,688

(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

OPEB (City of Baltimore Portion) Resources Resources

Differences between actual and expected eXperience ...........cooviiiiiiiiniennaean $ 131,625

Change in assumptions or other inputs.......... . et $ 204,672

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments... 7,416

Change in proportionate Share ...ttt 28,657 880
0 Y T $ 240,745 % 132,505

( Bxpressed in Thousands)

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

OPEB (Baltimore City Public School Portion) Resources Resources

Differences between actual and expected eXperience ...........cooveeuiiiiiieiunieniaean $ 44,063

Change in assumptions or other inputs........... .. $ 69,891

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments... 2,533

Change in proportionate Share ............o.oiii it 532 28,309
oY 2 Y PP $ 72,956 $ 72,372
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The net deferred outflows/inflows of resources to be recognized in OPEB expense in future years is presented below:
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Baltimore City Public

Deferred outflows for years ended June 30: City Portion Schools Portion Total
2020 .t $ 23388 $ 126 $ 23514
202 s 23,388 126 23,514
202 s 23,388 126 23,514
2023 s 22,476 121 22,597
202 et 15,600 85 15,685
TOtal .o $ 108,240 $ 584 $ 108,824

G. OPEB EXPENSE

The OPEB expense includes charges in the net OPEB liability and projected earnings on plan investment and is presented

as follows:
(Expressed in Thousands)

Baltimore City Public

City Portion School Portion Total

SEIVICE COST ..ottt it et e e e e e e et e e e e e e e et $ 28,954 $ 1,002 $ 29,956
Interest on total OPEB liability .. 96,925 3,356 100,281
Current-period benefit ChANZES .. ...t ittt et . 544,869 18,865 563,734
Difference between expected and actual experience in the total OPEB liability ........... (33,961) (1,176) (35,137)
BExpensed portion of current-period difference between expected

and actual return on INVEStMENT .. ... ...ttt e 2,626 91 2,717
Expected investment return net of investment expenses . 54,062 1,872 55,934
Projected earnings on plan investments ..................... (40,713) (1,410) (42,123)
OPEB expense June 30, 2019, . ... uun ittt ittt s e s it e e e e ae e teaae e eeean $ 652,762 $ 22,600 $ 675,362

H. COMPONENT ALLOCATION

OPEB balances have been allocated between the governmental activities, the business-type activities (Enterprise Funds),
and the discretely presented component unit as follows:
(Expressed in Thousands)

Component
Enterprise Funds Unit
Governmental Nonmajor Proprietary  Baltimore City Public
Total OPEB Activities Water Wastewater Stormwater Fund Schools
Net OPEB Liability, Beginning of Year ..... $ 862,102 $ 564431 $ 2281 $ 21,782 $ 3501 $ 1806 $ 247,751
OPEB EXpense .........c.c.c... 675,362 647,276 2,556 2,286 428 216 22,600
Employer Contributions (124,579) (82,025) (5,824) (5,648) (836) (441) (29,805)
Deferred Outflows/(Inflows) .......... . 79,611 79,496 3876 4081 536 231 (8,609)
Net OPEB Liability, End of Year ..... $ 149249% $ 1209178 § 23439 § 2501 $ 3629 § 1812 § 231,937

.Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts: theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and
omissions; injuries to employees; civil rights violations; and natural disasters. The City’s risk financing techniques include
a combination of risk retention through self-insurance and risk transfer through the purchase of commercial insurance. The
risk management program services all claims for risk of loss, including general liability, property and casualty, workers’
compensation, unemployment compensation, automobile physical damage and bodily injury, and sundry other risks.
Beginning in fiscal year 2013, the City has included the accounting for violations of a person’s civil rights. The civil rights
liability is recorded within the General Fund. Commercial insurance coverage is provided for each property damage claim
in excess of $500,000 with a cap of $550,000,000. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of
the past three years. The City also provides medical insurance coverage for all employees and retirees. Employees are
required to pay a percentage of the annual cost of the medical plans and the remaining costs are paid by the internal service
program.

All funds of the City and the Baltimore City Public School System participate and make payments to the risk management
program based on actuarial estimates and historical cost information of the amounts needed to pay prior and current year
claims. As of June 30, 2019, the City has determined that the range of potential claims liability for the program to be
between $362,948,000 and $396,240,000. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported
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(IBNR). This liability, which has been discounted at 3.0% at June 30, 2019 does not include the effects of inflation,
incremental or other allocated or unallocated claim adjustment expenses, salvage, or subrogation, as such factors are not
considered material.

Changes in the Risk Management Program claims liability in fiscal years 2019 and 2018 were (amounts expressed in
thousands):

2019 2018
Unpaid claims, DEZINNING .. ... ettt e e e e et et e ettt e ee e e $ 358505 $ 327,521
Claims INCUTTEA .. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 256,719 298,291
() 375 0 S o 7= 1 T s (252,276) (267,307)
Unpaid claims, ending .. ...ooouii ittt e et iiae e iiaiiiiaaeiiiaaiieeciiaaeeiaeeeeaeeee.. P 362,948 $ 358,505

The City estimates that $89,075,000 of the estimated claims liability is due within one year.
15. Operating Leases
The City has entered into a number of operating leases for rental of office facilities and equipment, some of which provide

for increased rentals based upon increases in real estate taxes and common area maintenance fees. As of June 30, 2019,
future minimum lease payments are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands):

TOtAL ..o i B 27,848

All leases contain cancellation provisions and are subject to annual appropriations by the City Council. During fiscal year
2019, rent expenditures approximated $28,804,000 for all types of leases. Approximately $24,544,000 in expenditures are
related to governmental activities and $4,260,000 are related to business-type activities. These expenditures were made
primarily from the General Fund.

The BCPSS has entered into a lease for rental of office equipment. During the year ended June 30, 2019, rent and lease
expenditures approximated $1,200,000. These expenditures were made primarily from the General Fund. As of June 30,
2019, future minimum lease payments approximate $1,061,000, which relates to July 1, 2019 through July 1, 2022 when
the leases expire.

16. Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

State and federal laws and regulations require that the City place a final cover on its landfill site and perform certain
maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site for a minimum of thirty years after closure. In addition to
operating expenses related to current activities of the landfill site, an expense provision and related liability are being
recognized based on the future closure and postclosure care costs that will be incurred near or after the date the landfill no
longer accepts waste. The recognition of these landfill closure and postclosure care costs is based on the amount of the
landfill used during the year. The estimated liability for landfill closure and postclosure care costs is $25,423,000 as of
June 30, 2019, which is based on 81.17% usage (filled capacity) of the landfill. This is a decrease in the liability of
$549,000, and a decrease in the usage of 2%, since June 30, 2018. It is estimated that an additional $5,899,000 will be
recognized as closure and postclosure care expenses between the date of the balance sheet and the date the landfill is
expected to be filled to capacity (the year 2026). The estimated total current cost of the landfill closure and postclosure
care, $31,323,000, is based on the amount that would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to close,
monitor, and maintain the landfill were acquired as of June 30, 2019. However, the actual cost of closure and postclosure
care may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in the landfill laws and regulations. The City does
not expect to pay any closure and postclosure care costs during fiscal year 2020.
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Governmental
Activities
Balance June 30, 2018 .. ..o oeor ettt e e e B 25,972
Decrease N ESTIMALE ... ...veviieieit ettt e e e e e e e e e ee e ee e et e e et et ee e e a e (549
Balance June 30, 2010 .. ..o oiu o e i B 25,423

DIUC TN OTIC YOAT ... vt et et et et et e et et e et e et e et et e et et e et e et et et et et et et et et st et st s e e e eeseesaenens

In addition, the City is required by State and Federal laws and regulations to make annual contributions to finance closure
and postclosure care. The City is in compliance with these requirements, and at June 30, 2019, cash and cash equivalents
of $24,889,000 were held in the City’s General Fund. In addition, the General Fund’s fund balance was appropriately
reserved. Itis anticipated that future inflation costs will be financed in part from earnings on investments held by the City.
The remaining portion of anticipated future inflation costs (including inadequate earnings on investments, if any) and
additional costs that might arise from changes in closure and postclosure requirements (due to changes in technology or
more rigorous environmental regulations, for example) may need to be covered by charges to future landfill users,

taxpayers, or both.
17. Notes and Mortgages Receivable
Notes and mortgages receivable as of June 30, 2019, consist of the following:

A. The General Fund has notes receivable of $269,514,000 net of a $1,000,000 allowance for losses. A note receivable
from the Baltimore Hotel Corporation for $267,305,000 bears interest at rates ranging from 3% to 5% and mature over
30 years. A portion of this note receivable totaling $265,205,000 is scheduled to be collected in 2020 through 2046.
The other portion of the notes receivable unrelated to the Baltimore Hotel Corporation is for notes totaling $2,209,000
net of a $1,000,000 allowance for losses. These notes bear interest rates ranging from 1.0% to 12.0% over 30 years.

B. The Parking Facilities Fund has mortgages receivable of $34,074,000 collateralized by real property. These notes bear

interest at rates ranging from 6.1% to 6.9% and mature over 30 years. A portion of this note receivable totaling
$31,677,000 is scheduled to be collected in 2020 through 2036.
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The composition of the fund balances of the governmental funds for fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, are as follows
(amounts expressed in thousands):

Grants Capital Governmental
General*  Revenue  Projects  Other Funds Funds

Fund Balances

Nonspendable:
Reserved for Other @SSELS .....vvvrvvreesierier it ettt $ 3,028 $ 3,028
Restricted:
BAUCHON ..ottt $ 2,460 2,460
Highways and STrEets .........ccvioeiveiieiie et $ 31,000 6,387 37,387
Sanitation and waste 1emoval ...........ccoeoveiiiiiiiiiiii i 47,321 41,321
Debt service........... 383,773 383,773
PUBLiC TBIATY .o 2,362 2,362
Recreation and CUITULE ......c.veiveei e ettt 6,848 6,848
TOtAl LESTIICIEA .. ..vev et 431,094 31,000 18,057 480,151
Assigned to:
GENETAl GOVETMIMENE ... v e e 75,435 56,946 5,806 138,187
Public safety and regulation .............ccoooeioeioeiieine i 59,120 59,120
Conservation of health .... 5507 $ 21,606 27113
SOCIALSEIVICES e eeee et ettt e e ettt ettt e eees 3,678 3,678
BAUCALION et 87,000 3731 90,731
PUbLic HBIATY ... 3493 3493
Recreation and CUMUIE .........coooiiiiiiiiiciie e 5499 5,499
Highways and STreets .........coceoeiveiieiie e 6,377 6,377
Sanitation and Waste remOVal ..........cccoviiiiiiines i 4532 4532
Public SEIvice .....uvvveeeeiieeieeeeeee 2,905 2,905
Economic development ...........cccoeeveiveiiieeneee e 3,706 7,392 11,098
Total aSSIZNEA™ * .......eiviieiie et 257,252 21,606 56,946 16,929 352,733
Unassigned 145,945 145,945
Total fund Balances ...............c.ecieiiiiiiiiii et $ 837319 $ 21606 $ 87946 $ 34986 $ 981,857

* General fund unassigned fund balance includes $145,945,000 for the budget stabilization reserve.

** The assigned fund balance include encumbrances as follows: General Fund $100,456,000, Grants Revenue Fund $21,606,000, Capital Projects $56,946,000, and
Other Funds $12,891,000

19. Commitments and Contingencies

The City is party to legal proceedings which normally occur in governmental operations. The City provides for the
estimated losses on certain outstanding claims as discussed in Note 14. The City has determined, in consultation with
outside counsel that certain claims are in too early of a stage to make a reasonable assessment of the City’s liability. The
City vigorously contests such claims as a matter of policy and will fully assert all available remedies, including the
$400,000 ceiling per individual claim. It is the opinion of City management, in consultation with outside legal counsel,
that any additional liability for remaining litigation will not be material to the City’s financial position or results of
operations.
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The City has received Federal and State grants. Entitlement to grant resources is generally conditioned upon compliance
with terms and conditions of the grant agreements and applicable Federal and State regulations, including the expenditure
of the resources for eligible purposes. Substantially all grants are subject to financial and compliance audits in accordance
with grantors’ requirements. Any disallowances as a result of these audits become a liability of the City. As of June 30,
2019, the City estimates that no material liabilities will result from such audits.

The Northeast Maryland Waste Disposal Authority Act was enacted by the Maryland General Assembly to assist in the
provision of waste disposal facilities for the Northeast Maryland area, including the facilities for the disposal of wastewater
treatment residue. The City agreed to perform the obligations of the Authority. The current agreement, approved in March
2008, provided that the Authority and Mayor and City Council of Baltimore “the City” entered into a service agreement,
through June 30, 2013, with Veolia Water North America-Central, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which now
owns and operates the facility. The agreement has now been extended through June 30, 2019. The agreement allows the
Wastewater Utility to deliver up to approximately 2,167 wet tons of sewerage sludge per month and to pay a tipping fee
comparable to alternative methods of sludge disposal currently being used by the Wastewater Utility. The debt service on
variable rate bonds has been satisfied and is no longer a component of the tipping fee. The Wastewater Utility’s current
tipping fee expense per wet ton for delivering sewerage sludge was $94.16 and $45.82 up to the guaranteed and excess
tonnage amounts, respectively. Payments under the agreement in fiscal year 2019 were $2.9 million. The maximum
commitment by the City is 26,004 wet tons per year.

The Wastewater Utility also has an agreement with Synagro-Baltimore, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Synagro
Technologies for processing biosolids at the City’s Back River and Patapsco Wastewater Treatment Plants. Under the
agreements, the Wastewater Utility delivers approximately 14,000 dry tons of biosolids per year at each facility and pays
base and service tipping fees. The debt service on the bonds is a component of the tipping fees. The base tipping fee at the
Patapsco Wastewater Treatment Plant terminated in fiscal year 2019 with the completion of debt service payment. The
average service tipping fees were $424.15 and $421.90 per ton for the Back River and Patapsco Wastewater Treatment
Plants, respectively. Payments under the agreements in fiscal year 2019 were $15.1 million. The agreements extend to
2025 for the Back River and 2027 for the Patapsco Wastewater Treatment Plants.

In 2002, the City voluntarily entered into a Consent Decree to rehabilitate its sanitary sewer system and address sanitary
sewer overflows (SSOs). The 2002 Consent Decree expired on January 1, 2016. On October 6, 2017, the U.S. District
Court approved a Modified Consent Decree (MCD). The Modified Consent Decree supersedes the 2002 Consent Decree
and provides a revised schedule to address SSOs through a hybrid level of protection. The Modified Consent Decree is
one of many that the U.S. Department of Justice has negotiated with major cities with aging sewer infrastructure. These
efforts are ambitious and the costs are estimated at $2.7 billion, which is comprised of $1.6 billion in costs incurred through
June 2019; $90 million projected for completion of Phase | through January 1, 2021 (capital only); $691 million projected
for completion of Phase Il through December 31, 2030 (capital only); and $303 million projected for related costs,
including program management, flow monitoring, asset management, and preventative maintenance.

The MCD is composed of two (2) phases. Phase | provides the greatest environmental benefits and constructs the
Headworks Project at the Back River Wastewater Treatment Plant. Phase Il further increases hydraulic capacity to achieve
the hybrid level of protection against SSOs. The City will continue to address sewage backups and sanitary discharges of
unknown origin (SDUOs), while performing proactive maintenance throughout the sanitary sewer system. The City will
also implement an Expedited Reimbursement Program that budgets up to $2 million per year from the Wastewater Utility
to reimburse City homeowners up to $2,500 per dwelling, per incident for reasonable, verified disinfection and cleanup
costs arising from verified sewage backups resulting from surcharging in the sanitary sewer system caused by wet weather.
Applicants must exhaust applicable insurance coverage before seeking reimbursement, and applications must be filed
within 90 days after the incident — historical backups are not eligible. In exchange for reimbursement of reasonable,
verified expenses, applicants must sign a waiver for any claim to compensation for cleanup or disinfection arising from the
incident. Eligibility under the Expedited Reimbursement Program is not premised on a determination of liability, and the
program is limited to City homeowners and renters who meet the above criteria. Collectively, the MCD extends the
deadline to address SSOs to December 31, 2030. A close-out report is due by July 31, 2033.

Several Baltimore Police Department officers have filed a complaint against the City of Baltimore and the Baltimore Police

Department, alleging violations of the Fair Labor Standard Act. The matter has been conditionally certified by the Court
as a collective action. Discovery is progressing, and there is currently no estimate of the amount of the damages claimed.
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20. Beginning Balance Adjustments

Discretely Presented Component Units

As of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, the BCPSS did not record its proportionate share of the pension liability and
related amounts related to its participation in the City’s cost sharing retirement plan. The BCPSS also did not record its
proportionate share of net OPEB liability and related amounts related to its participation in the City’s other post-
employment benefits (OPEB). For June 30, 2019, the City made adjustments to the BCPSS financials statements to correct
the BCPSS’s financial statements. As such, the City has included the BCPSS’s financials, after adjustments, in the
accompanying financials statements. The auditors for the City have audited the adjustments made to the BCPSS financial
statements as listed below. The adjustments to the BCPSS financial statements were to include the BCPSS proportionate
share of the net pension liability for those employees in the Employees’ Retirement System of the City of Baltimore (ERS)
and the BCPSS proportionate share of the net OPEB liability for employees eligible for other postemployment benefits as
of June 30, 2019 and related deferred outflows, deferred inflows and expense. Additionally, the required footnote disclosure
for such balances have also been added to the notes to the financial statements.

The adjustments recorded are listed below:
(Expressed in Thousands)

Adjustments for recordation Adjustments for recordation Restated per City's

As reported by BCPSS of Net Pension Liahility of Net OPEB Liability Financial Statements
Deferred 0utflows ......covevvieicieiecei i $ 20382 $ %6 $ 102,338
Net pension Bability .........c.eovevrrvrrvrivririreiresensenns 130,470 130,470
Net OPEB liabilty ........ 231,937 231,937
Deferred inflows ...... 5,946 72312 78,318
EXDENSES ...vovvoeveveicerrnis e § 1425332 4763 (7,205) 142289
Net position, June 30,2019 ..........c.coovvreereiriiivioor. 9 1088070 $ (107,032) % (23133 $ 719,685

21.Tax Abatement

As of June 30, 2019, the City approves Tax Abatements and Payment In Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) for the purpose of
encouraging economic development and to provide better residential housing for the disabled and senior citizens:

e The economic development program provides PILOTs to businesses, landowners and developers to substitute
payment for annual real estate taxes with negotiated payment called PILOTs for a specific period of time. PILOTs
are granted on qualifying projects which would not otherwise be undertaken without the City’s support. The
program is administered under the authority of the Property Tax Article of the State Annotated Code Title 7
Property Taxes Subtitle 5 Exemptions. Abatements are obtained by application to the Baltimore Development
Corporation (BDC) with final approval by the City’s Board of Estimates.

e The disable and senior residential housing program provides PILOTs to developers and not-for profit
organizations who provide housing for disabled and senior citizens to replace their annual real estate taxes with a
negotiated payment for a specific period of time. PILOTSs are granted on qualifying projects which would not
otherwise be undertaken without the City’s support. The program is administered under the authority of the
Property Tax Article of the State Annotated Code Title 7 Property Taxes Subtitle 5 Exemptions. Abatements are
obtain by application directly to the City’s Department of Housing. Final approval rests with the City’s Board of
Estimates.

Additionally, the State of Maryland makes PILOT payments to the City for various port facilities that are operated by the
State. The amount below reflects the amount of tax revenue that was reduced in the current fiscal year.
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(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Amount of

Tax Abatement Program Taxes Abated
Economic development

Market based hOUSINE ........iiiiitie ot D 5,724

Business deVEIOPIMENT ... .iuviviniit ittt et ee e et e et e et et et e et e e e e e e e e e s et e re e n 11,000

(21 2 RO 308
ATIOrdable NOUSING ... ettt et et et et et et et et e et ettt et et et e e et et e e 8,775
State of Maryland Port AULNOTILY ... .ouviin ittt ettt et et et ee et et e te e s e et e e et e et e e ae s e e eaeaens 2,632
TOTAL L. e e e B 28,439

22. Subsequent Events

On August 29, 2019, the City entered into two Master Lease Purchase Agreements with Grant Capital Management, Inc.
totaling $23,970,000 to purchase motor vehicles and heavy equipment for the Department of General Services. One
agreement was for $4,373,000, with a 6-year term and an interest rate of 2.69%. The other agreement was for $19,597,000
with a 10-year term and an interest rate of 3.017%.

On November 1, 2019, the City entered into a Master Lease Agreement with Grant Capital Management, Inc. to refinance
an existing lease agreement in the amount of $2,895,000 for a 5-year term with an interest rate of 2.6423%. The refinancing
reduced the total debt service by $57,000 annually.

On November 22, 2019, the City entered into a Water Quality Loan Agreement with the Maryland Water Quality Financing

Administration Water Quality Revolving Loan in the amount of $9,601,000 and $9,622,000. The rate on interest is set at
0.50%, maturing February 1, 2043 and February 1, 2050, respectively.
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances,
and Changes in Fund Balances — Budget and Actual — Budgetary Basis(1), (2), (3)
General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Variance with

Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget  Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Taxes - local............... $ 1,424,189 $ 1,440,907 $ 1,535,001 $ 94,094
State shared revenue 142,877 142,877 146,085 3,208
Licenses and permits. 37,037 37,037 38,880 1,843
Fines and forfeitures ... ... .o i ettt e et et e e e e 26,016 26,016 34,939 8,923
Interest, rentals and other investment income........ ..., 29,531 29,531 46,140 16,609
Federal grants.. 300 300 (300)
State grants..... 100,978 100,978 96,393 (4,585)
Other SIants .. ... ... e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 26 26 26
Charges fOr CUITENT SEIVICES . . cuu ittt e et e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 52,815 52,815 48,971 (3.844)
Miscellaneous...........ooooiiiiiiiii i 2,867 2,867 8,560 5,693
Total revenues.. 1,816,636 1,833,354 1,954,995 121,641
Expenditures and encumbrances:
Baltimore City Public SChool Sy Stem. . ... ..ottt ittt ae 278,412 278,412 279,247 (835)
Board of Liquor License COMMISSIOMNETIS .. ...t ittt ittt e e ae e eea e 2,265 2,265 2,108 157
City Council........oooiiiiiiiii i 7,481 7,481 7,263 218
Civil Service Commission 12,270 12,270 9,831 2,439
Comptroller. ... .ot e 8,444 8,444 7,109 1,335
LT 17,165 17,165 16,875 290
Department Of FINANCE. . ...ttt et e e e e et e e eaea s 28,453 28,453 28,078 375
Department of Fire.. . 239,600 246,600 239,688 6,912
Department of General Services.. 13,852 13,852 11,578 2,274
Department of Health. 46,746 46,746 38,986 7,760
Department 0fl—lous|.n5 and Con’]rnunlty Development.........o.c.oooiia 65,622 65,622 65,126 496
Department of Law.. 8,780 8,780 8,290 490
Department osz:;,lslatlve Reference. 1,244 1,244 1,083 161
Department of Municipal and Zoning Appeals. s 633 633 584 49
Department of Planning. ... ... 5,752 5,752 5,583 169
Department of Police.. 507,056 512,056 513,139 (1,083)
Department of Public Works. 111,199 112,699 109,843 2,856
Department of Recreation and Parks....................o.. .. 42,158 42,158 39,067 3,001
Department of TranSpoOrtation . ... ... o.uiutn ittt et ee s 129,352 139,352 125,502 13,850
Enoch Pratt Free Library.........o..oooiii i 27,226 27,226 25,666 1,560
Mayoralty.. . 236,918 242,135 229,005 13,130
Office of Civil nghts 2,270 2,270 1,907 363
Office of Financial Review. 770 770 763 7
Office of Sheriff. . ... e 22,189 22,189 21,513 676
Office 0f State's AttOIMEY .. ..ottt et et ettt et e 36,897 36,897 36,087 810
Supervisor Of EIeCtiONS .. ...ttt ittt ittt 10,793 10,793 7,525 3,268
Total expenditures and encumbrances 1,863,547 1,892,264 1,831,446 60,818
Excess of revenues over expenditures and encumbrances.. (46,911) (58,910) 123,549 182,459
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers I . ... e 39,670 39,670 116,563 76,893
Transfers out. (107,986) (107,986) (97,937) 10,049
Total other ﬂnanculg sources (uses).. .. . (68,316) (68,316) 18,626 86,942
Net changes in fund balances.............coooiiiiiiiiii .. (115,227) (127,226) 142,175 269,401
Fund balances - beginning ............o.iiiiiiiiii i 772,895 772,895 772,895
Fund balances -ending................ $ 657,668 $ 645,669 915,070 $ 269,401

Adjustments to reconcile to GAAP bas
Residual Equity Transfer In

Addition of encumbrances outstanding.................c.iiii 93,302
Less: Accounts payable not recorded for budgetary purposes
and other GAAP adjustments ..............cooiiiiiiiiiiiuininon. (171,053)
Fund balance - June 30, 2019 (GAAP baSiS)......ouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaena.. $ 837,319

(1) Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community Development Block Grant Funds
and the Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, except for certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are
not budgeted and encumbrances which are recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

(2) The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated revenues. The budget includes: (1) the
programs, projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2) the estimated resources (inflow) and amounts available for appropriation, and
(3) the estimated charges to appropriations. The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City
Charter prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation.

(3) This schedule does not include a non-budgetary revenue and expense item in the amount of $2,135,000 which was paid by the Maryland State Retirement
System on behalf of the City of Baltimore for certain employees of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.
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CITYOFBALTIMORE
Scheall of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Employees' Retirement System Plan
For the Year Ended June 30,2019

(Expressed in Thousands)
YAk 2016 00 218 219
City's shae 0fthe net PESION HADIKLY . .vvevv v vrvervsvrsrres s s s 85.9% 1%  800% - BL5%  7T250%
City's proportionate shae of the net pension Habilty ......vvvevvvosssssrsssssssissssssmsssneenns 9 0098 & 61423 SEMOT9  §597470  $ 565892
City's covered payroll... e . . . 44809 UTES6 39693 318999 3433
City's proportionate share of he et pension hablh fy as a percentage of its covered employee payroll 17 25% 6me  200% 8% 185%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage ofthe total pension Babity ... vervven s 67.63% B00% 6L 6% TLU%
The reporting date s June 30, 2019 and the measurement date s June 30, 2018,
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Employees" Retirement System Plan
For th Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Bressed in Thousands)
Description ol b JA) am 28 20
Actuarially determined contrbution ., § BT S TO® S G072 § 6885 § 634l § T35
Contrbution in reltion fo heactuanallydetemnnedcontnbutlon....'................'....'.......'................'....'.......'............ 858 (AE) 61,704 65,904 Bl 05
CONEUEION ETEENCY (BI0ESS) s s § B) S GBS M) s @ § $
Covered payrol... § B0 5 EE § 3968 0§ AW S WU § UL
Connbu10nasapercenlaoeofcoveredpayroll 265 B 0% A% NH N4
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-ERPS
For the Year Ended June 30,2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

2016 2017 2018 2019
City's share of the net pension Hability ...............c.eevervoiiiriiecnsriiiei s 0.02% 0.02% 0.03% 0.03%
City's proportionate share of the net pension Hability ...............o.cveevvrerevrrarsivrsreiernens $ 455§ 584 § 7000 $  693%
City's covered payroll..... . 952 850 1,400 1423
City's proportionate share of the net pension habrlrty asa percentage of its covered employee payroll 482.7% 693.4% 500.0% 481.2%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension Hability ............coiiviiiiiiiiiiii 66.27% 62.97% 66.71% 68.36%
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2019 and the measurement date is June 30, 2018.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-ERPS
For the Year Ended June 30,2019
(Expressed in Thousands)
Description 2015 2016 2017 2018
Actuarially determined contribution ................. e D 56 § 48 $ 659 § 659
Contribution in relation to the actuanally determmed contnbutron RO 466 486 659 659
Contribution deficency (EXCESS) .. vvveremrvesasererresaserresesieesssenressssersssesessssens $ 0 S $ $
Covered payroll..... s $ %2 $ 850 § 1400 $ 1413
Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll 48.95% 51.18% 47.01% 46.30%
Note: 2019 data is not available.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-LEOPS
For the Year Enced June 30,2019
(Expressed in Thousands)
2016 2017 2018 2019
City's share of the net pension Hability ..............ocvvvvvivivieiie i 0.11% 0.13% 0.13% 0.14%
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 28518 § 30244 § W59 § 2858
City's covered employee payroll .... 172 214 220 232
City's proportionate share of the net pension habrhty asa percentage of its covered employee payroll 13708% 14165.2% 12982.3% 12301.8%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liabilty ... 61.30% 58.88% 62.80% 63.82%
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2019 and the measurement date is June 30, 2018.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System-LEOPS
For the Year Enced June 30,2019
(Expressed in Thousands)
Description 2015 2016 2017 2018
Actuarially determined contribution .. $ 232 0§ 2497 0§ 2497 0§ 271
Contribution in relation to the actuanal]y determrned contnbutron 2,392 2497 2497 2711
Covered payroll ... s 172 214 220 232
Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll 1390.70% 1166.82% 1135.00% 1169.03%

Note: 2019 data is not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios
Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System - Single Employer Plan

Pension Trust Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

(Expressed in Thousands)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total pension liability

Interest (includes interest 0N SEIVICE COS) ..vuvrvrrrrrrivrareriereeesiereeessiee s e sesere e er e P 248633 $ 256,066 $ 260,001 $ 296,220 $ 275,197

Service cost 65,548 66,199 70,730 70,987 70,244

Change in assumption . 35,494 86,384

Differences between expected and actual experience .. 1,3% 28,065 11,353 (17,476) (20,544)

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions . (219,808) (223,359) (237,195) (245,080) (246,971)
Net change in total pension Hability ..............ccoccoviniiiiiiiiinnns 95,769 162,465 104,889 104,651 164,310
Total pension liability - DEGINNING ........oveevuierivioeiiiec e et 3,252,533 3,348,302 3,510,767 3,615,656 3,720,307
Total pension Hability - eNAING ............coveerierieii ittt D 3348302 $ 3,510,767 $ 3,615,656 $ 3,720,307 $ 3,884,617
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net iNVESMENE MCOME ... cv.e ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt eee D 312131 § 53526 $ 2982 $ 291,978 $ 211,668

Contribution - employer .. 113,004 118,190 120,279 129,689 137,738

Contribution - member ... 28,058 30,130 30,339 29,902 31,285

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions . (219,808) (223,359) (237,195) (245,080) (246,970)

AdminiStrative eXPeNSe .........vveeeriereeererierereienirer e (3,786) (4,281) (4317 (4,328) (4,984)
Net change in plan fiduciary NEt POSION ....vvviveeeeietireeeiiiee e e 229,599 (25,794) (87,972) 202,161 128,737
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning ..... 2,244,571 2,474,170 2,448,376 2,360,404 2,562,565
Plan fiduciary net position - ending .. 2,474,170 2,448,376 2,360,404 2,562,565 2,691,302
Net position liability (asset) - ending .... 874132 § 1062391 $ 1255252 $ 1,167,742 $ 1,193,315
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability .... . 73.89%% 69.74% 65.28% 68.88% 69.28%
Covered PAYTOLl.....cc.ueviviieiiiec et $ 290581 $ 320408 $ 298,779 $ 296,357 $ 323351
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll . 300.82% 33L51% 420.13% 390.66% 369.05%
The reporting date is June 30, 2019 and the measurement date is June 30, 2018.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios
Elected Officials’ Retirement System - Single Employer Plan
Pension Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Total pension liability

Interest (includes iNtErest ON SEIVICE COSE) ...uurrriivirieneeieiiiieeeee et e B 1177 $ 1219 $ 983 ¢ 9%5 $ 1,023

Service oSt ......ooeen. 399 410 260 250 221

Changes of benefit terms (64)

Change in assumption ... (3523) 315

Differences between expected and actual experience ................ (256) (440) (474) 662 245

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (725) (765) (763) (933) (1,110)
Net change in total pension Hability ..............ccooooeiveiiiiiiineiniiiine 595 (3,099) 321 944 315
Total pension liability - beginning .... 16,185 16,780 13,681 14,002 14,946
Total pension liability - ending ........ 16,780 $ 13681 $ 14,002 § 14946 $ 15,261
Plan fiduciary net position:

Net iNVEStMENT INCOMIE ... .vveveeee st ete e e e et e eee et ee s e e e et e e e e ee et e ae e e s srainaneenees B 3508 $ 629 $ 45 ¢ 3116 $ 2,309

Contribution - employer .. 307 85

Contribution - member ... 56 61 62 90 69

Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (725) (765) (763) (934) (1,110)

Administrative expense ................ (32) (33) (35) (55) (37)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position . 3114 (23) (691) 2,217 1231
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning . 20,349 23,463 23,440 22,749 24,966
Plan fiduciary net position - ending .. 23,463 23,440 22,749 24,966 26,197
Net position liability (asset) - ending ... (6,683) $ (9,759 $ 8.747) § (10020) $ (10,936)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability . 139.83% 171.33% 162.47% 167.00% 171.70%
Covered payroll ... $ 1267 $ 1,298 $ 1334 ¢ 1297 $ 1,399
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of covered employee payroll (527.37)% (751.38)% (655.700% (772.55)% (781.70)%

The reporting date is June 30, 2019 and the measurement date is June 30, 2018.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions-Single Employer Plans
Ten-Year Trend Information
Pension Trust Funds
(Expressed in Thousands)

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Fire and Police Employees' Retirement System:
Actuarially determined contribution ...........cccccveveeee.. $ 94098 $ 107540 $ 107488 $ 107,779 $ 113843 $ 119020 $ 121,115 $129689 $ 137,738 $141,326
Contribution in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution ........... 94,098 107540 107,488 104,779 113,843 119,020 121,115 129,689 137,738 141,326
Covered payroll ... e 276577 275648 284,601 271524 292,739 322,667 300,855 296,357 323351 322,382
Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll ....... 34.02%  39.01% 31.771% 38.84% 38.89% 36.39% 40.26%  43.76% 42.60%  43.84%
Elected Officials' Retirement System:
Actuarially determined contribution ...........ccocccocoeeeeee. $ 340 $ 957§ 998 $ 419 $ 307 $ 85
Contribution in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution ............cccoeeevvieniiiiiiinns 340 957 998 419 307 85
Covered payroll ...........ccocooiiiiiiiie, 1,206 1,206 1,237 1,236 1,267 1,299 1,334 1,297 1,399 1,363
Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll........ 28.19%  79.35% 80.68% 33.90% 24.23% 6.54% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Source is individual Retirement Systems' stand-alone audit reports.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liabilities and Related Ratios
OPEB Fund
For the Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

2017 2018 2019
Total OPEB Liability
Service COSt at €N OF YEAT ...t it ittt ettt et ee et et et e e et et e e e e et et e e $ 29652 $ 30,838 $ 29,956
Interest . .. 93,367 94,514 100,281
Changes ofbeneﬁt term...... 563,734
Difference between expected and actual experience .. (210,824)
Changes of assumption 0T Other MPULS . ....co.iiuititt it ittt ettt ettt e et et e e e e e e e 30,644 304,959
Benefits payments .......... (106,880) (106,352) (97,821)
Net changes in Total OPEB Llablhty 16,139 49,644 690,285
Total OPEB Liability - DEGINMING .. .. oeuiitittt it ettt e et e et e et e e et et et et e e e e eeee 1,384,925 1,401,064 1,450,708
Total OPEB Liability = €nding (&) .. ... eeu et oetait ittt et ettt ee et et et et e ettt te e e e eeeeeeee D 1,401,064 $ 1,450,708 $ 2,140,993
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
ContribUtION = BMPIOYET ... tunt ottt ettt et et et et e et et et e e et e e et e e e e e et et ee e e e e e e e ae s $ 138,931 $ 145,466 $ 124,579
Net investment income . 46,166 32,933 33,133
Benefit payments ........... . (106,880) (106,352) (97,821)
Net change in Plan FrdumaryNetPosmon 78,217 72,047 59,891
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - begmmng 438,342 516,559 588,606
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - ending (b) 516,559 588,606 648,497
Net OPEB liability - ending (a) - (b) .... $ 884,505 $ 862,102 $ 1,492,496
Note: This is the third year of presentation per GASB 74. T his will build into a 10 year schedule.
2017 2018 2019
Total OPEB HADILILY . ... ettt ottt et ettt e e e e e e ettt et e et et e neeee B 1,401,064 $ 1,450,708 $ 2,140,993
Plan fiduciary net position .. 516,559 588,606 648,497
Net OPEB liability .. . . 884,505 862,102 1,492,496
Plan Fiduciary Net Posmon asa percentage ofthe Total OPEB Llablhty e 36.9% 40.6% 30.3%
Covered payroll .. 1,464,035 1,345,680 1,196,671
Net OPEB llabrllty asa pcrccntagc ofcovcrcd payroll 60.4% 64.1% 124.7%
Average money weighted rate of return.................. 10.5% 6.4% 5.8%
Note: This is the third year of presentation per GASB 74. This will build into a 10 year schedule.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)
2017 2018 2019
City's share of the net OPEB liability ... 714% 71.3% 84.5%

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB hablhty $ 625170 $ 614351 $ 1,260,559

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability as a percentage of its covered employee payroll 42.7% 64.1% 124.7%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB Hability ............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieie s 36.9% 40.6% 30.3%
Note: The reporting date is June 30, 2019 and the measurement date is June 30, 2018.
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Ten-Year Trend Information
OPEB Fund
(Expressed in Thousands)
2019
Actuarial determined contribution .. PO PO PR TPPRUPPPPRRTPTRRR. S ¥ (o X 14
Contributions in relations to the actuanal determmed contnbutlons 124,579

Contribution deficiency (excess) . . $ 50988
Covered payroll ... $ 1,196,671
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 10.41%

Note: This is the first year of presentation, per GASB 74. This will build into a 10 year schedule.
Prior to 2019 this information was not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
(Unaudited)

1. Budgetary Data

Annual budgets are adopted for the General Fund and all Special Revenue Funds, except for Grants Revenue, Community
Development Block Grant Funds and the Scholarship Fund, on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, except for certain miscellaneous general expenditures which are not budgeted and encumbrances which are
recognized as expenditures for budgetary purposes.

The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation to estimated
revenues. The budget includes: (1) the programs, projects, services, and activities to be provided during the fiscal year, (2)
the estimated resources (inflows) and amounts available for appropriation, and (3) the estimated charges to appropriations.
The budget represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented, and controlled. The City Charter
prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation.

The following procedures establish the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:
Original Budget
(1) City agencies submit their anticipated annual budget needs to the Department of Finance during December.

(2) From December through March, the Mayor and the Department of Finance analyze, review, and refine the budget
submittals.

(3) In April, the Director of Finance sends its recommended budget plan to the Board of Estimates. The Board then holds
hearings and the recommended budget is amended as necessary. Citizens have the opportunity to offer input before the
Board votes on the budget.

(4) In May, a majority vote of the Board of Estimates approves the total budget and sends it to the City Council. The Board
of Estimates must submit the proposed budget for the next fiscal year to the City Council at least 45 days before the
beginning of said fiscal year. The Board of Estimates prepares a proposed Ordinance of Estimates to be submitted to the
City Council. The Ordinance of Estimates is the legal authority for the enactment of the budget.

(5) The City Council then holds hearings on the proposed Ordinance of Estimates, with additional citizen input before it
votes in June. The City Council shall adopt the budget at least five days before the beginning of the fiscal year. The City
Council then sends the approved Ordinance of Estimates to the Mayor.

(6) The Mayor then either approves the total Ordinance of Estimates, or disapproves some items and approves the rest of
the Ordinance of Estimates.

Final Budget
The final budgetary data presented in the basic financial statements reflects the following changes to the original budget:

(1) Appropriations for a particular program, purpose, activity, or project may, upon the recommendation of the head of the
municipal agency concerned and the Director of Finance, and with the approval of the Board of Estimates, be carried over
to the subsequent fiscal year to carry out the initial appropriation objectives. All appropriations not carried over lapse at
the end of the fiscal year in which they were made. In addition, funds encumbered for contracts, purchase orders, approved
requisitions or other actual commitments, as well as funds dedicated to grant programs and capital improvements are
carried out over the ensuing fiscal year until utilized or cancelled.

(2) The adopted budget is prepared and appropriated on an agency, program, activity, and object of expenditure basis by
fund. Purchase orders which result in an operating or capital overrun are not released until additional appropriations are
made available. Expenditures for each adopted operating budget may not legally exceed appropriations at the agency level.
Administratively, the Department of Finance has the authority to move appropriations between activities of the same
program within the same agency. The Board of Estimates has the authority to transfer appropriations between programs
within the same agency. Only the City Council can transfer appropriations between agencies.

(3) The City Charter permits further appropriations for programs included in the original Ordinance of Estimates made
necessary by material changes in circumstances and additional appropriations for new programs or grant awards which
could not reasonably be anticipated when formulating the original Ordinance of Estimates. These changes require
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
(Unaudited)

supplemental appropriation ordinances. During fiscal year 2019, a supplemental appropriation ordinance was required for
the general fund in the amount of $28,718,000.

Budgetary data, as revised, is presented as required supplementary information for the general fund and the motor vehicle
fund.

2. Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability, Schedule of Employer Contributions, Schedule
of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios

The City Plans are considered part of the City’s reporting entity and their financial statements are included in the City’s
basic financial statements as pension trust funds. Each plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes
financial statements and the required supplementary information for that plan. The State System Plans are included in the
City’s basic financial statements in governmental activities and these plans also issue a publicly available financial report.
Financial statements for the City Plans and the State System may be obtained from the following websites:

For Employees’ Retirement System and Elected Officials’ Retirement System: www.bcers.org
For Fire and Police Employees’ Retirement System: www.bcfpers.org
For the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System: www.sra.state.md.us

3. Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability and Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
The City of Baltimore provides other postemployment benefits (OPEB) to all qualified City and BCPSS employees. The

OPEB Trust Fund does not issue separate financial statements but is included in the City’s financial statements as a
fiduciary trust fund.
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Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted to expenditures for particular
purposes.

Community Development Block Grant, Special Racetrack Funds, School Construction, Baltimore Casino, State Video
Lottery Terminal Funds, Table Games Fund and Affordable Housing Trust Fund - These funds account for revenues
derived from certain State shared taxes, governmental grants and other revenue sources that are restricted by law or
administrative action to expenditures for specific purposes.

Scholarship Fund - This fund accounts for the contributions received and related interest income. The fund can be used
to provide scholarships to City residents.

Permanent Funds

Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, not principal, may
be used for the purposes that fund and support the reporting government’s programs.

Enoch Pratt Free Library Fund - This fund accounts for principal trust amounts received and the related interest income.
The interest portion of the trust can be used for the operations of the Enoch Pratt Free Library.

Memorial Fund - This fund accounts for the principal trust amounts received and the related interest income. The interest
portion of the trust can be used by the City for memorials.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2020
(Bxpressed in Thousands)

Special Revenue Funds Permanent Funds
Community State Video Enoch Total
Development ~ School Lottery Affordable Pratt Free Nonmajor
Block Grant ~ Construction Baltimore ~ Terminal ~ Scholarship ~ Table Game Housing Trust Library - Memorial Governmental
Fund Fund  CasinoFund  Fund Fund Fund Fund Total Fund  Fund  Total Funds
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents........................... $ 719§ 2159 $ 209 § 4455 $ 5588 § M1 2460 $22441 $  52% 323§ IS 2816
TOVESHMENIS. ..o 826 826 2299 6510 8809 9,635
Other receivables, net. 139 3 142 1 15 26 168
Due from other government.................cocevvner 1,652 179 595 115 17 2720 2720
TOtal 8SSE1S.....vvovvvveiieiiiens $ 8781 § 2477 $ 804 $ 4570 § 6417 § 60 § 2460 $26129 $ 2362 $ 6848 $ 9210 § 35339
Liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
and fund balances:
Liabilites:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilies............ $ 1,389 § 163§ 1 $ 2% $ 1577 $ 1577
Total liabilities. 1,389 163 1 24 1577 1577
Total liabilities 1,389 163 1 24 1577 1577
Fund balances:
§ 6387 $ 2460 $ 8847 $ 2362 $ 6848 $9210 § 18057
$ 732 § 373§ 641§ 4569 $ 596 16,929 16,929
7392 3731 641 4569 6,387 596 2460 25776 2362 6848 920 34,986
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances .................. $ 8781 § 371§ 84 $ 45710 § 6387 § 620 § 2460 $27353 § 2362 $ 6848 $ 9210 $ 36563
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Govemmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Special Revenue Funds Permanent Funds
Community State Video
Development  School Lottery Affordable Enoch Pratt Total Nonmajor
Block Grant  Construction  Baltimore ~ Terminal ~ Scholarship  Table Game  Housing Free Library Memorial Governmental
Fund Fund  Casino Fund  Fund Fund Fund TrustFund  Total Fund Fund Total Funds
Revenues:
Taxes - local $  110% $ 2460 $ 13556 $ 13556
State shared revenue 2641 $ 6998 § 7718 $ 2640 19997 19,997
Interest, rentals and other investment income........ $ 175 175 $ 1218 819 § 940 1115
Federal grants............ccoevviviriniiiiiiiii $ 28143 28143 28143
Miscellaneous 1,350 1,350 1350
Total revenues.. 28143 15087 6,998 7,718 175 2,640 2460 63221 121 819 %0 64,161
Expenditures:
Current:
General government 2312 16,386 875 1316 20,949 20,949
Public safety and regulation ... 2281 2,281 2,281
Education 2 82 Y]
Public lbrary. 46 46 26 26.00 7
Recreation and culture 199 5 n 921 138 138.00 1,059
Sanitation and waste removal 864 864 864
Economic development. 11,339 513 11,852 11,852
Total expenditures 13711 16,386 4732 1,367 42 7 36,955 26 138 164 37,119
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures.... 14432 (1,299) 2,266 6,351 133 1923 2460 26266 9% 681 776 21,042
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers OUt...........ovvvverreriiieriecnanns (6,548) (3500) (3671) (13719 (13719
Total other financing sources (uses).. (6,548) (3500) (3671) (13719) (13719
Net change in fund balances.... 7884 (1299)  (1,234) 2,680 133 1923 2460 12547 9% 681 716 13323
Fund balances - beginning ... (492) 5030 1875 1889 6,254 (1327) 13229 2,261 6167 8434 21,663

Fund balances - ending. § 732 $ 373§ 641§ 4569 § 6387 § 506 § 2460 $ 25776 $ 2362 $ 6848 $ 9210 § 34,986
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Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

Enterprise Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for the operating of various City activities that are provided to the public on a cost
reimbursement basis.

Industrial Development Authority - This fund accounts for the activities of the City’s Industrial Development Authority.

Conduit Fund - This fund accounts for the rental and maintenance of the City’s Conduits.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Net Position
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Industrial
Development
Authority Conduit
Fund Fund Total
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents....... $ 15475 $ 15475
Total current assets 15,475 15,475
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents...............cooooiiiiiiiiiiniinean, $ 43911 43911
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 89,842 89,842
Capital assets not being depreciated. ... ...ooueiiii i 44,267 44,267
[0 114 T=) g T 1 - 226 226
TOtal NONCUITEIE ASSEES . ..ttt ettt ettt et ettt ettt et e e e e e e et e e e eaaeeenas 178,246 178,246
072 Y B Ty 15,475 178,246 193,721
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred outflows related tO PENSION ........uitintttii et 476 476
Deferred outflows related to OPEB ... oo et 868 868
Total deferred oUtfloWS Of T@SOUICES. . uuuttnittt ittt as 1,344 1,344
Total assets and deferred outflows of reSOUICES........covviuiiiiiiiiiiii i, 15,475 179,590 195,065
Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. ...................o 309 309
DU t0 Other TUNAS. . ... .o e 1,568 26,553 28,121
Compensated aDSENCES. .. ...ttt 165 165
[0 3 TC) gl 171 071 T 5,000 5,000
Current liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable from restricted aSSetS.........eeiiutiiiiiiiiii e 10,062 10,062
Total current Habilities. .. .. ....oootiit ettt et et 1,568 42,089 43,657
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension Hability ...........oo..iiii e e e 2,999 2,999
Net OPEB Hability .........oniitiiti ettt e e et e as 1,812 1,812
CompPenSaAted ADSEICES. .. ..ttt ittt ettt et e e et 228 228
Total noncurrent Habilities. ... ......ooiin ittt 5,039 5,039
Total liabilities 1,568 47,128 48,696
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows related tO PENSION ........iiineuiei e 15 15
Deferred inflows related to OPEB ........... 553 553
Total deferred inflows of resources 568 568
Total Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 1,568 47,696 49,264
Net position:
Net investment in CAPItal SSETS .. ... .vuuetie ittt e aas 134,109 134,109
|05 {41 =1 13,907 (2,215) 11,692
TOtAL NEE POSTHOM. ... e ettt e e e e e e e et e et e e e e e e e eaeees $ 13907 $ 131,894 $ 145801
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Industrial
Development
Authority Conduit
Fund Fund Total

Operating revenues:
Rents, fees, and other INCOME. ... ...ouuiine e, $ 34403 $ 34,403
Interest INCOME ON J0ANS. ... ..ottt e e, $ 224 224
Total OPerating TEVEIIUECS. . ... e .uutetteet ettt et et et et e eaeeaaas 224 34,403 34,627

Operating expenses:
Salaries and WaZesS. ... .ouuuenti e 4,538 4538
Other PersOnNEl COSES. ... .. tntttt et 2,128 2,128
CONTACTUAL SEIVICES . . ...ttt ettt ettt et e e, 2,392 2,392
PrOGIam EXPEIISES. ... c ettt ettt et 399 399
Materials and SUPPHES. .. .....uentnt e 140 140
MINOT ©QUIPITIETIE. . .t e ettt ettt et et e e e et et et e e e et et e e e eee e aaeenans 183 183
DEPreCIAtION. . ... ettt et 1,407 1,407
Total OPEeTating EXPENSES. . ... v euuetennt ettt ettt et et ee e aaaenae 11,187 11,187
OPErating MCOIMIC ... e .ueuutttet ettt et ettt e e e e e e 224 23,216 23,440
Capital CONIIDULIONS ... ...ttt e 26 26
Changes N NEt POSTHON. . .. ... vttt et et e et e e e e aeeaneanas 224 23,242 23,466
Total net poSItion - DEGINMING . .......onuiittt et eeeaan 13,683 108,652 122,335
Total NEt POSIHON = ENAINE. . ...\ utitt ittt e e $ 13907 $ 131,894 $ 145801
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Cash Flows
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(BExpressed in Thousands)

Industrial
Development
Authority Conduit

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers
Payments t0 @MPIOYEES. .. .....ouiuiiiit it
Payments to suppliers

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flow from capital and related financing activities:
Principal paid on revenue BOndS ...........o.uiiiuiiiiii e
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Due to other funds....................
Capital contributions (reduction)

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents. ...

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year...........

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

(00755 110811 ) 3 1T P

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

DEPreCIatiOn EXPEIISE . ...t ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e et et ettt e et et e e

[0 13 TCS G FT S

Deferred outflows - PENSION ..........uinutnt e

Deferred outflows - OPEB .................
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. . .

Other liabilities ...............ccooiiiiiiiiin.

Other noncurrent liabilities
Pension liability - current period

OPEB liability ..................
Deferred inflows - pension. ...
Deferred inflows - OPEB.....

Total adjustments.............oovveiiiiiiieniin...

Net cash provided by operating activities

Fund Fund Total
$ 223 $ 34177 $ 34,400
(7.044)  (7,044)
(2,721) (2,721)
223 24,412 24,635
(34,590)  (34,590)
25 25
26 26
25 (34,564)  (34,539)
248 (10,152) (9,904)
15,227 54,063 69,290
$ 15475 $ 43911 $ 59,386
$ 223 $ 23216 $ 23439
1,407 1,407
(226) (226)
146 146
(782) (782)
54 54
418 418
40 40
(407) (407)
6 6
(13) (13)
553 553
1,196 1,196
$ 223 $ 24412 $ 24,635
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Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency
to other departments or agencies of the government, and to other governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis.

Energy Conservation Fund - This fund accounts for the operation of the City’s energy conservation office.
Municipal Communication Fund - This fund accounts for the repair and maintenance of the City’s radios.

Mobile Equipment Fund - This fund accounts for the service, repair, operation, and replacement of the City’s equipment
fleet.

Reproduction and Printing Fund - This fund accounts for the operation of the City’s printing shop.
Municipal Post Office Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the City’s internal post office facility.

Municipal Telephone Exchange Fund - This fund accounts for the administration and operations of the City’s telephone
exchange.

Building Maintenance Fund - This fund accounts for repairs and maintenance in City-owned buildings.

Hardware and Software Replacement Fund - This fund accounts for the cost of maintaining the City’s software licensing
agreements and hardware refreshes.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Fund Net Position
Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal

Hardware and

Energy Municipal Mobile  Reproduction Municipal Telephone  Building Software
Conservation Communication Equipment and Printing Post Office Exchange Maintenance Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents...........cc.cccoeeveenee. $ 1113 $ 3390 $ 239 $ 1275 $ 689 $ 3668 $ 2461 $ 14,994
Accounts receivable, net:
Other. oo 204 244 $ 42 93 906 1,489
Inventories.........ccooeuvevenennn. 7,607 784 89 8,480
Total current assets.... 1,317 3,390 10,249 826 1,364 782 4,574 2,461 24,963
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash........ 47,142 47,142
Capital assets, net.... 140 112,791 75 113,006
Total noncurrent assetS............ceveveerennnn. 140 159,933 75 160,148
Totalassets...........cevviiiininns 1,317 3,530 170,182 826 1,439 782 4,574 2,461 185,111
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities............ 299 409 7,238 457 14 409 2,267 11 11,104
Due to other funds. 287 287
Leases payable..... 16,585 16,585
Compensated abSences .............ceoeueeuiunneeeennnn 7 18 749 60 13 56 290 1,193
Total current liabilities..................coe.uen. 306 427 24,572 804 27 465 2,557 11 29,169
Noncurrent liabilities:
Leases payable..........ccooooviiiiiiiniiiiiinien 76,040 76,040
Compensated abSences ...............ocoeeuenn. 59 1,890 58 14 120 478 2,619
Total noncurrent liabilities . 59 77,930 58 14 120 478 78,659
Total liabilities.................. 306 486 102,502 862 41 585 3,035 11 107,828
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets. 140 112,790 112,930
Unrestricted (deficit).........c.ccovvevvneeenne 1,011 2,904 (45,110) (36) 1,398 197 1,539 2,450 (35,647)
Total net POSItion ............ccceeccviniiiiieaiiiieeeiie. $ 1011 $ 3044 $ 67680 $ 36) $ 1398 $ 197 $ 1539 $ 2450 $ 77,283
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position
Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Hardware and
Energy Municipal ~ Mobile Municipal ~ Municipal Building Software
Conservation Communication Equipment Reproductionand Post Office  Telephone ~ Maintenance  Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Printing Fund Fund  Exchange Fund Fund Fund Total
Operating revenues:
Charges for SEIVICeS ....vovvvvvvvrsvvrererieriiiie 9 243 $ 5549 $ 63710 $ 27% $ 3932 % 8742 $ 26691 $ 2988 $ 116842
Operating expenses:
Salaries and Wages...........vc.evvveereeeveeneneosrennes 261 586 14305 681 279 982 4638 3 21,763
Other personnel Costs. .........v.vevureens 167 194 5759 262 130 433 1808 1 8,754
Contractual SEIVICES............ccoeevrvvrevnrnne 968 902 22,065 952 81 6,155 18,986 50,109
Materials and supplies..... 17 2812 1,012 1 868 4770
Minor equipment 12 3846 18 K] 141 2844 6,894
Postage and delivery service..... 2510 2510
Depreciation. ... e 109 15784 14 15907
Total operating expenses.... 1425 5,637 60,785 2907 3,092 7,604 26,441 2876 110,767
Operating income (loss) 1,011 (88 295 (113 840 1138 250 112 6,075
Nonoperating revenues:
Gain on sale of eqUIPMENt.........vvvvivviivririne 1917 1917
Total nonoperating revenues, net ............... 1917 1917
Other financing sources (uses):
Capital contribution (reduction)..... (4,000) (4,000)
THANSTr UL oo (5,650) (5,650)
Change in net position....... 1,01 (88) 842 (113 840 1,138 (5,400) 112 (1,658)
Total net position - beginning ..............ceveveuve. 312 66,838 77 558 (41 6,939 2338 78,941
Total net position - ending........covcverviiericoniiisssiii i 9 1011 § 3044 $ 67680 $ (36) $ 13% $ 197 § 1539 § 2450 $ 77283
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Combining Statement of Cash Flows

Internal Services Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

(Expressed in Thousands)

Municipal Hardware
Energy Municipal Mobile  Reproduction Municipal ~ Telephone  Building  and Software
Conservation Communication Equipment and Printing Post Office  Exchange Maintenance Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from CUStOMETS................c.coveverirererireerenennna. $ 103 $ 5549 $ 62466 $ 3037 § 3800 $ 8068 $§ 26752 § 2989 $ 113804
Payments t0 emplOYEes. .........ccververrrrerieiaiiiiiieieie (458) (757)  (20,066) (953) (410 (1,234) (6,186) (32 (30,0%)
Payments to Suppliers. ............cocovcveenens 239 (4738)  (22433) (2,084) (2,763) (6,145) (19,698) (3012)  (60,634)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities........ 834 54 19,967 717 689 868 (55) 23074
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets................ (16,326) (88) (16,414)
Leases Payable..........ooveviviriiiiiiiiiieeiece e 6,292 6,292
Capital contributions (reduction)...............c.covererrenens (4,000) (5,650) (9,650)
Net cash (used) by capital and related financing
ACHVIIES. e (14,034) (88) (5,650) (19,772)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.... 834 54 5933 629 689 (4782 (55) 3302
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year...............ccocoveenrn. 279 3,336 43,607 646 8450 2516 58,834
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year................c.coeveireriinnn $ 113§ 3390 § 49540 $ 1215 § 689 § 3668 $ 2461 $ 62136
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used)
by operating activities:
Operating Come (108S).........cvevrevivrereieieriieieceieens $ 1011 § (8) § 2925 (113) $ 840 $§ 1138 § 250 $ 112 § 6075
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities:
Depreciation, 109 15,784 14 15907
Changes in noncash operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable. . (204) 16 24 (88) 61 (192)
Inventories......... (1,260) (42 (1,302
Other assets....................
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. . 57 21 2534 (123) (96) 49 330 (167) 2,605
Compensated Absences. (30) 12 (%) U] 1 2 21 173
Due to other funds... 219 (412) (193)
Total adjuStments. ..........covvvverivieriiiicieee e (177) 142 17,042 113 (123) (449) 618 (167) 16,999
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities...................... $ 834 $ 54 § 19967 $§ 17§ 689 $ 868 $ (55) $ 23074
Noncash activity from capital and related financing activities:
New Capital IEaSes ........vevvevieronreeireieeiieeie e $ 23490 $ 23490
Total noncash activity from capital and related financing activities ... $ 23490 $ 23490
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Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds include the following funds, which account for assets held by the City as a trustee or as an agent for
individuals.

Pension Trust Funds — These funds account for the receipt, investment, and distribution of retirement contributions made
for the benefit of police officers, firefighters, elected officials, and other City employees.

Agency Fund - This fund accounts for assets held by the City as a custodian.

OPEB Trust Fund — This fund accounts for the receipts of City and retiree contributions into the OPEB Trust Fund and
payment of all retiree related health and life insurance benefits.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
June 30, 2019
(Expressed In Thousands)

Elected Fire and Police
Employees' Officials’ Employees' OPEB
Retirement Retirement Retirement Trust
System System System Fund Total
Assets:
Cash and cashequivalents . ............ooiiiiiiiii s $ 54,600 $ 287 $ 72,622 8804 $ 136,313

Investments:

SHOCKS v vttt e 1,106,261 17,151 1,415,829 443,892 2,983,133

BONAS .. 399,932 6,022 383,659 117,312 906,925

Realestate ... . o 218,183 2,674 254,730 73,575 549,162

Private equity and hedge fund ................oo i 618,178 618,178
Securities lending collateral .......... ... 74,444 7,616 82,060
Forward foreign CONracts ...............ooiiiiiiiiiiiii e 7,806 1,939 9,745
Other reCeIVaDIES . . ..o 7977 7977
ONEr ASSBES .ttt ettt et 49,118 3 17,307 1,088 67,516

Total assets 1,910,344 26,137 2,771,880 652,648 5,361,009
Liabilities:
Obligations under securities lending program 74,444 7,616 82,060
Forward foreign contracts 7,836 1,941 9,777
Accounts payable . ... ... 72,469 14 12,065 4,151 88,699

Total liabilities ..........ovi 154,749 14 21,622 4,151 180,536
Net position:
Net position restricted for pensions . .......... ... $ 1755595 $ 26,123 $ 2,750,258 $ 648,497 $ 5,180,473
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Pension and OPEB Trust Funds
For the year Ended June 30, 2019
(Expressed In Thousands)

Elected Fire and Police
Employees' Officials' Employees' OPEB
Retirement ~ Retirement Retirement Trust
System System System Fund Total
Additions:
Contributions:
EMPIOYET . . $ 89,866 $ 141326 $ 124519 $§ 3BT
BMPIOYEE ..o 17246 $ 70 30,711 56,555 104,582
Total contributioNs . ... 107,112 70 172,037 181,134 460,353
Investment income:
Net appreciation fair value of investments ..., 64,633 o 77,098 23,788 166,430
Securities lending income, net........ ... 535 406 91
Interest and dividend iNCOME . ..........oveiii i 37,297 205 88,396 11,305 137,203
Total investment iNCOMe . ... ...\ ov e 102,465 1,116 165,900 35,093 304,574
LeSS: INVESTMENT BXDBNSE ...\ v vttt ettt 9,649 60 17841 1,960 29510
Net iInvestmentinCome ... 92,816 1,056 148,059 33133 275,064
Total Additions .. 199,928 1,126 320,096 214,267 735417
Deductions:
Retirement benefits . ... 152,950 1,164 234,077 388,191
Health benefits . ... 154,376 154,376
Death BENEfitS . . ..o 988 287 1,275
AdMINISLrAtive BXIENSES ...\ttt ettt 3,716 36 5,144 8,8%
DT e 932 21,632 22,564
Total deductions . ... 158,586 1,200 261,140 154,376 575,302
Changes in et POSILION . ...t 41,342 (74) 58,956 59,891 160,115
Net position restricted for pensions - beginning of the year...................cooiinns 1,714,253 26,197 2,691,302 588,606 5,020,358
Net position restricted for pensions -end of the year...............ocovviiieiiiiiennnnn, $  17555% $ 26123 $ 2750258 $ 648497 $ 5180473
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds
June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Unpresented  Property
Stock and Sold for ~ Bid Deposit  Waterloo  Recreation

Coupon Bonds Taxes Refunds Summit  Accessory Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents..................cccooeeerinnneeeiinnn $ 55 $ 86 $ 69 $ 210
INVESIMENLS. ... eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeiiiiaees - $ 56 56
Accounts receivable $ 230 230
TOtAl @SSELS .+ veveeeeeieeeii e e 55 86 69 56 230 496
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........................ 230 230
OheT. ..t 55 86 69 56 266
Total Habilities. .......uveeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiiiieeeee $ 55 $ 86 $ 69 $ 56 $ 230 $ 496
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Agency Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
(BExpressed in Thousands)

Balance

June 30, 2018 Additions

Balance

Deductions June 30, 2019

Unpresented Stock and Coupon Bonds

Assets:
CaSh. $ 55 $ 55
TOtal @SSELS. ..o ueteit ettt ettt e et 55 55
Liabilities:
(01 1T PP 55 55
Total Habilities. . ... ..eeeeeeee e 55 55
Property Sold for Taxes
Assets:
CaS . 86 86
TOtAl @SSELS. ... tuetenee ettt et 86 86
Liabilities:
L 1 T 86 86
Total HBabilities. ........vveeeiee e 86 86
Bid Deposit Refunds
Assets:
CaSh. 92 $ 23 69
TOtal @SSELS. ... u ettt ettt ettt et et et e 92 23 69
Liabilities:
(0111 PP 92 23 69
Total Babilities. ........vveeeiieee e 92 23 69
Waterloo Summit
Assets:
TVESTMENES. . ...\ttt ettt e et e e e e e e 53 $ 3 56
TOtAl @SSELS. ... teetenetet et 53 3 56
Liabilities:
L 1 T P 53 3 56
Total Babilities. ........vveeei e 53 3 56
Recreation Accessory
Assets:
CaSh. 347 3,062 3,179 230
TOtAl @SSEES. . v eet ettt ettt ettt 347 3,062 3,179 230
Liabilities:
(01111 PP 347 3,062 3,179 230
Total Babilities. ........vviveiieeeeii e 347 3,062 3,179 230
Total All Agency Funds
Assets:
CaS . 580 3,062 3,202 440
INVESHMEIES .. ... ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e aneaas 53 3 56
TOtAl ASSEES. v e ettt ettt ettt e e s 633 3,065 3,202 496
Liabilities:
L 1 T 633 3,065 3,202 496
Total Habilities. ..........oueiee s $ 633 $ 3065 $§ 3202 $ 496
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STATISTICAL SECTION

See Report of Independent Public Accountants
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Statistical Section
(Unaudited)

Table of Contents

Page

Financial Trends
These schedules contain information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial performance and
well-being have changed over time. . .. ... ... it e 125

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most significant local revenue
SOUICE, the PrOPEITY TaX. . . o o et sttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 131

Debt Capacity
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment
within which the City’s financial activities take place. . . ......... ... i i 135

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment
within which the City’s financial activities take place. . . ......... .. .. .. . 141

Operating Information

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in
the City’s financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs. .. ...... . 145

Source: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these tables is derived from the annual financial reports for the
relevant year.
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Financial Trends
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Net Position by Component
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2010 2011 2012

Governmental activities

Net investment in capital assets ................... 2681668 $ 2989607 $ 2739761

RESLHCEEd. . v eve et 14,787 14,931 13,013

Unrestricted. .......ovviiiieeeieiiie e (360,180) (595,687) (321,033)
Total governmental activities

NEt POSIEION.....eeeveieieiie e 2336275 $ 2408851 $ 2431741
Business-type activities

Net investment in capital assets ................... 1377641 $ 1461618 $ 1,646,769

ReStricted. ....ovvinee e 124,756 142,070 160,955

Unrestricted. .......ovvevierieeeeneiiie e 182,655 172,004 83,148
Total business-type activities

0L POSTHON. ..ot 1685052 $ 1775692 $ 1,890,872
Primary government

Net investment in capital assets ................... 4059309 $ 4451225 $ 4,386,530

RESHCtEd. .. ev oottt 139,543 157,001 173,968

Unrestricted. .....ovveeeeeeeeieiieie e (177,525) (423,683) (237,885)
Total primary government

NEE POSIION. ..ot 4021327 $ 4184543 $ 4,322,613

Fiscal Year
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Governmental activities

Net investment in capital assets ................... 2988956 $ 2569231 $ 2520873 $ 2464962 $ 2528116 $ 2574640 $ 2520881

RESLHCEEd. . v eve et 40,548 22,598 15,946 24,669 400,063 483,623 527,293

Unrestricted. .......ouviviieeiieiiiie e (650,914) (442,540) (1,759,089) (1,662,259) (1,951,655)  (2,771,072)  (3,416,173)
Total governmental activities

Nt POSIION. ... eveeeee et 2378590 $ 2149280 $ 777,730 $ 827372 $ 976524 $ 287191 $ (367,999)
Business-type activities

Net investment in capital assets .................. 1785501 $ 2215884 $ 2379232 $ 2386644 $ 2981404 $ 33833%4 $ 3345821

RESLHCEd. ... ev et 152,197 180,965 157,613 165,076 162,084 161,308 181,109

UNTEStrCted. . ovvvvvvevievievievievievieiei e 133,419 123976 136,251 413,302 85,565 (92,013) 176,933
Total business-type activities

0EL POSIION.....cveeveereere e 2071117 '$ 2520825 $ 267309 $ 2965022 $ 3229053 $ 3452689 $ 3,703,863
Primary government

Net investment in capital assets ................... 4774457 $ 4785115 $ 4900105 $ 4851606 $ 5509520 $ 5958034 $ 5,866,702

RESLHCEEd. .. ev et 192,745 203,563 173,559 189,745 562,147 644,931 708,402

Unrestricted. .....o.vvvvvivreeeeeeieiiiiiee e (517,495) (318,564) (1,622,838) (1,248,957) (1,866,090)  (2,863,085)  (3,239,240)
Total primary government

NEE POSION. ..o 4449707 $ 4670114 $ 3450826 $ 3792394 $ 4205577 $ 3,739,880 $ 3335864
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Expenses
Government activities:
General government $ 545037 $ 452,449 $ 443957 $ 399166 $ 278892 $ 294987 $ 303696 $ 249415 § 404025 $ 524,515
Public safety and regulation .. 504,730 525,792 577,963 661,829 673,680 692,155 744,940 764,040 781,830 1,228,602
Conservation of health .. 164,751 151,192 154,105 130,911 125,383 112,575 116,592 119,811 134,743 169,216
Social services 435 14,581 31,156 125,515 112,301 102,809 109,591 120,630 95,107 103,384
Education 228,788 265,204 260,935 288,227 306,128 302,568 299,699 278,881 383,934 494,735
Public library..... 33,915 33,309 33,390 33,184 34,550 35,063 34,150 34,531 35,189 46,150
Recreation and culture 39,205 48,165 49,291 50,297 52,540 51,367 53,657 58,124 59,049 68,491
Highways and streets ... 191,536 140,309 162,290 159,022 172,330 185,601 192,487 169,147 165,800 181,100
Sanitation and waste removal 52,905 61,605 65,677 73,536 63,623 67,445 70,823 76,638 81,877 98,499
Public service 24,316 25,059 26,676 50,710 50,260 51,041 49,475 53,188 50,052 103,340
Economic development ... 182,816 183,331 169,896 170,002 208,870 141,772 126,430 133,594 131,347 188,852
INterest .......coovvevennne 50,105 47,391 32,624 29,605 41,967 41,078 30,518 28,857 77,530 52,787
Total governmental activities expenses ..... 2,018,539 1,048,387 2,007,960 2,172,004 2,120,524 2,078,461 2,132,058 2,086,856 2,400,483 3,259,671
Business-type Activities:
Water ... 107,982 120,736 131,271 136,171 155,308 160,208 170,637 167,667 147,289 158,089
Waste water . 157,605 159,776 173,106 178,221 179,306 182,769 193,563 193,055 207,730 237,396
18,292 15,747 19,365 21,521 26,175 25,299
24,832 19,853 25,332 17,681 23528 19,183 18,125 27,939 17,797 24,038
Nonmajor proprietary .. 11,538 13,860 13,287 11,826 10,753 11,607 12,148 13,703 10,087 11,142
Total business-type activities expenses ... 301,957 314,225 342,996 343,899 387,187 389,514 413,838 423,885 409,078 455,964
Total primary government expenses $ 2320496 $ 2,262,612 $ 2350956 $ 2515903 $ 2,507,711 $ 2467,975 $ 2545896 $ 2510741 $ 2,809,561 $ 3,715,635
Program Revenues
Governmental activities:
Charges for services (a) $ 85683 $ 109872 $ 118556 $ 114163 $ 103331 $ 107482 $ 103190 $ 103151 $ 111154 $ 122,790
Operating grants and contributions ... 359,769 399,844 400,678 385,841 431,515 318,266 347,636 344,684 324,457 365,771
Capital grants and contributions 63,437 72,758 71,258 109,488 71,806 54,788 25,284 83,501 41,095 67,257
Total governmental activities revenue 508,889 582,474 590,492 609,492 606,652 480,536 476,110 531,336 476,706 555,818
Business-type activities:
Charges for services:
130,512 129,292 132,340 154,680 158,678 176,439 160,865 163,563 178,367 175,492
166,016 160,076 179,873 183,521 221,181 216,428 229,300 235,133 258,386 276,844
27,511 25,971 27,807 29,309 28,552 28,540
67,760 83,040 81,476 83,542 87,398 85,634 87,145 88,454 85,257 76,801
9,989 9,979 12,046 18,400 14,385 13,916 37,505 11,744 28,639 34,627
Capital Grants and Contributions . 38,313 72,257 100,922 129,608 131,574 201,880 259,288 217,959 169,154 161,469
Total Business-type Activities Revenue 412,590 454,644 506,657 569,751 640,727 720,268 801,910 746,162 748,355 753,773
Total Primary Government Revenues 921,479 1,037,118 1,097,149 1,179,243 1,247,379 1,200,804 1,278,020 1,277,498 1,225,061 1,309,591
Net (Expense)/Revenue
Government Activities (1,509,650)  (1,365,913)  (1,417,468)  (1,562,512)  (1513872)  (1,597,925)  (1,655948)  (1,555520)  (1,923,777)  (2,703,853)
Business-type Activities .. 110,633 140,419 163,661 225,852 253,540 330,754 388,072 322,277 339,277 297,809
Total Primary Government Net Expenses .................. $ (1,399,017) $ (1,225,494) $ (1,253,807) $ (1,336,660) $ (1,260,332) $ (L,267.171) $ (1,267.876) $ (1,233,243) $ (1,584,500) $ (2,406,044)
General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental Activities:
Property taxes ...........coevviviiiiiiiiiiiie s $ 770320 $ 813613 $ 769094 $ 806258 $ 810824 $ 816199 $ 852114 $ 853197 $ 886,417 $ 909,254
Income taxes .... 251,731 234,955 257,893 276,111 284,437 300,014 346,727 335,923 346,797 440,144
Other local taxes .. 115,472 147,366 178,441 188,803 204,391 193,595 242,426 240,278 187,754 263,381
State shared revenues 135,226 127,433 130,286 128,707 131,180 147,608 153,195 159,022 170,240 166,082
Unrestricted investment Income ... 27,308 23,905 17,404 17,879 16,722 19,431 34,782 21,634 28,296 48,730
Miscellaneous .. 15,806 35,695 36,794 43,861 32,581 88,734 33,073 32,523 124,395 161,944
Transfers 40,707 55,522 50,446 47,742 (195,564) 61,495 100,737 62,095 59,295 59,128
Total Governmental ACtiVIties ............ccocvvreeriiireeenrnnnn, 1,356,570 1,438,489 1,440,358 1,509,361 1,284,571 1,627,076 1,763,054 1,704,672 1,803,194 2,048,663
Business-type Activities:
Unrestricted investment Income ... 5,743 3,075 2,135 2,186 5,809 4,591 3,849 5,535 12,493
Transfers (40,707) (55,522) (50,446) (47,742) 195,564 (61,495) (100,737) (62,095) (59,295) (59,128)
Total Business-type activities .. (40,707) (49,779) (47,371) (45,607) 197,750 (55,686) (96,146) (58,246) (53,760) (46,635)
Total primary government 1,315,863 1,388,710 1,392,987 1,463,754 1,482,321 1,571,390 1,666,908 1,646,426 1,749,434 2,002,028
Change in Net Position
Governmental activities ... (153,080) 72,576 22,890 (53,151) (229,301) 29,151 107,106 149,152 (120,583) (655,190)
Business-type activities 69,926 90,640 116,290 180,245 451,290 275,068 291,926 264,031 285,517 251,174
Total primary government ... .. $ (83154 $ 163216 $ 139,180 $ 127,094 $ 221989 $ 304219 $ 399,032 $ 413183 $ 164,934 ($404,016)

(a) Changes for services include charges for various City services such as rental of recreational facilities, solid waste disposal fees, port and stadium security services, impound lot fees and library video rental.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Modified Accrued Basis of Accounting)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2010
General Fund
Reserved .....ocoovvvvvevicneeiiieen. $ 157131
Unreserved ......ovvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeieei 20,441
Total General Fund ........cccoovevvevrecrnen. $ 177,572
All Other Governmental Funds
ReSEIVEd v.vvveveeevveeeiree i $ 151,855
Unreserved reported in:
Special revenue funds ... . (43,687)
Capital projects fund ................. (43974)
Debt service fund ........co.ooovee 41,319
Total all other Governmental Funds ............ $ 105513
Fiscal Year
2011(1) 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
CGeneral Fund
Nonspendable .........cccoveinnn. $ 6154 $ 5519 $ 5519 § 5519 $ 5519 § 207255 § 2260 $ 2210 $ 3028
ReStricted .....oovvvvrrcerieciciice e 30,338 380,996 423673 431,094
ASSIZNEd .o 104,862 128415 203,425 188,946 174,647 244,257 197,220 221658 251,252
Unassigned ......oveeeeeieirieniesiee 93,884 91,700 90,070 106,022 112,642 134,300 134,327 163604 145945
Total General Fund ......c.cooovvvevvnee. $ 204900 § 255972 § 299014 § 300487 $§ 292808 $§ 675812 § 714803 § 811145 $ 837,319
All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable
Motor vehicle fund ...........cccoo. $ 2,658
Other nonmajor funds ................ 2811
Restricted
Grants revenue fund ................... $ 2449 $ 21,606
Capital projects fund ...........cc...... $ 27400 $ 9256 $ 2190 $ 10743 $ 5,081 8448 31,000
Other nonmajor funds ................ $ 13013 13,148 13342 13,756 13,926 13,986 14688 18,057
Assigned
Motor vehicle fund .................... 15,177
Capital projects fund ...........cc...... 128,813 7128 5,702 5064 56,946
Other nonmajor funds ................ 48,837 37,333 46,060 53217 58,095 10,068 11,234 8794 16929
Unassigned
Grants revenue fund ................... (32,688) (40,248) (62,864) (83,355) (77,836) (36,799) (13,584)
Capital projects fund .........co.v... (80,539) (12,3%) (3,490) (13612) (7,576) (14,628) (8,966)
Other nonmajor funds ................ (10,733) (71192) (9,255) (9451) (12,399) (1,819
Total all other Governmental Funds ............ $ 74336 $ (2,359) $ 16701 $  (30603) $  (23770) $  (166%0) $ 7751 $ 37,624 $ 144538

(1) During fiscal year 2011, the City implemented GASB Statement No.54 which changed the format for fund balance presentation.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Fiscal Year
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Revenue:
General fund:
Taxes - local .. $ 1137523 $1,176,038 $1,206584 $ 1219656 $ 1,258,118 $ 1284515 $ 1426286 $ 1410593 $ 1,406,403 $ 1,535,001
State shared revenue . 128,707 131,180 137,714 142,213 140,451 146,174 146,085
Licenses and permits ... 34,438 42,129 37,585 40,572 41,457 41,584 48,829 44,450 41,043 38,880
Fines and forfeitures ... 7,116 8,055 6,604 29,445 14,673 15,325 8,365 7,192 27,085 34,939
Interest, rentals, and other investment income ... 24,148 21,903 16,244 16,816 15,833 17,181 33,991 21,082 27,071 46,140
Federal grants 213 226 245 261 275 217 480 79
State grants 97,320 89,453 95,651 93,376 102,786 105,059 104,585 105,705 104,644 98,528
Other grants ... 46 25 25 25 26 26 26 26 27 26
Charges for services . 29,251 26,654 35,044 44,146 47,201 50,573 45,996 51,509 43,026 48,971
Miscellaneous 4,528 18,579 9,976 4,365 5,757 5,730 459 7,300 8,560
Total revenues - general fund ............cccooovviiiiininins 1,334,583 1,382,836 1,407,939 1577,353 1617292 1657982 1810967 1788788 1795552  $1,957,130
Other governmental funds:
Motor vehicle fund 156,590 160,974 169,768

Grants revenue fund ....
Capital projects fund ...
Other funds ........

270,692 292,887 285,240 251,949 242,805 223,148 222,291 226,145 233,957 242,604
75,296 84,230 93,966 121,065 91,069 66,983 45,370 105,487 62,019 149,195
28,641 26,245 29,339 21,860 36,279 41,321 40,792 47,068 56,090 64,161

Total revenues - other governmental funds . 531,219 564,336 578,313 394,874 370,153 331,458 308,453 378,700 352,066 455,960

Total revenues all government funds . 1865802 1947172 1,986,252 1972227 1987445 1989440 2119420 2167488 2,147,618  $2,413,090

Expenditures:

General fund:
General government
Public safety and regulation ..

410,746 375,814 387,650 223,730 216,329 258,028 281,616 249,579 155,606 267,831
437,031 452977 463,410 594,077 625,432 679,202 702,632 730,093 766,230 831,453

Conservation of health . 44,950 44,076 44,033 20,811 23,778 20,887 19,663 21,882 38,648 36,077
Social services .. 396 1,361 707 89,235 76,857 64,249 73,851 86,353 59,899 68,539
Education ... 207,657 247,074 254,626 257,770 273,241 265,939 269,937 276,324 293,355 289,410
Public library ... 24,246 23,890 23,829 23131 24,577 24,942 24,856 24,812 24,505 26,784
Recreation and culture .. 30,212 37,981 34,749 39,235 39,796 39,349 41,884 44,392 43845 45574
Highways and streets 16,376 16,838 19,336 83,051 102,308 113,452 125,440 96,537 99,848 102,468
Sanitation and waste removal ... 37,862 39,503 40,936 69,381 59,837 64,422 72,642 72,380 75,384 78,238
Public service 21,455 16,403 17,350 43,024 41,241 43,895 42,947 44,769 42,579 44,863
Economic development . 36,186 36,589 46,741 48 544 49,348 49,069 39,499 34,276 41,634 52,998
Debt service-Principal .. 42,956 60,646 51,466 60,922
Debt service-Interest ... 24,786 37,042 43,247 44,425
Other bonds cost 2,033 6,318

Total expenditures - general fund .. 1,267,117 1292506 1,333,367 1491989 1532744 1623434 1764742 1785403 1736246 1,949,582

Other government funds:

Motor vehicle fund ..........ccoooviiiiiiiiiii e 191,558 140,223 148,769
280,603 292,497 298,287 280,319 275,977 223,964 238,344 218,716 221,811 242,441
275,701 199,217 208,837 202,458 160,874 172,688 173,201 154,671 186,541 241,506

Grants revenue fund ....
Capital projects fund ...

Debt service fund:
Principal .......ooviiiiiiiee e 60,054 61,282 64,781 69,877 44,483 38,912
Interest 39,014 38,256 32,624 23,678 31,708 31,005
Other bond costs .. 9,847 5,882 6,178 6,135
Other funds 11,863 14,330 17,116 22,600 23,133 31,107 29,565 34,101 41,857 37,119

Total expenditures - other government funds 868,640 751,687 770,414 598,932 542,353 503,811 441,110 407,488 450,209 521,066

Total expenditures all governmental funds . 2135757 2,044,193 2,103,781 2,090,921 2075097 2127245 2205852 2192891 2186455 2,470,648

Excess (deficiency ) of revenues over expenditures ... (269,955) (97,021) (117,529 (118,694) (87,652) (137,805) (86,432) (25,403) (38,837) ($57,558)

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers, Net .........ooovvviviiiiiieceee e 40,707 21422 50,446 76,110 56,828 61,495 100,038 60,289 57,703 64,777
Capital leases 75,099 11,020 41,460 11,804 8,978 29,618
Refunding capital leases .. (4,563)
Face value of bonds and loans 54,688 54,730 283,535 5414 64,249 92,317 1,907 225,155 121,406
Refunding of bonds (214,336) (377,111) (133,560) 3,675
Transportation revenue bonds 9,609 (13,833) 14,924 (8,004)
Swap termination (18,760)
Premium (discount) on sale of bonds . 42,443 1,606 3220 35,923
Proceeds from bond issuances 403,750 8,792
Capital contributions (20,421)
Payoff of bond anticipation note .. (60,148)
Total other financing sources ... 170,494 93,172 91,906 180,796 41,821 136,959 190,720 88,835 165,052 190,646
Net changes in fund balances .... .. $  (99461) $ (3849) $ (25623) $ 62102 $ (45831) $ (846) $ 104288 $ 63432 $ 126215 $ 133,088
Debt service as a percentage of noncapital expenditures ................. 5.26% 5.24% 5.03% 4.87% 3.89% 3.52% 3.26% 4.66% 4.61% 4.53%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Expressed in Thousands)

Total Percent of
Fiscal Tax Collected within due Percent Collections in Total Total Tax Collections
Year Levy Fiscal Year of the Levy of Levy Collected Subsequent Years Tax Collection to TaxLevy
2010 $ 751510 $ 723533 %.3 $ 29,647 $ 767151 9.7 %
2011 777,332 750,144 %.5 10,643 770,399 9.9
2012 761,237 743352 97.7 7,668 743538 9%.5
2013 778,346 132,467 %.1 10,961 752,648 99.6
2014 755,711 741,449 %.1 14,263 774,648 995
2015 778,380 762,772 9.0 12,061 772,040 9%.0
2016 804,301 760,686 9.6 3218 808,328 9%.0
2017 851,099 808,328 %.0 33,196 841,524 %.38
2018 892,079 865,223 970 9,597 874,820 %.1
2019 901,885 870,822 9.6 870,822 9.6
CITY OF BALTIMORE
Assessed and Estimate Actual Value of Taxable Property
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)
Real Property Personal Property Total Ratio of Total

Estimate Estimate Estimate Assessed Value Total
Fiscal Assessed Actual Assessed Actual Assessed Actual to Total Estimate Direct
Year Value Value Value Value Value Value Actual Value % TaxRate
2010 $ 28511521 $ 35,600,999 $ 1,805,889 $ 1,805,839 $ 30317410 $ 37,406,888 80 $ 2380
2011 29,613,826 36,799,638 1,767,656 1,767,656 31,381,482 38,567,294 814 2.380
2012 28,762,325 35,431,581 1,878,997 1,878,997 30,641,322 37,310,578 821 2.380
2013 28,844,199 34,386,667 1,845,424 1,845,424 30,690,223 36,232,001 84.7 2.380
2014 29,209,703 33,938,341 1,966,795 1,966,795 31,176,498 35,905,136 86.8 2.360
2015 29,063,381 33,749,836 1,895,006 1,895,006 30,958,387 35,644,842 869 2.360
2016 31,577,756 35,782,497 2011722 2011722 33,589,478 37,794,219 8.9 2.360
2017 32,550,695 37113758 2123826 2,123826 34,674,521 30,237,584 884 2.360
2018 33,909,100 38,844,708 2,241,053 2,309,659 36,150,153 41,154,367 878 2.360
2019 34,346,269 39,649,866 2,261,405 2,381,099 36,607,674 42,030,965 871 2.360

Note: Assessed values are established by the Maryland State Department of Assessents and Taxation on July 1 of each year. Each real property's assessment is reevaluated

every three years. Taxrates are for each $100 of assessed value. The Baltimore City real property taxrate is $2.248 and the Maryland State real property taxrate

is $0.112, for a total of $2.360.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates

Last Ten Fiscal Years (1)

Fiscal City Tax State Tax
Year Rate Rate (2) Total (3)
2010 $ 2268 $ 0.112 $ 2380
2011 2.268 0.112 2.380
2012 2.268 0.112 2.380
2013 2.268 0.112 2.380
2014 2.248 0.112 2.360
2015 2.248 0.112 2.360
2016 2.248 0.112 2.360
2017 2.248 0.112 2.360
2018 2.248 0.112 2.360
2019 2.248 0.112 2.360

Notes:

(1) Tax rates are for each $100 of assessed valuation.

(2) The State tax rate is shown for information purpose only, since the City acts in the role of collector and
does not report this portion of the property tax as revenue.

(3) The City has no special assessments.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Principal Property Taxpayer
Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Expressed in Thousands)

2019 2010
Percentage Percentage
Taxable of Total City Taxable of Total City
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed
Value Rank Value Value Rank Value
BGE (Baltimore Gas & Electric Company)...........c.cvvcrienr $ 891449 1 24% $ 60355 1 2.0%
AMAZONCOM. ... 309,703 2 0.8%
Harbor Point Parcel 2 Holdings...........covvvvvevivverirsncrcrsicnnene 23,131 3 0.6%
CSX THanSPOMALION. . ...ov.vvvev v e 194,675 4 0.5% 132401 7 04%
Baltimore Hotel COrporation. ... e vvvseveeorsisrnessinron 169,583 5 0.5% 162,321 5 0.5%
Harbor East Parcel D......c.ovvveeeeieeeeeeece e 167,194 6 0.5%
SSA Baltimore Holdings, LLC.........c.vovvvemersneecreicisssicesss 166,932 7 0.5%
100 Pratt St. Ventures LLC......c.oovvvvveveerveeeieee e 163,042 8 04% 185,399 3 0.6%
VEriZOn MD......coovvis et 159,861 9 0.4% 247975 2 0.8%
Harbor East Limited. ...........cco.ooevvvrmeveerccecce e 143119 10 0.4% 140,066 6 0.5%
Baltimore Center ASSOCIAtES...........ovvveeveereeeeeeeeeeeeeeene e 185,311 4 0.6%
ABB South Street ASSOCIAES........covveveereerveieer e eiens 81,400 8 0.3%
Canton Crossing TOWr LLC.........c.vvvvvvorormeriesseriessneesnens 71073 9 0.3%
Harbor East Limited - Parcel B........cc.ooveevveieieii e 70,796 10 0.2%
TOML .o 92,589,205 7%  $1886,267 6.2%
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type, Primary Government
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Governmental Activities

Business-type Activities

Long-term Long-term
General Special Financing Financing General Sewer Total Percentage
Obligation Obligation with Federal ~ with Federal Revenue Capital Obligation  Construction Revenue Capital Primary of Personal Per
Fiscal Year Bonds Bonds Government _of Maryland Bonds Leases Bonds Loans Bonds Leases Government Income (b) %  Capita (a)
2010 $ 631,993 $ 116205 $ 45436 $ 1186 $ 431155 $ 169100 $ 576 § 143 $ 1370497 $ 2,766,291 1116 $ 4455
2011 630,957 115,600 42,151 925 422,011 160,930 63 1513270 2,885,907 1101 4653
2012 570,148 114,993 39,355 1,855 411377 179,161 19 1477473 $ 3,003 2,797,384 1017 4502
2013 569,097 114,435 36,461 1430 424599 193,368 1,467,888 2,628 2,809,906 1151 4517
2014 524,969 149,824 33,461 1,016 395,501 189,600 3113 1,735,806 2,240 3,035,530 1149 4874
2015 553,761 147,218 30,357 662 391,894 161,477 3,018 1,920,369 1,840 3,210,596 1148 5,163
2016 575,793 145,990 27132 230 394,224 160,368 3,602 1,864,330 1427 3,173,096 10.84 5,162
2017 527,049 199,876 23,792 358,666 144,969 3291 2,127,319 1,087 3,386,049 11.34 5,536
2018 526,557 198,176 20,320 359,235 160,006 3589 2,204,360 826 3472217 11.22 5,763
2019 572,887 196,203 16,707 378,975 150,608 4,656 2,626,638 644 3,947,318 N/A N/A

(a) Per capita calculation utilize calendar year figures provided by U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau, in thousands.
(b) Personal Income data from the Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce.
N/A Information not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Expressed in Thousands)

Cash Net Percentage of
General Available for General Actual Taxable
Obligation Debt Service Bonded Value Per
Fiscal Year Bonds Activities (b) Debt of Property % Capita (a)

2010 $ 631,993 $ 41,319 $ 590,674 1.58 $ 950.84
2011 630,957 36,261 594,696 154 957.66
2012 570,148 36,796 533,352 1.69 856.90
2013 569,097 45,523 523,574 1.45 841.62
2014 528,082 49,947 478,135 1.33 767.73
2015 556,779 51,130 505,649 1.42 813.14
2016 579,395 62,486 516,909 1.21 840.96
2017 469,340 53,552 415,788 1.06 679.78
2018 530,146 111,525 418,621 1.02 694.82
2019 577,543 116,468 461,075 1.10 756.06

(a) Per capita calculation utilize calendar year figures provided by U.S. Department of Commerce, Census Bureau, in thousands.

(b) Externally restricted for repayment of principal on debt; through fiscal year 2015, debt service was accounted for in a separate Debt Service Fund; as of
fiscal year 2016, debt service is included in the General Fund.
N/A Information not available
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The City of Baltimore has no Overlapping Debt.

Water Revenue Bonds

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt
June 30, 2019

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Legal Debt Margin Information
June 30, 2019
The City has no Legal Debt Margin.

CITY OF BALTIMORE
Pledged Revenue Coverage
June 30, 2019
(Expressed in Thousands)

Wastewater Revenue Bonds

Water Less: Net Wastewater Less: Net
Utility Operating Available Debt Service Utility Operating Available Debt Service
Fiscal Year Revenues BExpenses Revenue  Principal Interest  Coverage Revenues Expenses Revenue _ Principal Interest  Coverage
2010 $ 130,666 $ 88394 $ 42272 $ 6,754 $ 20,202 1.55 $ 166,072 $ 115762 $ 50,310 $ 16,822 $ 25,627 1.19
2011 129,292 90,586 38,706 8,036 20,552 1.27 160,076 110,131 49,945 20,171 25,031 1.10
2012 132,340 95,386 36,954 8,937 22,239 1.19 179,873 119,356 60,517 20,677 27,412 1.26
2013 154,680 100,845 53,835 10,343 23,545 1.59 183,521 125,035 58,486 22,676 28,910 1.13
2014 158,678 113,947 44,731 10,830 21,126 1.40 221,181 123,993 97,188 24,083 27,140 1.90
2015 176,439 114,341 62,098 12,250 27,894 1.55 216,428 122,937 93,491 24,951 33,151 161
2016 160,865 112,771 48,094 15,880 33,432 0.98 229,300 126,379 102,921 31,485 39,359 1.45
2017 163,563 117,547 46,016 17,298 33,627 0.90 235,133 130,532 104,601 33,886 37,475 1.47
2018 178,367 93,837 84,530 18,441 38,044 1.51 258,386 141,648 116,738 40,251 38,934 1.55
2019 185,132 99,376 85,756 21,058 39,047 1.43 267,204 157,518 109,686 40,805 41,063 1.34
Stormwater Revenue Bonds Parking Facilities Revenue Bonds
Stormwater Less: Net Parking Less: Net
Utility Operating Available Debt Service Facilities ~ Operating Available Debt Service
Fiscal Year Revenues Expenses Revenue  Principal Interest  Coverage Revenues Expenses Revenue  Principal Interest  Coverage
2010 $ 67,760 $ 10866 $ 56,894 $ 6915 $ 9,352 3.50
2011 83,040 10,728 72,312 7,250 8,934 4.47
2012 81,476 10,937 70,539 8,395 10,324 3.77
2013 83,542 9,737 73,805 8,410 9,829 4.05
2014 $ 27511 $ 13585 $ 13926 $ 436 $ 466 15.44 87,398 10,919 76,479 9,280 9,407 4.09
2015 25,971 10,632 15,339 441 441 17.39 85,634 7,133 78,501 9,800 8,753 4.23
2016 27,807 14,641 13,166 616 140 17.65 87,145 6,662 80,483 10,350 8,217 4.33
2017 29,309 16,799 12,510 1,771 1,037 4.46 88,454 10,159 78,295 10,960 7,669 3.98
2018 28,552 19,733 8,819 1,312 533 5.33 85,257 9,015 76,242 11,490 6,992 4.13
2019 28,540 17,454 11,086 1,059 500 711 76,801 8,117 68,684 12,270 5,716 3.82
Convention Center Revenue Bonds
Convention Net
Center Available Debt Service
Fiscal Year Revenues Revenue  Principal Interest  Coverage
2010 $ 4344 $ 4344 $ 2645 $ 1,794 0.98
2011 4,654 4,654 2,770 1,796 1.02
2012 4,655 4,655 2,935 1,637 1.02
2013 4,577 4,577 3,095 1,475 1.00
2014 4,560 4,560 3,260 1,302 1.00
2015 5,968 5,968 3,435 1,118 1.31
2016 4,517 4,517 3,625 924 0.99
2017 4,120 4,120 3,825 729 0.90
2018 4,580 4,580 4,015 533 1.01
2019 4,220 4,220 4,220 327 0.93

Note: Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in note number 8 in the notes to the financial statements
Operating expenses do not include interest, depreciation or amortization expenses.

Beginning in fiscal year 2014, the Stormwater Utility Fund is presented as a separate proprietary fund.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Calendar Years

Perosnal Income (a) Per Capita

Calendar (thousands of Personal Total Unemployment
Year Population (a) dollars) Income (b) Employment (c) Rate (c)
2010 620,961 23,422,681 37,720 262,347 112
2011 620,792 24,638,760 39,689 264,134 10.6
2012 622,705 25,142,165 40,376 267,128 10.2
2013 623,215 25,597,551 41,073 267,697 9.7
2014 623,711 26,923,439 43,167 269,052 8.6
2015 621,849 28,011,281 45,045 272,019 7.7
2016 614,664 28,913,526 47,040 276,430 6.6
2017 611,648 30,073,681 49,168 281,066 6.1
2018 602,495 30,942,036 51,357 273,304 5.7
2019 609,841 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Source:

(a) U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis.
(b) Per capita personal income is calculated based on the personal income divided by the estimated population.
(c) Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation.

N/A Information not available.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

2019 [1] 2010 [4]
Percentage Percentage
of Total City of Total City
Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
Government [2]
State ... 33933 1 9.98 41,093 1 12.58 %
Other Government authority (City, School, etc.) . 24,267 2 714 28,579 2 8.75
Federal ...... 10,613 3 312 8,204 3 251
Subtotal Government ..... 68,813 2024 % 71,876 2384 %
Ten Largest Private Sector Employers [3]
Johns Hopkins Hospital and Health System 20,485 1 6.02 15,753 2 4.82
Johns Hopkins University ...................... 18,600 2 547 22,700 1 6.95
University of Maryland Medical System..... 11,450 3 337 8,900 4 2.72
University SystemofMaryland ............... 8,965 4 264 9,790 3 3.00
MedStar Health ........... 6,175 5 182 6,202 5 1.90
LifeBridge Health - Sinai 5315 6 156 4,940 6 151
Amazon.com.............. 4,500 7 132
Mercy Health Services . 4,030 8 119 2,305 10 071
St. Agnes HealthCare ... 3,265 9 0.96 2,730 8 0.84
Exelon / Constellation Energy / BGE ... 2,950 10 0.87 3,150 7 0.96
ADACUS ..ocvi e 2482 9 0.76
Subtotal Ten Largest Private Sector Employer . . 85,735 2522 % 78,952 2417 %
Total Government and Ten Largest Private Sector Employers ................... 154,548 4546 % 156,828 4801 %

Source:

[1] For the government and private sectors: Maryland Dept of Commerce.

[2] Data only available for the first quarter of 2019, Baltimore City Employment Table.

[3] Data from table, Brief Economic Facts reports (Baltimore City)

[4]  For 2010, City of Baltimore Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2010.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Full Time Equivalent Employees By Function
Last Ten Years

Full-time equivalent Employees at June 30,

Function/program 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
General GOVEINMENT .....c..vuiniceee et et e 1,725 1,700 1,754 1,674 1,666 1,700 1,577 1,785 1,858 1,934
Public safety
Police. 3,897 3,897 3,892 3,796 3,608 3,444 3,259 3,125 3,243 3,235
Fire ... 1,795 1,795 1,789 1,732 1,699 1,699 1,639 1,731 1,733 1,733
Other ... 795 791 721 683 695 700 813 735 751 757
Conservation of health .. 878 875 873 862 719 890 842 800 784 820
Public library ................ 432 430 399 399 394 391 389 389 437 450
Recreation and parks ........ 400 399 389 368 385 310 327 310 311 312
Highways and streets ....... 1,499 1,458 1,382 1,352 1,331 1,428 1,024 1,079 1,074 1,070
Public work
Water .............. 878 875 850 893 857 717 899 810 846 847
Wastewater 1,011 1,012 991 985 1,006 797 694 761 750 751
Solid waste .... 875 856 889 853 705 802 995 880 866 864
Other ............ 621 625 579 537 682 504 487 423 438 440
Public service ................. 68 67 62 70 260 65 73 65 65 68
Economic development ..... 564 563 554 560 461 559 426 382 383 389
15,438 15,343 15,124 14,764 14,558 14,006 13,444 13,275 13,539 13,670

Source: Baltimore City Bureau of Budget and Management Research.
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CITY OF BALTIMORE

Operating Indicators By Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Function/Program 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Police

ATTESTS .ot 62,341 56,606 53,169 45275 44110 33,462 25,339 24,453 25,841 49,163
Fire

Fire Suppression Units Dispatched .............occ.eooiioiiiiiciiiccceiieaeene 135421 121483 129977 137,667 140,718 143,889 147,249 163,872 163,959 166,977

Structural Fires ..... 2,154 2,460 2,682 2,401 1,839 2,541 2,377 2,760 2,841 2,898

EMS Transports ... 86,985 86,901 90,615 94,883 92,225 92,094 97,502 100,894 100,009 100,043

INSPECHIOMS ...ttt ettt ettt e 24,156 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 24,339 16,505 29,296 18,126
Solid Waste

Refuse Collected (tons) 148077 145345 144926 142543 149,137 155,624 149,582 153,793 159,204 125,383

Recyclables Collected (tons) 25,836 25,557 24,929 26,468 25,248 28979 28,253 29512 29,632 22,003
Water/Wastewater

Number of Accounts .........c..coccvecuren. 441209 445335 446142 450427 454,008 426,642 407,000 420,681 427,040 421,773

Average Daily Water Production (MGD) . . 218 218 218 218 220 223 193 190 183 194

Average Daily Sewage Treatment (MGD) .....c.oevevieveiiiiiiiiiiee i 192 208 208 208 208 199 205 180 176 232
Transportation (DOT)

Miles Streets Resurfaced/Reconstructed ... 152.0 185.0 189.0 98.0 101.0 122.0 122 61 109 109

Potholes Repaired ........... 127,727 105,731 81,191 74487 126432 126,771 122,985 12,466 93,270 118,513

Traffic Citations Issued** 1341 63 63 63 118 88 140 83 6 12

Parking Citations Issued .. 379633 383338 355344 331,067 341,384 380,239 405,721 256,551 310,655 326,361

Traffic Signals Repaired ... .. 6,901 5,538 4,751 4312 4,645 4,450 4,328 4771 5,582 4918

Street Lights REPAITed ........cc.vueveuieiierie oot 25415 29,012 29,633 28,096 25,091 24,254 21,311 20,139 22,558 2,758
Housing

Number of inspections (housing and code enforcement) 206467 363720 267,508 270,607 254,871 254,646 196,698 224,727 261,588 271,385

Number of permits SSUed ...........ccocvuevierrrininn 36,630 27,600 25,307 24,537 28,351 27,060 30,183 40,718 39,964 35,389

Property Management Service Requests Completed*** . 28,971 31,987 41,995 60,585 78,824 78,824 44,452 39,645 82,546 79,093
Recreation and Parks

Enrollment at Recreation CEnters ...............couveereerienerieereciieieninnns 135547 154528 169,608 146598 138,103 144,077 158,483 148,300 162,230 14,893

Permits Issued for Park Facilities ............c....oovuiiniiinciiinciic e 653 741 1518 1,581 1,616 1,894 1,935 1711 1,929 1,681
Library

Volumes in Collection (millions) .. 26 26 20 24 22 2.3 22 22 22 23

Volumes Borrowed (millions) ... 15 17 17 17 13 13 12 11 13 17

N/A  Data not available.

*  Yearly arrests are based on calendar year data, not fiscal year.

**  This figure includes only DOT officer-written citations and does not include automatic camera citations.

**% Property Management represents primarily cleaning and boarding of vacant properties.

Source: Baltimore City Department of Finance
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CITY OF BALTIMORE
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year
Function/Program 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Police/Sheriff
Buildings ........... 10 13 12 16 16 16 16 16 16 16
Marked Patrol Units . 487 479 373 403 463 576 480 620 680 680
Other vehicles ........ 633 616 602 448 311 309 510 538 594 575
Fire Stations
Buildings ..o 39 39 41 61 62 62 62 62 62 62
Fire/EMS Apparatus (Tankers/Ladders/Medics) (Fleet) .. e 160 137 122 154 142 138 155 146 115 117
Other vehicles ..........ooviiiiiiiiii 164 176 235 142 217 228 224 218 241 240
Recreation and Parks
Buildings ......coovviiieieei i 148 148 148 210 210 210 210 210 210 210
Acreage . 5827 5827 5827 5827 5827 5827 4,874 4,874 4874 4,874
Vehicles . 123 120 119 120 121 120 121 142 129 128
Equipment .........oooooiii 296 183 157 157 158 151 145 137 104 156
Public Works (Transportation, Solid Waste, and General Services)
Buildings .. 30 30 82 119 119 119 119 119 121 121
Vehicles ... 952 984 967 942 1,017 987 981 1,055 943 965
Equipment ....... 515 595 545 552 538 537 534 570 372 499
Streets (miles) .. 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 4,800 4,800
Water/Wastewater/Stormwater
Treatment plants .. 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Other Buildings ... 31 31 95 221 221 221 221 221 221 221
Vehicles ... 599 632 608 631 641 636 594 481 688 66
Equipment . 429 495 487 489 482 481 466 605 259 331
Water Mains (Miles) ............... 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,400 3,669 3,692 3748 3,748 3,884
Water Treatment capacity (MGD) .. 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360
Sanitary sewers (miles) 1,335 1,335 1,335 1,335 1,335 1,361 1,380 1,398 1,398 1,416
Stormsewers (miles) ... 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,108 1,108 1,180 1,180 1213
Wastewater Treatment capacity (MGD) 253 253 253 253 253 253 253 253 253 253
Libraries
Buildings .......ocoviiiiiii i 34 22 30 30 29 24 24 24 24 24
VERICIES ...t 16 20 18 16 17 17 16 14 17 17
Other-General Government
Buildings 1,353 4,250 4,250 132* 132* 132* 132 132 132* 132
Vehicles . 1,141 753 907 869 514 175 532 1,643 316 221
Equipment . 61 249 151 101 72 14 76 191 49 13
* The total number of buildings excludes residential properties under the ownership of the Mayor and City Council.

N/A Data not available.
Source:  Baltimore City Department of Finance.
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